Disinfection of Drinking Water by Helio-photocatalytic Process in Sahelian Zone: Chemical, Physical and Technological Aspects

THÈSE Nº 5968 (2013)

PRÉSENTÉE LE 24 JANVIER 2014 À LA FACULTÉ DES SCIENCES DE BASE GROUPE DE GÉNIE ÉLECTROCHIMIQUE PROGRAMME DOCTORAL EN ENVIRONNEMENT

ÉCOLE POLYTECHNIQUE FÉDÉRALE DE LAUSANNE

POUR L'OBTENTION DU GRADE DE DOCTEUR ÈS SCIENCES

PAR

Juliette NDOUNLA

acceptée sur proposition du jury:

Prof. F. Golay, président du jury Prof. C. Pulgarin, directeur de thèse Dr L. F. De Alencastro, rapporteur Prof. G. Cissé, rapporteur Prof. K. G. McGuigan, rapporteur



A toi papa

Janvier 2007 est déjà loin mais tu me manques toujours.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Au terme de cette thèse je remercie : le seigneur Dieu d'avoir mis sur mon chemin l'appel à projet doctoral qui a financé mon projet de recherche, la Direction du développement et de la coopération suisse (DDC) qui à travers son projet d'appui à la recherche DDC-EPFL/2iE a financé les travaux de cette thèse et la Fondation Erna Hamburger qui, à travers son fonds de soutient aux femmes en cycle de recherche m'a permis de subvenir aux besoins que la bourse principale ne pouvait pas couvrir.

Je tiens tout particulièrement à remercier différentes personnes dont l'assistance a facilité l'aboutissement de cette thèse :

Mon directeur de thèse, César Pulgarin qui m'a offert l'opportunité d'effectuer ma thèse dans son équipe. Bien que la photo-désinfection et la photocatalyse fussent des domaines tout nouveaux pour moi, il a su me conseiller et m'encourager à trouver ma voie dès la première année. Ses qualités humaines et sa capacité à former ceux qui viennent d'un milieu scolaire moins nanti dans la réalisation des objectifs des grandes écoles mérite un vibrant hommage.

Je tiens à remercier le Directeur de 2iE, Paul Ginies, pour m'avoir donné l'opportunité de faire ma thèse dans cette institution et pour le soutien qu'il n'a eu de cesse d'accorder à mes travaux de recherche. Je remercie également ses collaborateurs : le DGA, A. Hama Maiga, le directeur du CCREC, Hamma Yacouba et le Directeur de l'Ecole doctorale Harouna Karambiri pour les actions de facilitation qui ont permis l'avancée des travaux de recherche.

Je remercie aussi Jean-Marc Froehlich, pour la coordination du projet DDC-EPFL/2iE à l'EPFL. Il a été là dès le début de cette aventure, de l'organisation de mon départ du Cameroun à la logistique de transfert du matériel de recherche de la Suisse vers le Burkina avec cette attention paternelle qui m'a toujours insufflé l'assurance pour bien avancer.

Je remercie Joseph Wéthé et Halidou Koanda, dont la participation à la conception du projet de recherche DDC-EPFL/2iE au niveau de 2iE dans lequel j'ai été sélectionnée, suivie de l'accueil et l'encadrement à mon arrivée à Ouagadougou ont été très importants pour mon intégration dans l'équipe de recherche à 2iE. Puisse cette thèse démontrer que leurs efforts n'ont pas été vains.

Mes premier pas dans la recherche sur le photo-Fenton ont été guidés à l'EPFL par Dorothée Spuhler et à 2iE par Siméon Kenfack, à qui je dis merci pour leur action qui m'a permis de vite m'adapter à ce domaine de recherche. Je dis aussi ma reconnaissance à Jean-Marie Fürbringer (professeur de Design of experiment) et Pierre Stadelmann (professeur de Mathematica (Wolfram). Si j'ai pu assimiler et réaliser aisément l'analyse des données de cette thèse, c'est grâce à la patience et l'attention qu'ils m'ont accordées pendant les différentes formations. Qu'ils reçoivent toute ma gratitude.

Mes remerciements vont également aux membres du jury de cette thèse: Prof. François Golay, Prof. César Pulgarin, Prof. Gueladio Cissé, Prof. McGuigan Kevin G, et Dr. MER. Luiz Felippe de Alencastro; qui malgré leurs occupations respectives ont pu trouver du temps à m'accorder pour cette phase cruciale d'un travail de thèse.

Sossou Syeram et Boukari Sawadogo ingénieurs de recherche du LEDES et mes techniciens de recherche Bernard Zongo et Noel Tindouré dont l'assistance au labo m'a permis de mener à bien les expériences et de travailler parfois jusqu'à plus de 23h sans m'en rendre compte. Qu'ils reçoivent à travers cette thèse toute ma gratitude.

Je n'oublie pas mes amis et collègues de bureau de 2iE à Ouagadougou: Lydie Yiougo, Corentin Some, Ynoussa Maiga, David Moyenga, Frank Lalanne, Sandrine B. Lalanne, Angelbert Biaou, Serge Dembele, Seydou Dicko, Mariam Sou, Stéphanie Maiga, Yacouba Konate, Hela Haroui, Kouakou Marcelin, Fossi Sévère, Seyram et Boukari. Malgré les longs séjours passés en Suisse, je n'oublie point les corrections qu'ils ont apportées à mes premiers travaux et présentations, ni leurs encouragements, ainsi que la belle ambiance de travail qui régnait au bureau.

Un vibrant merci à Stefanos Giannakis et Barbara Althaus pour toutes ces heures de corrections d'anglais qu'ils ont accordées à mes articles avec enthousiasme. Les mots me manquent pour leur exprimer ma reconnaissance.

Ma reconnaissance va aussi à ma collègue et amie Cristina Ruales-Lonfat, qui a été avec moi pendant toutes ces années. Nous avons partagé de grands moments au bureau à l'EPFL tout comme au bord du lac. Elle a toujours su me motiver pour que je pense à prendre un peu de temps pour moi quand j'oubliais de le faire. Je la remercie pour sa présence.

A mes autres collègues et amis de l'EPFL, Stefanos Papoutsakis, Stefanos Giannakis, Stéphane Thonney, Jasques Gremaud, Julia Velez, Laura Suarez, Ana Isabel, Francesca Petronella, Sami Rtimi, Salvatore Barreca, je dis merci pour la belle ambiance et la cohésion qu'ils ont su faire régner dans l'équipe.

Mes colocataires en Suisse Hans Hoorelbeke, Simon Frey, Thibault Pasquier et Jean Marie Grognuz, qui m'ont fait me sentir toujours en famille et veiller à ce que je mange quand la rédaction d'articles absorbait tout mon esprit et me faisait sauter les repas. Etre toujours en contact avec eux me procure beaucoup de joie. Mes amies: Dorothée Spuhler, Magali Bassan, Manon Bachelin et Anna Serra. Merci les filles de m'avoir guidée à la découverte de la Suisse et de l'Espagne. Nos séjours dans les montagnes m'ont permis d'être au plus proche de la nature comme j'aime être et de me ressourcer à chaque fois.

Mes amis du Cameroun et du G13: Nadine Yemelong, Josephine Lemougue, Jocelyne Kenne, Olivia Fossi-Sayang, Arlette Tamko, Jeannette Yondo, Georgette Fumtchum, Arnaud Tchinda, Cyrille Belate, Gilles Fomekong, Tateng Aimé, Pierre Kemsta, dont les appelles et emails d'encouragement ont toujours été une grande source de motivation pour moi.

Mes Marraines en Suisse: Marie B. Tiago et Esther J. Gabriel, dont l'accueil et l'encadrement dès mon arrivée m'ont permis de retrouver un cadre familial réconfortant facilitant ainsi mon adaptation en Suisse.

Mes remerciements vont aussi à mes amis de l'Association des ressortissants Menoua (Dschang-Cameroun) de Suisse (AMES), dont les moments partagés m'ont toujours fait revivre l'ambiance du pays, à Mr et Mme Abomo, et leurs filles Aneesa et Meliann, à Bienvenu Tadonzap et sa famille de Paris (Véronique et Ivana), pour les beaux moments en famille, après mes dures journées de rédaction. Merci pour ces moments.

Je témoigne aussi ma gratitude à Mr et Mme Tsague et mes précieux neveux/frères Hermann, Leonel, Fabrice et Boris, avec qui grandir et progresser a toujours fortifié en moi cette soif de réussite. Puisse cette thèse être pour eux un objectif à dépasser.

Je n'oublie pas Mr et Mme Donfack et tous mes frères, sœurs, cousins, cousines, neuves et nièces; dont les marques d'affection et d'encouragement ont toujours été de grandes sources de motivations,

Mes neveux, étudiants à Ouagadougou (Fabrice, Valdo et Aurel) et leurs amis (Boris, Olivier, William, Chavely, Leonel), pour les merveilleux moments en famille passés ensemble,

Maman Dongmo Régine et la famille Tignoig pour toute l'affection ainsi que les encouragements incessants,

Ma mère Jagni Noëlle, pour tout son amour, sa tendresse et sa patience,

Claude Kana, dont la présence dans ma vie est une source de joie et de paix qui a grandement contribué à l'avancé de cette thèse. Je lui dis merci pour sa patience pendant ces longues périodes de rédaction et sa présence réconfortante.

La liste étant non exhaustive, je prie tous ceux que j'ai oubliés de citer d'accepter ma profonde gratitude.

ABSTRACT

The field trials of the present study were carried out at the International Institute for Water and Environmental Engineering (2iE) at Ouagadougou – Burkina Faso, West Africa. It was financially supported by Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation (SDC). The project aimed at contributing to the improvement of solar-based treatment processes of drinking water at underprivileged point-of-use level in developing countries. Its general objective was to evaluate the feasibility of solar-assisted photo-Fenton disinfection of wild enteric bacteria in several water sources characteristically different, under different reactors and seasons.

First of all, the evaluation of the possibility of using natural iron present in water as the catalyst of the photo-Fenton reaction was carried out. Afterward, the experimentation of the efficiency of the photo-Fenton process was made in treating small volume (Pet bottles, 1.5 L) and large volume (CPC, 25-50 L) of water as well as the evaluation of the post irradiation effect of the treatment (regrowth). The effect of nitrogenous compounds and the influence of the solar radiation parameters (irradiance vs. dose) on the efficiency of the processes were also evaluated. The photo-Fenton disinfection was evaluated in alkaline surface water and in well water sources during the raining season. Finally, the contribution of this study to the general comprehension of the mechanistic pathway of the photo-Fenton process was developed.

Methodologically, the inactivation of the wild enteric bacteria (total coliforms/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp.) in natural water containing dissolved (Fe^{2+/3+}) and solids irons forms (e.g. iron oxides) was conducted by solar disinfection (*hv*) and the contribution of the photo Fenton reactant (Fe^{2+, 3+}/H₂O₂/*hv*) after the addition of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). The natural iron content of the well water (pH 5.4 or 6.3 ± 0.1) was 0.07 mg/L, during the experiments the chemically added iron content was 0.6 mg/L. In the results, it was noticed that the photo-

Fenton systems carried out with added iron $(H_2O_2/Fe^{2+}/hv)$ or natural iron content of the water (H_2O_2/hv) has led to total inactivation of both enteric bacteria. No enteric bacteria re-growth was observed in water treated by photo-Fenton one week after the treatment. The photo-treatment of well water (25 L) under direct solar radiation in the compound parabolic collector (CPC) has given the opportunity to evaluate the effects of solar radiation parameters on the efficiency of the processes. Significant influence of the solar irradiance (W.m⁻²) and not of the dose (Wh.m⁻²) was noticed during both photo-treatment methods

The photo-disinfection of natural alkaline surface water (pH 8.6 ± 0.3) in the CPC was efficiently carried out under direct solar radiation. Despite the alkalinity of the water, the photo-Fenton disinfection was proven to take place. None of the enteric bacteria strains, totally inactivated by photo-Fenton, recovered their viability during the 24 hours of subsequent dark storage. The water was still free of pathogen one week after the photo-Fenton treatment. The oxido-reduction of nitrates and nitrites and the oxidation of ammonia were recorded during both photo-disinfection process (photo-Fenton and solar disinfection). The evaluation of the efficiency of the photo-disinfection during the raining season has brought out the negative impact of the weather variations of this season on the processes. The dilution of the water by rainwater highly affected their chemical composition. Very low iron contents comparatively to the ones recorded during 4 h to both photo-disinfecting process and none of them have shown the total inactivation of both wild enteric bacteria (total coliforms/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp.) strains involved in the treatment.

Keywords: Compound Parabolic Collector, Disinfection, Drinking Water, Enteric bacteria, H_2O_2 , Inactivation, Photo-Fenton, Salmonella spp.

RESUME

Les tests sur le terrain de la présente étude ont été réalisés à l'Institut International d'Ingénierie de l'Eau et de l'Environnement (2iE) à Ouagadougou - Burkina Faso, Afrique de l'Ouest. Ce projet de thèse été subventionné par la Direction du Développement et de la Coopération Suisse (DDC). Le projet avait pour but de contribuer à l'amélioration de la potabilisation de l'eau par des procédés de désinfection solaire au niveau communautaire dans les zones défavorisées des pays en développement. Et comme objectif principal l'évaluation de la faisabilité de la désinfection photo- Fenton sous irradiation solaire directe des bactéries entériques sauvages de plusieurs sources d'eau de caractéristiques différentes, sous différents réacteurs et à différentes saisons.

L'évaluation de la possibilité d'utiliser le fer naturel présent dans l'eau comme catalyseur de la réaction photo-Fenton a été effectuée en premier lieu. Suivie de l'évaluation de l'efficacité du processus de photo-Fenton dans le traitement de petit volume (bouteilles en PET, 1,5 L) et de grand volume (CPC, 25-50 L) d'eau, ainsi que de la détermination de l'efficacité du traitement par des tests post-irradiation (évaluation de la régénération des bactéries). L'effet des composés azotés et de l'influence des paramètres du rayonnement solaire (irradiance vs. dose) sur l'efficacité des processus de traitement a également été évalué. Par la suite, la désinfection photo-Fenton a été évaluée dans les eaux de surface alcaline et dans les sources d'eau de puits au cours de la saison des pluies. Enfin, la contribution de cette étude à la compréhension générale du mécanisme du processus de photo-Fenton a été développée.

Méthodologiquement, l'inactivation des bactéries entériques sauvages (coliformes totaux / *E. coli* et *Salmonella* spp) dans l'eau naturelle contenant du fer dissout ($Fe^{2+/3+}$) et les formes solides de fer (e.g. oxydes de fer) a été réalisée par désinfection solaire (*hv*) avec la contribution du réactif photo-Fenton ($Fe^{2+,3+}/H_2O_2/hv$) après ajout de peroxyde d'hydrogène (H_2O_2).

Au cours des expériences, la teneur en fer naturel de l'eau de puits (pH 5,4 ou 6,3 \pm 0,1) était de 0,07 mg/L, tandis que la teneur en fer ajouté était de 0,6 mg/L. Des résultats, on note que les systèmes photo-Fenton réalisés avec du fer ajouté (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/*hv*) ou la teneur en fer naturel de l'eau (H₂O₂/*hv*) ont conduit à une inactivation totale des deux bactéries entériques. Aucune recroissance de bactéries entériques n'a été observée dans les eaux traitées par photo-Fenton une semaine après le traitement. Le photo- traitement de l'eau de puits (25 L) dans le collecteur parabolique compact (CPC), sous rayonnement solaire direct a permis d'évaluer les effets des paramètres du rayonnement solaire sur l'efficacité des processus. L'influence notable de l'irradiance solaire (W.m⁻²) et non de la dose (Wh.m⁻²) a été observée pendant les traitements avec les deux processus de photo-traitement (solaire et photo-Fenton).

La photo- désinfection d'eau de surface naturellement alcaline (pH 8,6 \pm 0,3) dans le CPC a été efficacement réalisée sous rayonnement solaire direct. Le processus de désinfection par photo-Fenton a pu avoir lieu malgré l'alcalinité de l'eau. Aucune des souches de bactéries entériques, totalement inactivées par photo- Fenton, n'a pu retrouver ses capacités de viabilité au cours des 24 heures de stockage dans l'obscurité après le traitement. L'eau est resté saine, sans de pathogènes une semaine après le traitement photo- Fenton. L'oxydo- réduction des nitrates et des nitrites et l'oxydation de l'ammoniac ont été enregistrées durant les deux processus de photo-désinfection (solaire et photo-Fenton). L'évaluation de l'efficacité de la photo-désinfection pendant la saison des pluies a mis en évidence l'impact négatif des variations climatiques de cette saison sur les processus. La dilution de l'eau par l'eau de pluie a affecté significativement leur composition chimique. De très faibles teneurs en fer comparativement à celles enregistrées au cours de la saison estivale ont été trouvées dans l'eau. Aucune des souches de bactéries entériques sauvages (coliformes totaux/*E. coli* et *Salmonella* spp.) photo-traitées dans le CPC (25 L) pendant 4 h n'a été totalement inactivée.

Mots-clés: Collecteur parabolique Compact, Désinfection de l'eau potable, Bactéries entériques, H₂O₂, Inactivation, Photo-Fenton, Salmonella spp.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
Abstract	v
Résumé	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	xiii
List of tables	xvi
LIST OF SYMBOLS	xvii
1. Introduction and overview	1
1.1. Drinking water crisis and household water treatment technologies	1
1.2. Localization of the study area	4
1.3. SODIS: Solar disinfection of water	7
1.3.1. Background and principle of SODIS	7
1.3.2. Limitation of SODIS and prospects of improving its production quality	8
1.3.3. The most promising enhancement process for SODIS	9
1.4. The Fenton and photo-Fenton processes	10
1.4.1. The Fenton reaction	10
1.4.1.1. Intermediate Fenton reactions	12
1.4.1.2. Fenton process and drinking water disinfection	12
1.4.2. The photo-Fenton process	13
1.4.2.1. Photo-Fenton process at near neutral pH for drinking water disinfection	ı 14
1.4.2.2. Impact of NOM on photo-Fenton disinfection	15
1.5. The compound parabolic collector (CPC) solar reactor	16
1.6. The photo-inactivation mechanism	17
1.6.1. Inactivating reaction under direct solar radiation	17
1.6.1.1. Mechanism of type I and type II pathway of photoinactivation	18
1.6.1.2. The photosensitizers	18
1.6.1.3. Characterization of some ROS	18
1.6.2. Pathway of the photo-oxidative stress	20
1.6.3. Oxidative stress through intracellular Fenton	21
1.7. Systematic evaluation of the photo-Fenton disinfection	22
1.8. Some applications of the photo-Fenton at near neutral pH	23
1.9. Aims and outline of the thesis	23
2. Chapter 2:	26
Inactivation by solar photo-Fenton in PET bottles of wild enteric bacteria of natural well w	ater:
Absence of re-growth after one week of subsequent storage	26

2.1.	Intr	oduction	27
2.2.	Exp	erimental details	29
2.2.1.		Reagents and materials	29
2.2.2.		Water sampling	29
2.	.2.3.	Bacterial strain and growth media	29
2.	2.4.	Analytical methods for physical parameters of water	30
2.	.2.5.	Helio-photo-inactivation experiments	30
	2.2.5.1	. Laboratory experiments using a solar simulator (suntest)	30
	2.2.5.2	Field experiment using PET bottles	31
2.	2.6.	Post-irradiation events	32
2.	.2.7.	Data analysis	32
2.3.	Res	ults	33
2.	.3.1.	Physico-chemical characterization	33
2.	.3.2.	Experiment under simulated solar radiation	33
	2.3.2.1	. Inactivation in the systems $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$ and H_2O_2/hv	35
	2.3.2.2 Fe ²⁺ /o	Inactivation in the systems hv and in all the blank systems $(H_2O_2/Fe^{2+}/a)$ bs, H_2O_2/obs , obS)	o bs, 36
	2.3.2.3	Inactivation in the systems Fe^{2+}/hv	38
2.3.2.4.		. Influence of pH, bacteria species and inactivation system on the disinfe	ection
		38	
	2.3.2.5	38 Post-irradiation effect	39
2.	2.3.2.5 .3.3.	38 Post-irradiation effect Field experiments	39 39
2.	2.3.2.5 .3.3. 2.3.3.1	 38 Fost-irradiation effect Field experiments Inactivation under direct solar radiation only (<i>hv</i>) 	39 39 40
2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3.3	 38 Fost-irradiation effect Field experiments Inactivation under direct solar radiation only (<i>hv</i>) 3.1.1. Inactivation of Total coliforms/<i>E.coli</i> 	39 39 40 40
2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3. 2.3.	 38 Post-irradiation effect Field experiments Inactivation under direct solar radiation only (<i>hv</i>) 3.1.1. Inactivation of Total coliforms/<i>E.coli</i> 3.1.2. Inactivation of Salmonella spp 	39 39 40 40 40
2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3.1 2.3.1 2.3.1 2.3.1	 38 Post-irradiation effect Field experiments Inactivation under direct solar radiation only (<i>hv</i>) 3.1.1. Inactivation of Total coliforms/<i>E.coli</i>	39 39 40 40 40 41
2. 2.4.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3. 2.3. 2.3.2 Disc	 38 Post-irradiation effect Field experiments Inactivation under direct solar radiation only (<i>hv</i>) 3.1.1. Inactivation of Total coliforms/<i>E.coli</i>	39 39 40 40 40 41 43
2. 2.4. 2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3. 2.3. 2.3.3 2.3.3.2 Disc 4.1.	 38 Post-irradiation effect Field experiments Inactivation under direct solar radiation only (<i>hv</i>) 3.1.1. Inactivation of Total coliforms/<i>E.coli</i> 3.1.2. Inactivation of Salmonella spp Inactivation under enhanced systems Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/<i>hv</i> and H₂O₂/<i>hv</i> Inactivation characteristics	39 39 40 40 40 41 43 43
2. 2.4. 2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3.2 2.3.3 2.3.3.2 Diso 4.1. 4.2.	 38 Post-irradiation effect Field experiments Inactivation under direct solar radiation only (<i>hv</i>)	39 40 40 40 41 43 43 43
2. 2.4. 2. 2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3.2 2.3.3.2 Diso 4.1. 4.2. 2.4.2.1	 38 Post-irradiation effect	39 40 40 40 41 43 43 43 43
2. 2.4. 2. 2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3.2 2.3.3 2.3.3.2 Diso 4.1. 4.2. 2.4.2.1 2.4.2.2	 38 Post-irradiation effect	39 40 40 40 40 41 43 43 43 43 43
2. 2.4. 2. 2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3.2 2.3.2 2.3.3.2 Diso 4.1. 4.2. 2.4.2.1 2.4.2.2 2.4.2.3	 38 Post-irradiation effect	39 40 40 40 40 41 43 43 43 43 43 43 43
2. 2.4. 2. 2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3.2 2.3.3 2.3.3.2 Diso 4.1. 4.2. 2.4.2.1 2.4.2.2 2.4.2.3 2.4.2.4	 38 Post-irradiation effect	39 40 40 40 41 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 43
2. 2.4. 2. 2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3.3 2.3.3 2.3.3.2 Diso 4.1. 4.2. 2.4.2.1 2.4.2.2 2.4.2.3 2.4.2.4 2.4.2.5	 38 Post-irradiation effect	39 40 40 40 41 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 44 45 45 46
2. 2.4. 2. 2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3.3 2.3.3 2.3.3.2 Diso 4.1. 4.2. 2.4.2.1 2.4.2.2 2.4.2.3 2.4.2.4 2.4.2.5 4.3.	 38 Post-irradiation effect	39 40 40 40 41 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 45 45 46
2. 2.4. 2. 2. 2. 2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3.3 2.3.3 2.3.3.2 Diso 4.1. 4.2. 2.4.2.1 2.4.2.2 2.4.2.3 2.4.2.4 2.4.2.5 4.3. 4.4.	 38 Post-irradiation effect	39 40 40 40 40 41 43 43 43 43 43 43 44 45 45 46 48
2. 2.4. 2. 2. 2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3.2 2.3.3.2 Disc 4.1. 4.2. 2.4.2.1 2.4.2.2 2.4.2.3 2.4.2.4 2.4.2.5 4.3. 4.4. 2.4.4.1	 38 Post-irradiation effect Field experiments. Inactivation under direct solar radiation only (<i>hv</i>) 31.1. Inactivation of Total coliforms/<i>E.coli</i> 31.2. Inactivation of Salmonella spp. Inactivation under enhanced systems Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/<i>hv</i> and H₂O₂/<i>hv</i> Inactivation characteristics Experiments under solar simulator Iron System (Fe²⁺/<i>hv</i>) Systems Fe²⁺/ H₂O₂/<i>hv</i> and H₂O₂/<i>hv</i> Illumination alone (<i>hv</i>) <i>pH</i> Control experiments: (H₂O₂/Fe²⁺/<i>obs</i>, Fe²⁺/<i>obs</i>, H₂O₂/<i>obs</i>, <i>obs</i>) Experiments under direct solar radiation Inactivation pathways Inactivation in the illuminated system 	39 40 40 40 41 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 44 45 45 46 46 48
2. 2.4. 2. 2. 2. 2.	2.3.2.5 3.3. 2.3.3.1 2.3.3 2.3.3 2.3.3.2 Diso 4.1. 4.2. 2.4.2.1 2.4.2.2 2.4.2.3 2.4.2.3 2.4.2.4 2.4.2.5 4.3. 4.4. 2.4.4.1 2.4.4.2	38 Field experiments. Inactivation under direct solar radiation only (hv) 31.1. Inactivation of Total coliforms/ <i>E.coli</i> 31.1. Inactivation of Salmonella spp. 31.2. Inactivation under enhanced systems Fe ²⁺ /H ₂ O ₂ /hv and H ₂ O ₂ /hv sussions Irradiation characteristics Experiments under solar simulator . Iron System (Fe ²⁺ /hv) . Systems Fe ²⁺ / H ₂ O ₂ /hv and H ₂ O ₂ /hv . Illumination alone (hv) . PH . Control experiments: (H ₂ O ₂ /Fe ²⁺ /obs, Fe ²⁺ /obs, H ₂ O ₂ /obs, obs) . Experiments under direct solar radiation Inactivation pathways . Inactivation in the illuminated system	39 40 40 40 41 43 43 43 43 43 43 43 44 45 46 46 48 48

3. Chapter	3:	52
Relevant imp	pact of irradiance (vs. dose) and evolution of pH and mineral nitrogen compoun	ds
during natur	al water disinfection by photo-Fenton in a solar CPC reactor	52
3.1. Int	roduction	53
3.2. Ma	terials and methods	58
3.2.1.	Chemical reagents	58
3.2.2.	Analytical methods applied for measuring the physical parameters of water	58
3.2.3.	Water sample characteristic	59
3.2.4.	Laboratory experiments under simulated solar radiation	60
3.2.5.	Field experiments under direct solar radiation	61
3.2.6.	Data analysis	63
3.3. Res	ults and discussion	64
3.3.1. bacteria	Lab experiments in a solar simulator: Influence of H_2O_2 concentration on l inactivation	64
3.3.2.	Field scale experiments in a CPC solar reactor	68
3.3.2.	I. Treatment under solar irradiation alone	68
3.3.2. natur	2. Enhanced photo-disinfection by addition of H_2O_2 in water containing ally dissolved and solid iron forms	70
3.3.2.	8. Fenton disinfection (dark experiments)	74
3.3.2.4	I. Durability of the disinfection process: post-irradiation events	76
3.3.3.	pH evolution during the irradiation process	78
3.3.4.	Nitrite, Nitrate and Ammonia variation during the treatment	79
3.4. Co	nclusions	81
4. Chapter	4:	83
Enhancemen compound p	t of the solar photo-disinfection of natural alkaline water (pH 8.6) with H_2O_2 in arabolic collector (CPC) at different day periods in Sahelian region	the 83
4.1. Int	roduction	84
4.2. Ma	terials and methods	86
4.2.1.	Physico-chemical measurements and chemical reagents	86
4.2.2.	Characteristics of the water sample	88
4.2.3.	Bacterial strain and growth media	88
4.2.4.	The experiments	89
4.3. Res	ults and discussion	90
4.3.1.	Evolution of some physico-chemical characteristics of the water sample	90
4.3.2. Fenton	Enteric bacteria inactivation in alkaline water by Fenton, Solar light and phot 93	0-
4.3.2.	I. Fenton System	93
4.3.2.2.	Solar radiation System	94
4.3.2.	3. photo-Fenton System	98

4.3.3.	Post irradiation events	. 100
4.3.3.1	. Post irradiation events after solar radiation disinfection	. 100
4.3.3.2	Post irradiation events after photo-Fenton disinfection	. 101
4.3.4.	pH evolution during the experiments	. 101
4.3.5.	Comparative evaluation of the enteric bacteria inactivation by photo-Fenton a	ıt
alkaline	or near-neutral pH in natural waters	102
4.3.6.	Inactivation mechanisms	. 105
4.3.6.1	. Inactivation mechanisms under solar radiation treatments	. 105
4.3.6.2	. Inactivation mechanisms under photo-Fenton treatments	. 105
4.4. Con	clusions	. 106
5. Chapter		108
Evaluating the during the ra	e efficiency of the photo Fenton disinfection of natural drinking water source ining season in the Sahelian region	. 108
5.1. Intr	oduction	. 109
5.2. Mat	erials and Methods	. 112
5.2.1.	Reagents and physico-chemical analysis	. 112
5.2.2.	Localization of the study site	. 113
5.2.3.	The bacterial strains	. 114
5.2.4.	The experiments	. 114
5.3. Res	ults	. 115
5.3.1.	Physico-chemical characteristic of water	. 115
5.3.2.	Disinfection experiments in the CPC (Field scale)	. 117
5.3.2.1	. Experiments conducted from 10-14h	. 118
5.3.2.2	Experiments conducted from 12-16h	. 120
5.3.3.	Post-disinfection events	. 122
5.3.4.	Oxido -reduction of nitrogen compounds in the waters during the treatments	. 124
5.3.5.	Photo-disinfection of enteric bacteria during the summer season comparative	y to
raining s	eason	. 127
5.3.0. 5.2.7	Effect of intermittence on inactivation mechanisms	128
5.3.7. 5.4 Com	Pathway of the ROS attacks	. 128
5.4. Con	Conclusion	. 130
6.1 Con	conclusions and Perspectives	122
6.2 Dom	spactives	124
U.2. rer	specu ves	126
CURRICIII I	IM VITAF	1/1
ANNEVE		1144
AININEAE		. 140

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Proportion of the population using improved drinking-water sources in 2011: sub-Saha	ran
Africa and Oceania has the lowest coverage. Source: (UNICEF and WHO, 2013)	2
Figure 1.2: Household water treatment and storage. Source: (CAWST, 2011)	3
Figure 1.3: Drinking water coverage in rural areas, 2010. Source: (UNICEF and WHO, 2012)	5
Figure 1.4.: Localization of Burkina Faso in Africa (a), Ouagadougou in Burkina Faso (b) and	
repartition of the world annual solar irradiance (c)	6
Figure 1.5: The SODIS process. Source: (Meierhofer and Wegelin, 2002)	8

Figure 2.1. (a) 9 Pet bottles for the triplicate simultaneous exposure of the systems $H_2O_2/Fe^{2+}/hv$, H_2O_2/hv , and hv (irradiation only). (b) Blank of each system, (c) Absorbance of different reactor Figure 2.2.: Inactivation of the bacteria content in sample water from well 1(W1, pH: 4.9±0.05) and well 2 (W2, pH: 6.3±0.05) during photocatalytic treatment in the solar simulator Suntest. After the introduction of 90 ml of sample water to the 100 ml glass reactor, 8.5 mg/l of H_2O_2 and 0.6 mg/l of Fe²⁺ were added to the corresponding systems and their dark control. during the experiments, water temperature was< 45°C. (a) total coliforms/E. coli, (b) Salmonella spp. (\blacksquare) Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv, (\bullet) H_2O_2/hv , (\blacktriangle) Fe^{2+}/hv , (∇)hv only, (\Box) $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/obs$, (\bigcirc) H_2O_2/obs , (\triangle) Fe^{2+}/obs and (\bigtriangledown) obs only. Figure 2.3: Inactivation of the bacteria contained in water sample from wells 2 (W2, pH: 6.3) during the field experiment under direct solar radiation. After the introduction of 1.5 L of water in to the 1.5 L pet reactor, 8.5 mg/l of H₂O₂ and 0.6 mg/l of Fe²⁺ were added to the corresponding systems and their dark control. (a) total coliforms/E. coli, (b) Salmonella spp., (J1) 28/04/2010, (J2) 29/04/2010, (J3) 30/04/2010, (\blacksquare) Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/*hv*, (\bullet) H₂O₂/*hv*, (\blacktriangle) *hv* only, (\Box) Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/*obs*, (\bigcirc) H₂O₂/*obs*, (\triangle) *obs*

Figure 3.1. The schematic (a) and physical (b) representation of the compound parabolic collector Figure 3.2: Inactivation kinetics of the wild enteric bacteria of natural well water containing natural iron (dissolved: 0.07 ± 0.02 mg/L of Fe^{2+,3+} and solid iron oxides (0.23 ± 0.01 mg/L) treated with different concentrations of H₂O₂. (a) total coliforms/*E. coli*, (b) Salmonella spp. (\blacksquare) 0 mg/L hv, (\bullet) 2 mg/L hv, (\blacktriangle) 4 mg/L hv, (\triangledown) 5 mg/L hv, (\square) 6 mg/L hv, (\bigcirc) 7 mg/L hv, (\triangle) 8 mg/L hv, (\bigtriangledown) 10 mg/L Figure 3.3. Inactivation under different day periods (*a*, *b*, *c*) of the wild enteric bacteria of well water containing natural iron (dissolved: 0.07 ± 0.02 mg/L of Fe^{2+,3+} and solid iron oxides (0.23 ± 0.01 mg/L) and addition of 10 mg/l of H₂O₂). (a', b', c') evolution of water temperature ([T°C], (X)), irradiance ([W.m⁻²], (-)) and cumulated total dose ([Wh.m⁻²], (+)) during the treatments. EDT (photo-Fenton): Effective Disinfection Time for Salmonella spp. (time required for the total inactivation of Salmonella spp. under photo-Fenton treatment). day time periods (aa': 8-14h), (bb': 10-16h), (cc': 12-18h) total coliforms/*E*. *coli* (\Box) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) under photo-Fenton (natural Fe^{2+, 3+}/H₂O₂/*hv*), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\bigcirc) and *Salmonella* spp. (\bigcirc) under direct solar radiation (natural Fe^{2+,3+}/*hv*), total Figure 3. 4. Efficient disinfection time (EDT) [min] and dose required for Salmonella spp. Total inactivation as a function of average irradiance (AI) [W.m⁻²] available, (■) cumulated total dose $[Wh.m^{-2}]$, (\blacklozenge) EDT (photo-Fenton) [min]: time required for the total inactivation of *salmonella* spp. Figure 3.5. Variations of pH during the disinfection by solar light exposure and neutral photo-Fenton of total coliforms bacteria/E. coli and Salmonella spp. Recorded at different day time's intervals: (a) 8-

Figure 4.1: (*a*) Inactivation of wild enteric bacteria in natural surface water carried out from 8-12h under direct solar illumination (hv). Post irradiation events (24-hour dark storage). pH 8.6±0.3, natural iron content (Fe): 0.10±0.05 mg/L, addition of 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ in the water for photo-Fenton process. Total coliforms/*E. coli* (\Box) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) under photo-Fenton (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/*hv*), total coliforms/*E*. *coli* (\bigcirc) and *Salmonella* spp. (\bigcirc) under direct solar radiation (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/*hv*), total coliforms/*E*. *coli* (\triangle) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacktriangle) in the dark (Fenton process) (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/ H_2O_2/obs). (a') evolution of the water temperature [T°C] during both treatments (solar and photo-Fenton); insert: solar irradiance [W.m⁻², (---)] and cumulated total dose [Wh.m⁻², (----)] available Figure 4.2: (b, c, d) Inactivation of wild enteric bacteria in natural surface water carried out from 10-12h, 12-14h and 13-15h respectively under direct solar illumination (hv). Post irradiation events (dark storage during 24h). pH 8.6±0.3, natural iron (Fe) content: 0.10±0.05 mg/L, addition of 10 mg/L of H_2O_2 in the water for photo-Fenton process. Total coliforms/*E. coli* (\Box) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) under photo-Fenton (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/hv), total coliforms/*E*. *coli* (\bigcirc) and *Salmonella* spp. (\bigcirc) under direct solar radiation (natural $Fe^{2+/3+}/hv$), total coliforms/*E*. coli (\triangle) and Salmonella spp. (\blacktriangle) in the dark (Fenton process) (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/ H₂O₂/*obs*). (*b*', *c*', *d*') evolution of the water temperature [T°C] during both treatments (solar and photo-Fenton); insert: solar irradiance [W.m⁻², (—)] and Figure 4.3: (e, f) Inactivation of wild enteric bacteria in natural surface water carried out from 14-16h and 15-17h respectively under direct solar illumination (hv). Post irradiation events (dark storage during 24h). pH 8.6±0.3, natural iron (Fe) content: 0.10±0.05 mg/L, addition of 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ in the water for photo-Fenton process. Total coliforms/*E*. *coli* (□) and *Salmonella* spp. (■) under photo-Fenton (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/hv), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\bigcirc) and *Salmonella* spp. (\bigcirc) under direct solar radiation (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/hv), total coliforms/E. coli (\triangle) and Salmonella spp. (\blacktriangle) in the dark (Fenton process) (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/obs). (e', f') evolution of the water temperature [T^oC] during both treatments (solar and photo-Fenton); insert: solar irradiance $[W.m^{-2}, (--)]$ and cumulated total dose **Figure 4.4:** Evolution of pH during the photo-disinfection treatments: (**♦**) under solar radiation treatment without h_2o_2 addition, (\blacksquare) under photo-Fenton treatment with 10 mg/L of H_2O_2102 **Figure 4.5:** Wild enteric bacteria inactivation by photo-Fenton (natural $Fe^{2+/3+}/H_2O_2/hv$) in natural wells (W) and surface (S) water under direct solar radiation at different time intervals of the day (8-12h, 10-12h and 12-14h). (□) total coliforms/*E. coli*, (■) *Salmonella* spp. Some parameter of the sample water presented here: the surface water contains 0.10±0.05 mg/L natural iron (Fe) and pH 8.6±0.3, while the wells water contains natural iron (dissolved: 0.07 ± 0.02 mg/L of Fe^{2+,3+} and solid iron oxides (0.23 ± 0.01 mg/L), pH 5.4±0.01. 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ was added in each sample to initiate the

direct solar radiation (natural $Fe^{2+,3+}/hv$). (') evolution of water temperature [T°C], irradiance [W.m⁻²] and cumulated total dose [Wh.m⁻²] during the treatments; SL: direct solar radiation, PF: photo Fenton.

Figure 5.3: Inactivation of the wild enteric bacteria of wells 1 and 2, from 12-16h under direct solar radiation during the raining season. Addition of 10 mg/L of H_2O_2 to the water before the photo-Fenton experiments considering the natural iron (Fe) contents of both wells waters $0.03-0.05\pm0.02$ mg/L for W1 and $0.01-0.04\pm0.01$ mg/L for W2. Total coliforms/*E. coli* (\Box) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) under photo-Fenton (natural Fe^{2+,3+}/H₂O₂/*hv*), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\bigcirc) and *Salmonella* spp. (\bigcirc) under direct solar radiation (natural Fe^{2+,3+}/H₂O₂/*hv*). (') evolution of water temperature [T°C], irradiance [W.m⁻²] and cumulated total dose [Wh.m⁻²] during the treatments; SL: direct solar radiation, PF: photo fenton.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Characteristics of some physico-chemical parameters of the water sample used in field experiments 35
Table 2. 2: Inactivation rate constants k [min ⁻¹] of each enteric bacteria group observed during the inactivation process, calculated by linear regression for the different photo-catalytic treatments and their corresponding blank conducted in the dark
Table 2.3: Three-way ANOVA analysis results
Table 3.1: Some characteristics of the wells water sample used during the experiments
Table 3. 4: Influence of irradiance on the efficient disinfection time and dose for the photo-Fenton treatment of <i>Salmonella</i> spp
14h; 10 - 16h; 12 - 18h)
Table 4.1: summary of the HACH analytical methods used to characterize some components of the water sample (HACH, 2001)
Table 5.1 : Physico-chemical parameters of the samples water116 Table 5.2: Enteric bacterial regrowth evaluation (total coliforms bacteria/ <i>E. coli</i> and <i>Salmonella</i> spp.),after the photo-disinfection and neutral photo-Fenton treatments of natural well water with or without H_2O_2 (10 mg/l) under direct solar light.124

LIST OF SYMBOLS

AOP: Advanced Oxidation Processes

CPC: Compound Parabolic Collector/collecteur parabolique compact

L: liter

CFU/ml: Colony Forming Units per milliliter

NTU/FTU/FNU: Nephelometric turbidity units/Formazin Turbidity Units/Formazin Nephelometric Units

spp. Species

UV: Ultraviolet

Min: minutes

mg/L: milligrams per liter (ppm)

h: hours

EDT: Effective disinfection time

W.m⁻²: Watt per square meter

Wh.m⁻²: Watt hours per square meter

SODIS: Solar disinfection

NOM: Natural organic matter

JMP: Joint Monitoring Program for Water Supply and Sanitation

UNICEF: The United Nations Children's Fund

WHO: World Health Organization

MDG: Millennium Development Goal

1. INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW

1.1. DRINKING WATER CRISIS AND HOUSEHOLD WATER TREATMENT TECHNOLOGIES

Inadequate access to safe drinking water is a major cause of morbidity and mortality in developing countries (Hunter, 2009). The target date for the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) is close to be delivered according to the Joint Monitoring Program (JMP) for Water Supply and Sanitation, but over 768 million people were still estimated living without access to safe source for drinking-water in 2011, including 185 million who relied on surface water to meet their daily drinking-water needs (UNICEF and WHO, 2013). If this situation remains unchanged, these numbers will remain unacceptably high in 2015. 605 million people will be without an safe drinking water source and 2.4 billion people will lack access to proper sanitation facilities (UNICEF and WHO, 2013). Sub-Saharan Africa and Oceania have the lowest drinking water

coverage (Fig. 1.1.). Efforts are needed to reduce urban-rural disparities and inequities associated with poverty, to dramatically increase coverage in countries in sub-Saharan Africa and Oceania. To promote global monitoring of drinking water quality, to bring sanitation 'on track' and to look beyond the MDG target towards universal coverage (UNICEF and WHO, 2012).



Figure 1.1: Proportion of the population using improved drinking-water sources in 2011: sub-Saharan Africa and Oceania has the lowest coverage. Source: (UNICEF and WHO, 2013).

Improving the sustainability of household water treatment (HWT) approximately 100 L or pointof-use water treatment (approximately 1000 L, community level), could significantly help solving the problems of poor quality drinking water in poor communities in developing countries. Sobsey (2002) described and detailed the functional and practical principle of several technologies for treatment of household water. The technologies with the aim to improve the microbial quality of household water and reduce waterborne disease include a number of physical and chemical treatment methods (Fig. 1.2.). The physical methods, include boiling, heating (fuel and solar), settling, filtering, exposing to the UV radiation in sunlight, and UV disinfection with lamps. The chemical methods include coagulation-flocculation and precipitation, adsorption, ion exchange and chemical disinfection with germicidal agents (primarily chlorine). Today, chlorine is the

most widely applied and most efficient method, but it has some disadvantages (e.g. availability, toxic byproducts formation).



Figure 1.2: Household water treatment and storage. Source: (CAWST, 2011)

Some water treatment and storage systems use chemicals and other media and materials that cannot be easily obtained locally at reasonable cost (e.g. ozonation, ultrafiltration). They required relatively complex and expensive systems and procedures to treat the water. Such systems may be too inaccessible, complex and expensive to employ for treatment and storage of household or point-of-use water in some places and settings (Sobsey, 2002). The physical disinfection under solar radiation seems to be the more affordable, as it deals with a renewable energy source and

locally available materials (e.g. glass or transparent plastic bottles, CPC reactor). Nevertheless, this technique has some practical and technical disadvantages such as the availability in rural area of the proper reactor free of scratch or the availability of high and intense solar radiation to ensure an efficient disinfection. The regrowth of the inactivated pathogen during the storage after the solar disinfection is one of the major disadvantages of this process. The evaluation of the way to improve the yielding and sustainability of this process before its broad vulgarization could significantly help to face the problem of drinking water scarcity in some regions of the world.

1.2. LOCALIZATION OF THE STUDY AREA

It was recently reported that, approximately of 83% of the population without access to an improved drinking-water source were living in rural areas at the end of 2011 (UNICEF and WHO, 2013). In accordance, rural areas in Burkina Faso as in most of the Sub-Saharan African countries are subject to drastic shortage in drinking water coverage (Fig.1.3.). Most of the drinking water diseases outbreaks are recorded in rural and peri-urban area in developing countries (UNICEF and WHO, 2012). However, most of the developing countries are geographically located in such a way to receive high and intense solar radiation during the sunny day and have a long summer season. The advantageous solar radiation received by some developing countries during the summer season could be usefully exploited at household level for drinking water disinfection.



Figure 1.3: Drinking water coverage in rural areas, 2010. Source: (UNICEF AND WHO, 2012)

The practical works of this thesis has been carried out at Ouagadougou-Burkina Faso, West Africa. Ouagadougou is located at 12°21'26" of Latitude North and 1°32'7" of Longitude West. This location is subject to receive approximately 1900-2200 kWh/m² of annual average solar irradiance (Fig. 1.4.). Therefore, it could be considered as a good place for the experimentation of photo-disinfection of drinking water.



Figure 1.4.: Localization of Burkina Faso in Africa (a), Ouagadougou in Burkina Faso (b) and repartition of the world annual solar irradiance (c).

Sources:

a): http://www.niccolomaffeo.es/africa/mapas/paises/burkinafaso.htm, Accessed on: 12-07-2013

b):<u>http://www.spirulinesolidaire.org/index.php?page=%2FBURKINA+FASO</u>, Accessed on: 12-07-2013

c): http://www.skyscrapercity.com/showthread.php?p=19499307, Accessed on: 12-07-2013

1.3. SODIS: SOLAR DISINFECTION OF WATER

1.3.1. BACKGROUND AND PRINCIPLE OF SODIS

The bactericidal effect of solar radiation was scientifically reported for the first time by Downes and Blunt (1877). Almost a century later Acra *et al.* (1980) re-introduced this effect and proposed the practical application of sunlight for the disinfection of oral re-hydration solution. According to these results, they concluded that sunlight might be able to provide a low-cost, sustainable, and simple method for treating contaminated drinking water in developing countries with consistently sunny climates (Acra *et al.*, 1989). This process is broadly known today as SODIS (Solar Disinfection). It is one of the recommended methods by the WHO for household drinking water treatment or for the temporary treatment during an emergency situation, where people do not have access to an alternative method to obtain safe drinking water (WHO, 2007). Its principle is based on a synergistic effect of thermal and optical parameters of the solar radiation which lethally inactivates the water microorganisms. 1 to 2 L of water of low turbidity (< 30 NTU) are filled up in PET (polyethylene terephthalate) bottles or plastic bags and exposed during about 6 h of mid-latitude midday summer sunshine (Wegelin *et al.*, 1994; Byrne *et al.*, 2011; Spuhler *et al.*, 2013) or up to two days under cloudy weather (Fig. 1.5.) (Meierhofer and Wegelin, 2002).



Figure 1.5: The SODIS process. Source: (MEIERHOFER AND WEGELIN, 2002)

1.3.2. LIMITATION OF SODIS AND PROSPECTS OF IMPROVING ITS PRODUCTION QUALITY

The synergetic (thermal and physical) inactivation of SODIS is strongly dependant on the local immediate climatic conditions and the volume and shape of the used recipient. This is due to the fact that the infra-red (IR, wavelenght from 780 nm to 500 μ m) solar radiation is significantly attenuated by clouds, optical inactivation does limit the volumes that can be treated at a time because the penetration of UVA (wavelenght from 320 nm to 400 nm) radiation decreases exponentially with the water depth and can be scattered by turbidity. Moreover, the process does not remove natural or anthropogenic chemical pollutants contained in the water. In consequence,

the control of the required exposure time or turbidity for a given weather condition and water source can overburden some households, leading to under exposure, regrowth and limited acceptance among the population (Mäusezahl *et al.*, 2009; Spuhler *et al.*, 2013).

Several enhancement processes have been assessed during the past 20 years to overcome the climatic and volumetric dependency of SODIS. Tested physical improvement include: agitation (Reed *et al.*, 2000; Khaengraeng and Reed, 2005), aluminum foil, black painted back, (Kehoe *et al.*, 2001), the possibility of adding an artificial photosensitizers (PS), e.g. methylene blue (Wegelin *et al.*, 1994; Acra and Ayoub, 1997) or a photocatalyst e.g. TiO₂ (Rincon *et al.*, 2001; Marugan *et al.*, 2008; Malato *et al.*, 2009) or rose bengal (Jiménez-Hernández *et al.*, 2006). Most of these enhancement technologies were sophisticated, expensive and not adapted for a point of used water treatment. Moreover, most of the drawbacks of SODIS technology such as bacterial regrowth during the storage (24h) and volume limitation (1-2L) still merit the effort for further improvement.

1.3.3. THE MOST PROMISING ENHANCEMENT PROCESS FOR SODIS

To enhance SODIS for the application with less insecurity regarding changing weather conditions, it is strongly beneficial to improve the optical inactivation process, which means to maximize the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). In 2006, Rincon and Pulgarin (2006) tested the effect of Fe^{3+} and H_2O_2 on the photocatalytic disinfection of water compared to the one by TiO₂. During some control experiments, Rincon and Pulgarin (2006) observed that by an initial near neutral pH (6.5), Fe^{3+}/H_2O_2 (0.3 mg/L and 10 mg/L, respectively) systems had almost a strong bactericidal effect as TiO₂ system under irradiation and a stronger effect in the dark. Furthermore, they observed that only the addition of either Fe^{3+} or H_2O_2 alone to a basic SODIS

system does enhance the inactivation rates. Rincon and Pulgarin (2006) concluded that the presence of Fe³⁺ accelerates the simulated sunlight *E. coli* inactivation due to the photo-activation of iron aquo-complexes under UV and visible light. This SODIS enhancement by the simultaneous addition of iron salts (Fe^{2+ or 3+}) and H₂O₂ (Moncayo-Lasso *et al.*, 2009) or by the addition of H₂O₂, leading to a derived process taking advantage of iron salts or other transition metals naturally present in the water source (Sciacca *et al.*, 2010; Bandala *et al.*, 2012; Soboleva *et al.*, 2012; Spuhler *et al.*, 2013) is known as the photo-Fenton process, deriving from the Fenton process.

1.4. THE FENTON AND PHOTO-FENTON PROCESSES

The history of Fenton chemistry dates back to 1894, when Fenton (1894) reported that Fe^{2+} could be activated by Fe^{2+} salts to oxidize tartaric acid. Afterwards, Fenton and related reactions have become of great interest for their relevance to biological chemistry, the chemistry of natural waters and the treatment of wastewater. Fenton and related systems encompass reactions of peroxides (usually H₂O₂) with metal ions leading to the fromation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive radical species (Eq. 1.1) (Spuhler *et al.*, 2013):

$$M^{n+} + H_2 O_2 \to M^{(n+1)+} + OH^- + OH$$
 (1.1)

1.4.1. THE FENTON REACTION

The Fenton reagent is a system containing a mixture of ferrous iron (Fe²⁺) or ferric iron (Fe³⁺) and H₂O₂. The Fenton reaction refers basically to the generation of 'OH aided by the activation of H₂O₂ by Fe²⁺ via the Haber-Weiss reaction (Eq. 1.2) (Haber and Weiss, 1934; Sychev and Isak, 1995; Malato *et al.*, 2009). It has been largely studied for the treatment of bio-recalcitrant

wastewater from industry or agriculture at low pH (2.5-3) (Pignatello *et al.*, 2006; Kenfack *et al.*, 2009).

$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH + OH^ k = 53 - 76 M^{-1} s^{-1}$$
 (1.2)

The Haber-Weiss reaction is a specific case of the Fenton reaction and is explained as the decomposition of H_2O_2 in the presence of Fe^{2+} in an aqueous solution, to water and oxygen, involving the formation of 'OH and other reactive species capable of oxidizing a wide variety of organic substrates (Eq. 1.2). In this system, the generated 'OH are reported to attack mainly organic pollutants via electrophilic addition, hydrogen abstraction or electron transfer. The oxidizing capacity of the generated radicals is nowadays getting popular as an advanced oxidation process (AOP) for the elimination of biorecalcitrant pollutants in industrial or agricultural wastewater (Kenfack *et al.*, 2009; Malato *et al.*, 2009). The rate constant *k* of this reaction is approximately 53 – 76 M^{-1} s⁻¹, depending on pH and other factors. To achieve a catalytic system, Fe^{2+} needs to be regenerated from Fe^{3+} and this can take place in presence of H_2O_2 leading to the generation of HO₂[•] and H⁺ (Eq. 1.3) (Sychev and Isak, 1995; Pignatello *et al.*, 2006; Malato *et al.*, 2009):

$$Fe^{3+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{2+}HO_2^{\bullet} + H^+$$
 $k = 1 - 2 \ 10^{-2} \ M^{-1} \ s^{-1}$ (1.3)

But as the rate constant *k* for the reduction of Fe^{3+} by H_2O_2 to Fe^{2+} is of several magnitudes lower than it consumption in Eq. 1.2 (Haber and Weiss, 1934; Sychev and Isak, 1995; Gernjak *et al.*, 2004; Spuhler *et al.*, 2013), this reaction is the limiting step for the Fenton process.

1.4.1.1. INTERMEDIATE FENTON REACTIONS

In addition to equations 2 and 3 and in the absence of other interfering ions and organic substances, the following catalytic reactions (Eqs. 1.4-1.7) have to be regarded, k have been reported by (Sychev and Isak, 1995).

$$Fe^{2+} + HO_2^{\bullet} \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + HO_2^{-}$$
 $k = 75 - 150 \ 10^4 \ M^{-1} \ s^{-1}$ (1.4)

$$Fe^{2+} + OH \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^{-}$$
 $k = 25 - 58 \ 10^7 \ M^{-1} \ s^{-1}$ (1.5)

$$Fe^{3+} + HO_2^{\bullet} \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + O2 + H^+ \qquad k = 33 - 210 \ 10^4 \ M^{-1} \ s^{-1}$$
 (1.6)

 $\operatorname{Fe}^{3+} + \operatorname{O_2}^{\bullet-} \to \operatorname{Fe}^{2+} + \operatorname{O_2} \qquad \qquad k = 50 - 190 \ 10^7 \ \mathrm{M}^{-1} \ \mathrm{s}^{-1} \qquad (1.7)$

For practical applications, Fenton and Fenton-like reactions are difficult to distinguish as in the presence of the above described catalytic cycle, ferrous Fe^{2+} and ferric Fe^{3+} iron species are always present simultaneously. Especially in a large molar excess of H₂O₂, when initial Fe^{2+} is transformed to Fe^{3+} quickly, it is meaningless, from a mechanistic point of view, to distinguish ferrous from ferric type Fenton reactions (Pignatello *et al.*, 2006). When dissolved Fe^{2+} is continuously regenerated from Fe^{3+} allowing a continuous generation of 'OH, this can be referred to as a homogenous catalytic system. The regeneration of Fe²⁺ from Fe³⁺ can be accelerated irradiating the system (photo-Fenton process).

1.4.1.2. FENTON PROCESS AND DRINKING WATER DISINFECTION

The Fenton reagent is strongly enhanced by solar radiation, but was generally perceived to be limited to a very low operational pH, which seems not adapted for treating water for human consumption (Spuhler *et al.*, 2013). Murray and Parsons (2004) identified the pH and the Fe^{2+} dose as key parameters determining the removal efficiency of both, Fenton and photo-Fenton

processes. However, high removal efficiencies were achieved also within a pH range of 4 to 6, making the processes more attractive to drinking water treatment. Based on these results, they suggested that this process could be used to prevent the formation of disinfection by-products (DBPs) during water treatment by reducing the levels of precursor species prior to chlorination. The photo-Fenton reaction typically gives faster rates and a higher degree of mineralization than the thermal or dark reaction and can take advantage of light in the solar spectral region because of the photo-activity of some iron aquao-or organo- complexes (Malato *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, the photo-Fenton is of a general increasing interest of the scientific community for drinking water disinfection.

1.4.2. THE PHOTO-FENTON PROCESS

The enhancement of the Fenton kinetic under light illumination is known as photo-Fenton. The catalytic cycle of the system is maintained through the regeneration of Fe^{2+} from Fe^{3+} . This reaction is highly efficient at acidic pH (2.5-3). At this pH, Fe^{2+} exists predominantly as the hydrolysed hexaquo ion $Fe(H_2O)^{2+}$ (Eqs. 1.8-1.9) (Pignatello *et al.*, 2006; Malato *et al.*, 2009):

$$H_2O + Fe(H_2O)_6^{2+} \leftrightarrow Fe(H_2O)_5(OH)^+ + H_3O^+$$
 (1.8)

$$2H_2O + Fe(H_2O)_6^{2+} \leftrightarrow Fe(H_2O)_4(OH)_2 + 2H_3O^+$$
(1.9)

Dropping water ligands from the formulas, $Fe(H_2O)_6^{2+}$, $Fe(H_2O)_5(OH)^+$ and $Fe(H_2O)_4(OH)_2$ can be written as Fe^{2+} , $Fe(OH)^+$ and $Fe(OH)_2$. Below pH 3, most of the present ferrous ion will be present as Fe^{2+} . At pH above 3, ferrous ions will tend to co-precipitate with Fe^{3+} oxyhydroxides, if the two ions are present together. However, the illumination of the system leading to the photo-Fenton system can accelerate the regeneration of Fe^{2+} from Fe^{3+} because some Fe^{3+} -hydroxy

complexes undergo photoreduction under UVA and visible radiation, producing 'OH and regenerating Fe^{2+} , via the ligand to metal charge transfer (LMCT) (Spuhler *et al.*, 2013):

$$[Fe^{3+}(L)_n] + hv \to [Fe^{3+}(L)_n]^* \to [Fe^{2+}(L)_{n-1}] + L^{\bullet}_{ox}$$
(1.10)

 Fe^{3+} complexes have different light absorption properties for different ligands L affecting directly the quantum yields for the generation of Fe^{2+} , 'OH and other ROS.

1.4.2.1. PHOTO-FENTON PROCESS AT NEAR NEUTRAL PH FOR DRINKING WATER DISINFECTION

Solar water disinfection enhanced by a photo-Fenton process at near neutral pH and low temperatures is novelty from a scientific and technological point of view. This enhancement is achieved by increasing the rate of the 'OH radical and others ROS production. Fe³⁺ can form complexes with many substances and undergo photoreduction as described in Equation 1.10. Fe³⁺ complexes with organic ligands, which absorb light in the solar spectrum and are stable at environmental pH, allow to circumvent the pH dependency of photo-Fenton. Such ligand can be formed with some oxidation intermediates of degradation products of natural organic matter (NOM) and promote the conversion of Fe³⁺ to Fe²⁺, in addition to the uni-molecular decomposition of the Fe³⁺hydroxy complexes (Jiang *et al.*, 2010). The photolysis of these Fe³⁺- organo complexes, which have generally a high molar absorption coefficient in UVA and visible light than the Fe³⁺ leads to the regeneration of Fe²⁺ and the formation of a ligand radical (Feng and Nansheng, 2000). Fe³⁺-carboxylate complexes (Eq. 1.11) can have much higher quantum yields than Fe³⁺-hydroxo complexes and undergo also LMCT.

$$[(\text{RCOO}^{-})\text{Fe}^{3+}] + hv \rightarrow \text{Fe}^{2+} + \text{CO}_2 + \text{R}^{\bullet}$$
(11)

During the photocatalytic cycle, both Fe^{2+} and organic radicals can than react with O₂ leading to the formation of ROS (O₂^{•-}, •OH, H₂O₂), which may attack bacteria and other targets (Faust and Zepp, 1993; Feng and Nansheng, 2000).

1.4.2.2. IMPACT OF NOM ON PHOTO-FENTON DISINFECTION

Natural organic matter contains functional groups which can form complexes with Fe^{3+} or Fe^{2+} . These complexes not only increase the solubility of iron over the natural pH range, but they can also considerably contribute to the photo-Fenton reactions via a LMCT under solar radiation. The positive effect of NOM constituents (carboxylic acids) on photo-Fenton process, which allows to work at near neutral pH has been reported by (Georgi et al., 2007; Lipczynska-Kochany and Kochany, 2008; Vermilyea and Voelker, 2009; Ruales-Lonfat et al., 2013). Strong and photoactive complexes with Fe³⁺ are formed by carboxylate groups or polycarboxylates (e.g. oxalate, malonate and citrate), the most common functional groups of dissolved NOM (Zepp et al., 1992; Pignatello et al., 2006; Lipczynska-Kochany and Kochany, 2008). The Fe³⁺-organo complex thereby undergoes LMCT (Eq. 1.11). Under photo-Fenton, the carboxylic acids groups can partially substitute the OH groups in Fe³⁺-hydroxy complexes and stabilize these complexes at near neutral pH leading to the possible disinfection of drinking water. In the past few years, several authors have shown, that because of its chelating effect leading to the formation of photoactive Fe³⁺ or Fe²⁺-organo-complex, NOM did not only accelerate the photo-Fenton system and allow to operate at near neutral pH but it can also auto-oxidized subsequently (Murray and Parsons, 2004; Georgi et al., 2007; Vermilyea and Voelker, 2009; Spuhler et al., 2013).

NOM can be a serious problem for drinking water treatments not only because they can be a substrate for bacterial regrowth after treatment, but also because under chlorination, this NOM is

often subject to the formation of carcinogenic halogenated disinfection by-products (DBP) such as trihalomethanes (Gallard and von Gunten, 2002; Dickenson *et al.*, 2008; Moncayo-Lasso *et al.*, 2008a; Guo and Chen, 2009). Photo-Fenton process at near neutral pH can considerably decrease the NOM content in drinking water sources (Murray and Parsons, 2004; Moncayo-Lasso *et al.*, 2008a; Vermilyea and Voelker, 2009). The degradation of NOM by the photo-Fenton reagent does not lead to the formation of DBP (Ribordy *et al.*, 1997). It seems, that is the chelating effect of some functional groups of the NOMs, which on one hand, contribute to the solubilization of Fe²⁺ and Fe³⁺ at near neutral pH and on the other hand are oxidized during this process either by ROS generated when solubilized Fe²⁺ reacts with H₂O₂ and on the other when undergoing a LMCT in the Fe³⁺-organo complexes.

1.5. THE COMPOUND PARABOLIC COLLECTOR (CPC) SOLAR REACTOR

High-performance compound parabolic collector (CPC) in which large volumes of water can be treated at one time can be used for different solar water treatment technologies. The CPC is a batch solar reactor composed of borosilicate glass tubes, which are placed in the focus of the aluminum reflectors. The aluminum frame is mounted on tilted platforms orientated to the sun. The glass tubes are interconnected so that water flows directly from one tube to another and finally into a tank (recirculation). A centrifugal pump returns the water to the tubes exposed to the solar collector. Once the water has been completely treated, the total volume is redirected to this tank, which is closed to prevent recontamination. The advantage of recirculating CPC is definitively the large volumes, which can be treated at a time. Several authors have tested the efficiency of the CPC in enhancing the photo-disinfection of waste and drinking water (Rincon

and Pulgarin, 2007a; Kenfack et al., 2009; Moncayo-Lasso et al., 2009; Ubomba-Jaswa et al., 2010; Byrne et al., 2011; Sciacca et al., 2011).

1.6. THE PHOTO-INACTIVATION MECHANISM

1.6.1. INACTIVATING REACTION UNDER DIRECT SOLAR RADIATION

Sunlight may cause direct damage to biomolecules when UVB radiation is absorbed by DNA (Smith *et al.*, 1987; Reed, 2004). It is more common for solar UVA and visible light to cause indirect damage. The central hypothesis of indirect optical inactivation is that photosensitizing compounds can absorb solar UVA and visible radiation and thereby get excited. The excited compounds can then either directly attack microorganism via the reaction with cellular biomolecules (type I) or produce ROS via energy transfer and redox reactions with surrounding oxygen in the water (type II) (Kohn and Nelson, 2006; Spuhler *et al.*, 2013).

The optical inactivation of microorganism in solar disinfection systems is mainly due to the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS, type II pathway of photo-inactivation), even though the direct interaction of excited photosensitizers with biomolecules without the intermediate formation of ROS (type I) plays also a role depending on the water composition. The transition metal iron (in particular free or loosely bound iron salts Fe^{2+or3+}) as well as the long living ROS H_2O_2 and $O_2^{\bullet-}$, play an important role in the generation of short living and thus more reactive ROS (e.g. 'OH via the Fenton reaction) leading to the fatal damage during photo-oxidative stress (e.g. sub-lethal or lethal damage) in the process of solar disinfection of water (Eisenstark, 1998; Imlay, 2008).

1.6.1.1. MECHANISM OF TYPE I AND TYPE II PATHWAY OF PHOTOINACTIVATION

Type I reactions includes the attack of proteins and cell membrane components, especially membrane lipids (Gourmelon *et al.*, 1994), leading to lipid peroxidation chains (Cabiscol *et al.*, 2000) and the inactivation of the cells which could be due to increased permeability and/or the disruption of trans-membrane ion gradients, (Reed, 2004). ROS generated in the type II pathway can also monitor these attacks. The main ROS generated by photosensitization of organic dissolved matter are singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_{2}$), superoxide (O_{2}^{-}), hydroxyl radicals (^{O}H) or hydrogen peroxide ($H_{2}O_{2}$). When the concentration of active oxygen species increases to a level that exceeds the cell's defense capacity, this is called oxidative stress (Cabiscol *et al.*, 2000). The biological targets for these highly reactive oxygen species are DNA, RNA, proteins and lipids (Spuhler *et al.*, 2013).

1.6.1.2. THE PHOTOSENSITIZERS

Photosensitizers (PS) can be either endogenous (thus part of the cells themselves) such as porphyrins, cytochromes, cytochrome oxidase, aromatic amino acids, flavins, tryptophan, chlorophylls or chromophore groups of proteins or quinones (Hartman and Eisenstark, 1978; Curtis *et al.*, 1992; Rajendran *et al.*, 2004). Exogenous photosensitizers, which absorb light in the solar UV and visible range are often of organic nature, such as humic (Curtis *et al.*, 1992; Paul *et al.*, 2004) and fulvic acids (Cory *et al.*, 2008) or other dissolved natural organic material (Haag and Hoigné, 1985; Canonica *et al.*, 1995; Sandvik *et al.*, 2000; Zhan *et al.*, 2006; Zhan, 2009).

1.6.1.3. CHARACTERIZATION OF SOME ROS

Many studies have shown that ${}^{1}O_{2}$ can oxidize a variety of organic substances including biologically important compounds, such as amino acids (Zepp *et al.*, 1977) or other parts of
proteins (Davies, 2003; Rengifo-Herrera *et al.*, 2009). The bacterial membranes (lipids) are the most likely target for the often exogenously produced singlet oxygen and oxygen radicals (Curtis *et al.*, 1992; Spuhler *et al.*, 2013) leading to enhanced permeability and serious damage of the cells.

 O_2^{\bullet} itself is relatively little reactive. When generated exogenously O_2^{\bullet} is sufficiently long living to diffuse into the cells but this process is slowed because O_2^{\bullet} is charged (Imlay, 2008). However, O_2^{\bullet} produced endogenously is responsible for the oxidation of [4Fe-4S] cluster present in cells, the subsequent release of Fe²⁺ and the simultaneous formation of H₂O₂ allowing the generation of toxic 'OH via intracellular Fenton reactions (Gutteridge, 1982; Imlay, 2003; Fridovich, 2011).

'OH reacts at, or close to, a diffusion-controlled rate. Hence, any formed 'OH will react with whatever is present at its formation site and directly damage almost all biological molecules, including DNA (Halliwell and Gutteridge, 1992). If these radicals are produced sufficiently close to the bacterial membrane (because their high reactivity does not allow them to travel in the bulk water) they lead to the oxidation of lipids affecting the structural and functional integrity of the membranes (Kellogg and Fridovich, 1975). If they are produced inside the cells, they will immediately attack the biomolecules, especially DNA.

 H_2O_2 on its own is also relatively little reactive, but has the ability to attack the cellular membrane, initiating lipid peroxidation chains that increase membrane permeability and affect the viability of the cells (Halliwell and Chirico, 1993). However, H_2O_2 is long-living and therefore penetrates membranes and diffuse into cells whenever it is present in the extracellular

habitat (Imlay, 2008). The presence of H_2O_2 in the cell can led to serious damage because of its ability to react with metal ions (e.g. Fe²⁺) generate highly toxic 'OH.

1.6.2. PATHWAY OF THE PHOTO-OXIDATIVE STRESS

The biological targets of ROS ($^{l}O_{2}$, H₂O₂, O₂⁻ as well as 'OH, type II photosensitization) and other radicals (type I) are DNA, RNA, proteins and lipids (Cabiscol et al., 2000). Oxygen dependent type II photoreaction are probably the major component of optical bacterial damage because of the ROS induced membrane lipid peroxidation and DNA damage (Reed, 2004). Free radicals attack membrane lipids (Gourmelon et al., 1994) such as the phospholipids chains (Gutteridge, 1982) or polyunsaturated fatty acids, initiating lipid peroxidation chains (Cabiscol et al., 2000). Lipid peroxidation is a complex process characterized by three distinct phases: a slow induction period, a rapid autocatalytic phase and a slow termination phase (Gutteridge, 1982). Lipid peroxidation results in a decrease of the membrane fluidity altering the membrane properties and disrupting membrane-bound proteins (Cabiscol et al., 2000). It action can also lead to increase membrane permeability, disruption of transmembrane ion gradients and finally inactivation (Reed, 2004). The attack of polyunsaturated fatty acids acts as an amplifier, more radicals are formed, and the polyunsaturated fatty acids are degraded to a variety of products. Some of them are aldehydes, which are on their turn very reactive and can damage molecules, such as proteins (Cabiscol et al., 2000). When proteins are exposed to reactive oxygen species, modifications of amino acid side chains occur and, consequently, the protein structure is altered (Cabiscol et al., 2000). The toxic effects of H₂O₂ and O₂^{•-} is due to their important role in the Fenton reaction and the generation of 'OH via this pathway (Gutteridge, 1982; Imlay, 2003;

2008). ${}^{1}O_{2}$, on its term is an effective initiator of lipid peroxidation chains and it has also been proposed, beside the generation of ${}^{\bullet}OH$ via the Fenton reaction (Kellogg and Fridovich, 1975).

1.6.3. OXIDATIVE STRESS THROUGH INTRACELLULAR FENTON

Under UVA and visible light, iron concentrations can be enhanced. Hoerter *et al.* (1996) and (2005) have shown that enterobactin is an endogenous chromophore for UVA and contributes to cell lethality under radiation in the solar spectrum via the destruction of its ligand, releasing Fe^{2+} into the cytoplasm of *E. coli* bacteria to catalyze the production of highly reactive hydroxyl radicals and other toxic oxygen species via the Haber-Weiss reaction. Pourzand *et al.* (1999) have shown that the UVA radiation also increases the level of intracellular reactive iron pools via the proteolysis of ferritin (Tyrrell *et al.*, 2000). UVA radiation also breaks down heme-containing proteins in the microsonial membrane to release free heme as an additional photosensitizing component (Tyrrell *et al.*, 2000). Also, ROS can directly interact with bound iron to make it available (Spuhler *et al.*, 2013).

Imlay (2008) described that during the oxidative-stress, $O_2^{\bullet-}$ could penetrate in the active sites of enzymes containing iron-sulfur clusters ([4Fe-4S]²⁺). $O_2^{\bullet-}$ then binds the critical iron atom and oxidizes the cluster to a redox state that is unstable, the produced [4Fe-4S]³⁺ then releases Fe²⁺ and is left in a inactive [4Fe-4S]⁺ form. The [4Fe-4S]²⁺ cluster can also be oxidized by H₂O₂ leading to the release of Fe³⁺. And the oxidation of the cluster by $O_2^{\bullet-}$ leads simultaneously also to the generation of cellular H₂O₂ (Imlay, 2003; 2008):

$$[4Fe - 4S]^{2+} + O_2^{\bullet-} + 2H^+ \rightarrow [4Fe - 4S]^{3+} + H_2O_2$$
(1.12)

$$[4Fe - 4S]^{3+} \rightarrow [4Fe_{-4}S]^{+} + Fe^{2+}$$
(1.13)

Besides the Fe²⁺ release from iron-sulfur cluster, $O_2^{\bullet-}$ can also reduce and liberate Fe³⁺ from ferritin (Henle and Linn, 1997). The generated H₂O₂ and Fe²⁺ can through the Fenton reaction lead to the generation of highly reactive [•]OH radical which will lethally oxidize the cell DNA (Gutteridge, 1982; Henle and Linn, 1997; Imlay, 2003).

1.7. SYSTEMATIC EVALUATION OF THE PHOTO-FENTON DISINFECTION

The first systematic study on photo-Fenton solar water disinfection allowing a mechanistic interpretation and which illustrates the possible pathways involved in photo-inactivation of E. *coli* in presence of Fe^{2+} , Fe^{3+} , H_2O_2 and the photo-Fenton reagent in milliQ water was carried out by (Spuhler et al., 2010). According to the results, it was estimated that the differences in how Fe^{2+} , Fe^{3+} , H_2O_2 and the photo-Fenton reagent affect bacterial photo-inactivation involve not only classical photo-Fenton reaction and photo-oxidative cellular stress, but also excessive Fe²⁺ and H₂O₂ uptake by bacteria leading to intracellular dark Fenton reaction (photo-oxidative stress) and the aggregation of some iron species with bacteria leading to the formation of photo-active Febacteria bound. Many gram-negative bacteria, such as E. coli possess highly specified binding proteins and siderophores to sequestrate Fe^{3+} for facultative anaerobic respiration (Braun, 2001). Besides, the membrane of gram-negative bacteria does also contain other proteins with many carboxylic end groups which are likely to show an affinity for Fe³⁺ and to support the formation of photoactive Fe^{3+} -bacteria bounds. Intracellular iron and H_2O_2 play both an important role in photo-oxidative stress (Imlay et al., 1988; Imlay, 2003). The toxicity of Fe²⁺ for microorganisms due to its ability to generate radicals via intracellular Fenton reaction can also be observed in nature (Touati, 2000) and has been explored for the inactivation of waterborne viruses (Ryan et

al., 2002; You *et al.*, 2005) and bacteria (Auffan *et al.*, 2008; Lee *et al.*, 2008) via the corrosion and subsequent Fe^{2+} release from zerovalent iron (Spuhler *et al.*, 2013).

1.8. SOME APPLICATIONS OF THE PHOTO-FENTON AT NEAR NEUTRAL PH

The photo-Fenton process at near neutral pH and very low reagent concentration was tested for the elimination of NOM from river water (Murray and Parsons, 2004; Moncayo-Lasso *et al.*, 2008a; Ruales-Lonfat *et al.*, 2013; Spuhler *et al.*, 2013). Simultaneous to organic oxidation it was also observed that the process significantly enhanced the solar inactivation of some pathogenic bacteria (Moncayo-Lasso *et al.*, 2009). The enhancing effect of the photo-Fenton process for photo-inactivation of *E. coli* in drinking water at near neutral pH was for the first time reported by (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2006). Subsequently, the enhancement of bacterial photo-inactivation via photo-Fenton at near neutral pH was reported at lab scale, pilot scale and in natural waters at reagents' concentrations in the micro to millimolar range (Moncayo-Lasso *et al.*, 2009; Sciacca *et al.*, 2010; Spuhler *et al.*, 2010; Polo-Lopez *et al.*, 2012).

1.9. AIMS AND OUTLINE OF THE THESIS

Research conducted in the framework of this thesis aimed to determine the feasibility of the disinfection of large volumes of natural drinking water in Sub-Saharan region, via the photo-Fenton reagent and to test the technical implementation at field scale.

The following specific tasks were carried out:

- Evaluate the simple solar and enhanced photo-Fenton solar disinfection of natural waters with near to neutral pH (wells) and alkaline pH (dam) in PET bottles and CPC reactor.
- Characterize the physicochemical and wild enteric bacteria contents of the water sources and evaluate their influence on the sole solar (hv) and photo-Fenton (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv) disinfection.
- Evaluate the impact of the pH, temperature, irradiance and dose of the direct solar radiation on the inactivation rate of the wild enteric bacteria during the simple solar or enhanced photo-Fenton solar disinfection.
- Evaluate the optimal concentration of added hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) needed for an efficient photo-Fenton disinfection of natural drinking water.
- Evaluate the effect of the raining season on the efficiency of the photo-Fenton disinfection.
- Conduct post irradiation control of the water quality to evaluate the efficiency of the photo-disinfection.

To efficiently present this research work, this thesis is organized in five chapters. The introductive Chapter 1, contains the overview of the drinking water scarcity in the world and the potential of point-of-use and household level water treatment, followed by a broad presentation of the solar and photo-Fenton disinfection mechanisms.

In Chapter 2, the results of the research is presented for which natural wells water with near to neutral pH was inactivated in PET bottles considering several photocatalytic systems to evaluate the impact of the natural iron contents of the water on photo-Fenton disinfection before the experimentation of large volume of water (25L) in the CPC solar reactor.

Chapter 3, present the results from the evaluation of the impact of different irradiances and doses following several exposure sets of the water sample in a CPC solar reactor, during different day times. Considering the impact of the pH on the efficiency of the photo-Fenton and the proximity of the studied wells with agricultural areas, the monitoring of the variation of pH, NH_4^+ , NO_3^- and NO_2^- during the photo-treatment was assessed to evaluate the impact of these parameters on the photo-Fenton treatment and vice-versa as well as the possible formation of the health related disinfecting byproducts.

Chapter 4, present the results on the first evaluation of the efficiency of photo-Fenton disinfection at alkaline pH for the disinfection of natural surface water (pH 8.6) collected from a dam in Ouagadougou, at field scale in a CPC. The evolution of pH during the photo-disinfection was monitored. The impact of some inorganic ions presents in the natural water sample on the efficiency of the photo-Fenton process was also evaluated.

Chapter 5, present the results from the experimentation during the raining season in order to present the impact of the high intermittence of the solar radiation on the efficiency of photodisinfection (simple solar and enhanced photo Fenton solar disinfection) comparatively to the situation available during the summer time.

Each chapter contains its corresponding materials and methods section. At the end, a summarized conclusion on the progress on photo-disinfection is presented with a directions to future work, in order to improve the state-of-art knowledge of this promising field of water disinfection processes.

CHAPTER 2: 2.

INACTIVATION BY SOLAR PHOTO-FENTON IN PET BOTTLES OF WILD ENTERIC BACTERIA **OF NATURAL WELL WATER: ABSENCE OF RE-GROWTH AFTER ONE WEEK OF SUBSEQUENT**

STORAGE.

Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 129 (2013) 309-317



ELSEVIER

Applied Catalysis B: Environmental

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/apcatb

Inactivation by solar photo-Fenton in pet bottles of wild enteric bacteria of natural well water: Absence of re-growth after one week of subsequent storage

J. Ndounla^{a,e}, D. Spuhler^b, S. Kenfack^c, J. Wéthé^d, C. Pulgarin^{a,*}

Article history.

Available online xxx Keywords: Photo-Fenton Inactivation Enteric bacteria Drinking water

^a Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Institute of Chemical Sciences and Engineering, GPAO, Station 6, CH, 1015 Lausanne, Switzerland
 ^b Zurich, Switzerland
 ^c Kinshasa Congo
 ^d Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso
 ^e Institut International d'Ingénierie de l'Eau et de l'Environnement, Laboratoire Eau, Dépollution, Ecosystème et Santé (LEDES), 01 BP 594 Ouagadougou 01, Burkina Faso

ARTICLE INFO

Received 11 June 2012 Received 11 Provided form 23 August 2012 Accepted 13 September 2012

ABSTRACT

Iron photo-assisted inactivation of wild enteric bacteria (total coliforms/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp.) was carried out in water from the Sahelian wells having different pH (W1: 4.9 and W2: 6.3) and a natural iron content of 0.07 mg/L. We evaluate the efficiency of the disinfection on different systems containing both content of 0.07 mg/L. we evaluate the efficiency of the assintection on different systems containing both or only one Fenton reagent (H₂O₂/Fe²⁺): (i) H₂O₂/Fe²⁺/hv, (iii) Fe²⁺/hv, (iii) H₂O₂/hv, and (iv) only light irradiation (*hv*) at lab and field scale. Generally, 0.6 mg/L of Fe²⁺ and/or 8.5 mg/L of H₂O₂ were used in the Fenton reagent. The systems H₂O₂/Fe²⁺/hv and H₂O₂/*hv* led to total inactivation of *Salmonella* and *E. coll*. The natural iron content (0.07 mg/L) was enough to drive an efficient photo-Fenton process leading to total bacterial inactivation. Our results show that: (i) the iron salt present in Sahelian water is enough to perform a photo-Fenton disinfection of drinking water when adding H₂O₂. (ii) addition of external iron salts at near neutral pH has no additional effect on the bacterial photo-Fenton inactivation process. After one week of storage, no enteric bacteria re-growth was observed in treated waters. Mechanistic suggestions are presented to explain the observed results.

© 2012 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

CATALYSIS

cf. Annex.

The use of solar energy for water treatment is a new and promising alternative to the disinfection of drinking water. Solar disinfection (SODIS) was first used in 1980 to produce re-hydration solutions for children suffering from diarrhea in Beirut (Acra et al., 1980). The SODIS treatment involves the use of transparent plastic bottles (Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) of 1-1.5 L) filled with water and exposing them to sunlight for at least 6 hours depending on the meteorological conditions. The inactivation or death of pathogenic microorganisms is achieved by the synergistic effect of radiation and heat (Wegelin et al., 1994; Sommer et al., 1997; McGuigan et al., 1999). Underexposure and bacterial re-growth result in incomplete bacterial inactivation (Reed, 2004; Mäusezahl et al., 2009). Improvement of the SODIS treatment includes the use of black backs bag (Kehoe et al., 2001) or the TiO₂ photocatalytic processes (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2003; Fernandez *et al.*, 2005; Marugan *et al.*, 2008). Recently, the photo-Fenton system ($Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$) has been shown to increase the solar photo-inactivation of Escherichia coli at near-neutral pH (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007a; Moncayo-Lasso et al., 2009; Spuhler et al., 2010). Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) significantly increased the photocatalytic inactivation process in natural water containing natural iron (Sciacca et al., 2010). The Fenton reagent generates the highly reactive 'OH via the Haber-Weiss reaction (Sychev and Isak, 1995):

$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH + OH^ k = 53 - 76 M^{-1}s^{-1}$$
 (2.1)

During the Fenton process, Fe^{2+} can be regenerated from Fe^{3+} in the presence of H_2O_2 :

$$Fe^{3+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{2+}HO_2^{\bullet} + H^+$$
 $k = 1 - 2 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1}s^{-1}$ (2.2)

But the Fenton process is limited by the Fe²⁺ regeneration of Fe³⁺ (Eq. 2.2). This drawback is partially countered by photo-Fenton reactions. In fact, under illumination, ferric-hydro-complexes or ferric-organo-complexes in solution can absorb photons and generate ligand-to-metal charge-transfer (LMCT) reaction in which Fe²⁺ generating 'OH (Eq. 2.3-2.5), (Pignatello *et al.*, 2006; Malato *et al.*, 2009).

$$Fe^{3+}(L_n) + hv \rightarrow Fe^{2+}(L_{n-1}) + L_{ox} +$$
 (2.3)

$$\left[\operatorname{Fe}(\operatorname{OH})\right]^{2+} + hv \to \operatorname{Fe}^{2+} + {}^{\bullet}\operatorname{OH}$$
(2.4)

$$\left[\operatorname{Fe}(\operatorname{OOC} - \mathbf{R})\right]^{2+} + hv \longrightarrow \operatorname{Fe}^{2+} + \operatorname{CO}_2 + \mathbf{R}^{\bullet}$$
(2.5)

The pH influences the efficiency of the photo-Fenton reagent, with an optimum level of pH 2.8-3 (Safarzadeh-Amiri *et al.*, 1996). Considering this acidity criteria, the photo-Fenton was in the past preferably used for the treatment of wastewaters, mainly for the degradation of bio-recalcitrant organic pollutants via the generated ROS (Kenfack *et al.*, 2009; Malato *et al.*, 2009). But the recent discovery of its efficiency at near-neutral pH in the presence of organic substances, (Spuhler *et al.*, 2010) gives the possibility of using it in the treatment of drinking water. The Sub-Sahelian African region receives about 2,500-3,000 hours of solar radiation annually with more than 2,300 KWh.m⁻².an⁻¹ irradiance in some parts (Kenfack *et al.*, 2009). This natural illumination with a UV-component represents a powerful intake to drive photo-Fenton reactions in the region.

Studies on the inactivation of model bacteria (*E. coli* K 12) by the photo-Fenton reagent in milliQ water (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007a; Spuhler *et al.*, 2010) or milliQ water containing simulated NOM (Spuhler *et al.*, 2010) and some research on the disinfection of wild bacteria in natural water have been reported (Sciacca *et al.*, 2010; 2011). This study is related to the inactivation of

bacteria in natural waters. In this study, we address the intervention of the Fenton (Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2) reagent-driven bacterial inactivation and photo-Fenton $(Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv)$ processes on various wild bacteria in groundwater from wells in Burkina Faso, West Africa.

2.2. EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS

2.2.1. REAGENTS AND MATERIALS

Hydrogen peroxide, 30% (AnalaR Normapur, VWR) and Iron (II) Sulphate Heptahydrate (FeSO₄.7H₂O) were used to prepare the Fenton reagent. During the experiments, Catalase from bovine liver was used to inactivate the remaining H_2O_2 , in the treated water before the bacterial culture. Hydrochloric acid fuming (HCl), 37% was used for glass-reactor cleaning. Catalase and HCl were from Fluka Analytical, SIGMA-ALDRICH \circledast .

2.2.2. WATER SAMPLING

Water samples were collected at two household wells from two sectors in Ouagadougou: well 1 (W1) at Tanghin, sector 30, and well 2 (W2) at Nonsing, sector 21. Water from these wells is used for cooking, laundry, bathing and occasionally for drinking purposes during the recurrent water shortage period. Samples for lab experiments were collected from the water sources with two PET bottles (1.5 L) one hour before the beginning of the process. One bottle was used to determine some physico-chemical parameters and the other for the disinfecting experiments. Water for field experiments was collected only from W2 with a 20-liter plastic jerrican. *In-situ* temperature was monitored.

2.2.3. BACTERIAL STRAIN AND GROWTH MEDIA

The wild bacterial strain monitored in this study was the fecal indicator bacteria coliforms/*E. coli*, and *Salmonella* spp. Microbiology Chromocult ® (Merck KGaA), was used for bacterial plating.

The Chromocult is a selective and differential growth media. It selectively inhibits growth of the non-enteric bacteria. As experiments were conducted with natural water, considering their initial enteric bacteria contents, no dilution was realized before the bacterial plating. 100 μ l of sample water were inoculated in the growth medium. Considering the selectivity of Chromocult, the detection limit of enteric bacteria was 0 (zero) colony growths observed in the plate. The differential nature of the medium permits the distinction of *Salmonella* spp (colorless), *E.coli* (purple and pink) and the blue and salmon colored colonies of other coliforms bacteria. The Incubation period was 18-24 h at 37°C, allowing the growth of all previously mentioned enteric bacteria. However, in order to more strongly represent the decrease of the total coliforms, all the *E. coli* observed and others coliforms counted were presented together in this study.

2.2.4. ANALYTICAL METHODS FOR PHYSICAL PARAMETERS OF WATER

Temperature (T°C), pH and hydrogen peroxide evolution were monitored following Sciacca *et al.* (2010). Turbidity was measured with a PCcompact ® Turbidity/Trübung, (Aqualitic). The total iron content was measured with the spectrophotometer HACH 2000, by the FerroVer method 265. The detection limit of the spectrophotometer HACH 2000 was 0.02±0.01 mg/L.

2.2.5. HELIO-PHOTO-INACTIVATION EXPERIMENTS

2.2.5.1. LABORATORY EXPERIMENTS USING A SOLAR SIMULATOR (SUNTEST)

The photo-inactivation experiments at laboratory scale were conducted following the process used by Spuhler *et al.* (2010) in a solar simulator (suntest). The disinfecting efficiency of four photo-assisted systems combined with both or only one Fenton reagent (H_2O_2/Fe^{2+}) in: (i) $H_2O_2/Fe^{2+}/hv$, (ii) Fe^{2+}/hv , (iii) H_2O_2/hv , and (iv) only light irradiation (*hv*) were evaluated in parallel with dark-control experiments: (5) $H_2O_2/Fe^{2+}/obs$, (6) Fe^{2+}/obs , (7) H_2O_2/obs , and (8) obscurity only (*obs*). In these systems, *hv:* refers to illumination and *obs:* to obscurity. Glassware

for analytical analysis and reactors were acid soaked after each experimental series to prevent iron cross-contamination (10% HCl, 3 days and nights). After preliminary experiments the H_2O_2 dose in this study was set at 8.5 mg/L. The concentration of the added iron was Fe^{2+} (0.6 mg/L) as evaluated by Spuhler *et al.* (2010). The initial pH of the water was 4.9 and 6.3 respectively for W1 and W2. Each experiment was repeated at least three times to ensure the reproducibility of the results.

2.2.5.2. FIELD EXPERIMENT USING PET BOTTLES

PET bottles were used for field experiments as they have a relative good absorbance (Fig.2.1-c). Only the water from W2 with a close-to-neutral pH (table 2.1) was used at this level. Following the results of the lab experiments, the system Fe^{2+}/hv was not evaluated at field scale and the other systems and their blank were evaluated in triplicate (Fig.2.1-a,b) over three successive days at the end of April 2010. Nine new PET bottles (1.5 L) representing three replications of the systems (H₂O₂/Fe²⁺/*hv*, H₂O₂/*hv*, and (*hv*)) were filled with: Fe^{2+} (0.6 mg/L) and H₂O₂ (8.5 mg/L) added before their exposure to solar radiation. Blank control bottles were covered with Al-foil and kept in the dark. During the experiments, solar radiation was recorded following the process used by Sciacca *et al.* (2011). To evaluate the bacterial inactivation rate, samples of the treated water were collected at regular time intervals in a sterile 15 mL Eppendorf for plating. Some parameters of these water samples are presented in table 2.1. The PET bottles were used only once to ensure the same and relatively good light transmittance (Fig.2.1-c) in all the experiments.



Figure 2.1. (a) 9 Pet bottles for the triplicate simultaneous exposure of the systems $H_2O_2/Fe^{2+}/hv$, H_2O_2/hv , and hv (irradiation only). (b) Blank of each system, (c) Absorbance of different reactor materials (Pyrex, Glass, Pet).

2.2.6. POST-IRRADIATION EVENTS

At the end of the irradiation phase of the laboratory experiments, remaining samples from systems 1 and 2 were introduced into sterile 50 mL Eppendorf flasks and kept in the dark at room temperature varying from $25 - 30^{\circ}$ C. For field experiments, each PET bottle from the exposed and blank tests was closed and kept in the dark. Re-growth experiments were realized on stored bottles after 24 h, 72 h and one week. Considering the real scale situation for treated water intended for populations, the samples water were kept in the dark without removing their remaining 2 to 3 mg/L of H₂O₂. This remaining amount of H₂O₂ ensures a residual effect on the treatment. However, it was no more detectable after 48 to 72 h.

2.2.7. DATA ANALYSIS

The three-way ANOVA Package of the Wolfram Mathematica 8.0 program was used to evaluate the influence of the acidity, bacteria types and irradiation used on the disinfection rate.

2.3. RESULTS

2.3.1. PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CHARACTERIZATION

Both water samples used in this study were collected at Ouagadougou during the months of March and April 2010, (dry season). They had an initial temperature of 29°C and low turbidity < 10 NTU. The maximum acceptable turbidity recommended for SODIS disinfection is 30 NTU, (McGuigan *et al.*, 1999; Reed, 2004). The W1 has an initial pH of 4.9 and a total iron content of 0.06 mg/L; while in W2 the initial pH value was 6.3 and the total iron content 0.07 mg/L. The concentration of both wild enteric bacteria (total coliforms/E. coli and Salmonella spp.) was approximately 10^5 CFU/ml in both water sources.

2.3.2. EXPERIMENT UNDER SIMULATED SOLAR RADIATION

As it has been reported before (McGuigan *et al.*, 1998; Spuhler *et al.*, 2010), the decrease in CFU/mL of the samples' enteric bacteria broadly follows the first order kinetics, based on loglinear plots (Fig.2.2). Inactivation rate constants observed during the inactivation process reported as k [min⁻¹] were calculated by linear regression (Table 2.2). Considering all the systems tested with W1 and W2, only the photo-Fenton (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/*hv*) and hydrogen peroxide systems (H₂O₂/*hv*) lead to a total inactivation of the fecal indicators bacteria. Irradiation only (*hv*) and Fe²⁺/*hv*, as well as blank systems (H₂O₂/Fe²⁺/*obs*, Fe²⁺/*obs*, H₂O₂/*obs*, *obs*) show a lower decrease in their active enteric bacteria concentration within two hours' irradiation (Fig. 2.2)



Figure 2.2.: Inactivation of the bacteria content in sample water from well 1(W1, pH: 4.9 ± 0.05) and well 2 (W2, pH: 6.3 ± 0.05) during photocatalytic treatment in the solar simulator Suntest. After the introduction of 90 mL of sample water to the 100 mL glass reactor, 8.5 mg/L of H₂O₂ and 0.6 mG/L of Fe²⁺ were added to the corresponding systems and their dark control. during the experiments, water temperature was< 45° C. (a) total coliforms/E. coli, (b) Salmonella spp. (\blacksquare) Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv, (\blacklozenge) H₂O₂/hv, (\bigstar) Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv, (\blacktriangledown) H₂O₂/hv, (\bigstar) Fe²⁺/hv, (\blacktriangledown)hv only, (\Box)Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/obs, (\bigcirc)H₂O₂/obs, (\bigtriangleup) Fe²⁺/ obs and (\bigtriangledown) obs only. Graphics produced by the Listlogplot function of WOLFRAM MATHEMATICA software.

Experiment 1	Experiment 2	Experiment 3	
(J1)	(J2)	(J3)	
8+0.2	8+0.2	0+0.1	
8±0.2	8±0.2	9±0.1	
6.13±0.05	6.26±0.02	6.14±0.05	
28.9±0.2	31.1±0.2	29.3±0.2	
0.07 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.02	0.07±0.02	
0.6	0.6	0.6	
8.5	8.5	8.5	
	Experiment 1 (J1) 8±0.2 6.13±0.05 28.9±0.2 0.07±0.02 0.6 8.5	Experiment 1 Experiment 2 (J1) (J2) 8±0.2 8±0.2 6.13±0.05 6.26±0.02 28.9±0.2 31.1±0.2 0.07±0.02 0.07±0.02 0.6 0.6 8.5 8.5	

 Table 2.1: Characteristics of some physico-chemical parameters of the water sample

 used in field experiments

2.3.2.1. INACTIVATION IN THE SYSTEMS $FE^{2+}/H_2O_2/HV$ AND H_2O_2/HV

Considering only the systems in which the total inactivation of the bacteria were achieved $(Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv)$ and $H_2O_2/hv)$, it can be noticed that in W1 (pH=4.9) the photo-Fenton system $(Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv)$ induced a stronger inactivation of the enteric bacteria, particularly in the total coliforms/*E. coli* group. This group has shown an inactivation rate constant of (k = -0.3887±0.005 min⁻¹), (table 2.2) and their total inactivation was achieved after 30 min. In the H_2O_2/hv system, we have to take into account the natural presence of 0.07 mg/L of iron in water. Natural iron confers to this system the photocatalytic properties, leading to a high inactivation rate constant (k = -0.1953±0.003 min⁻¹). Total inactivation was achieved in about 60 min. In both systems, the *Salmonella spp*. concentration was totally inactivated after about 60 min.

The ranking of the two photocatalytic systems considering the inactivation rate constant (Table 2.2), gives the following for both wild enteric bacteria at pH 4.9 (W1):

$$k_c^{Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv} > k_s^{H_2O_2/hv} > k_s^{Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv} > k_c^{H_2O_2/hv}$$

At pH 6.3 (W2), the ranking was as follows:

$$k_{s}^{Fe^{2+}/H_{2}O_{2}/hv} > k_{s}^{H_{2}O_{2}/hv} > k_{c}^{Fe^{2+}/H_{2}O_{2}/hv} > k_{c}^{H_{2}O_{2}/hv}$$

C stands for total coliforms/E. coli and S for Salmonella spp.

The *Salmonella* spp. total inactivation was achieved before the total coliforms/*E*. *coli* group in both systems in approximately 90 and 120 min respectively.

2.3.2.2. INACTIVATION IN THE SYSTEMS HV AND IN ALL THE BLANK SYSTEMS $(H_2O_2/FE^{2+}/OBS, FE^{2+}/OBS, H_2O_2/OBS, OBS)$

For water from W1 (pH: 4.9), the irradiation (*hv*) alone and all the blank systems, gives just a slight inactivation of the total coliforms/*E. coli* after the 120 min of exposure. The *Salmonella* spp. content of the sample show an increase instead of a decrease at the end of the period of irradiation (120 min), with an increasing rate constant of (k =0.0013±0.005 min⁻¹). Its concentration increased also in some blank tests carried out in the dark (table 2.2). A slight decrease was observed both in the Fenton system $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/obs$ and the system Fe^{2+}/obs with the same inactivation rate constant (k = -0.0080±0.006 min⁻¹).

The inactivation of the total coliforms/*E. coli* under *hv* alone and in the W2 (pH: 6.3) blanks show a slight decrease as in W1. The *Salmonella* spp. content in the sample showed a slight increase in the system hv (k = 0.0001±0.005 min⁻¹). All the blank systems give rise to a slight decrease.

Table 2. 2: Inactivation rate constants k [min⁻¹] of each enteric bacteria group observed during the inactivation process, calculated by linear regression for the different photo-catalytic treatments and their corresponding blank conducted in the dark.

		Treatments / k [min ⁻¹]							
Water Origin/ pH	Enteric Bacteria	Fe ²⁺ /H ₂ O ₂ /hv	H ₂ O ₂ /hv	Fe ²⁺ /hv	hv	Fe ²⁺ /H ₂ O ₂ /Obs	H ₂ O ₂ /Obs	Fe ²⁺ /Obs	Obs
Wells 1 pH: 4.9	Total coliforms/ <i>E. coli</i>	-0.3887±0.005	-0.1953±0.003	-0.0124±0.005	-0.0055±0.008	-0.0284±0.011	-0.0161±0.005	-0.0062±0.002	-0.0063±0.004
	Salmonella spp.	-0.2085±0.002	-0.2110±0.005	-0.0044±0.012	0.0013±0.005	-0.0080±0.006	0.0041±0.006	-0.0080±0.006	0.0045±0.003
Wells 2 pH: 6.3	Total coliforms/ <i>E. coli</i>	-0.1001±0.011	-0.0798±0.007	-0.0260±0.011	-0.0133±0.004	-0.0105±0.015	-0.0002±0.003	-0.0103±0.007	-0.0024±0.003
	Salmonella spp.	-0.1380±0.004	-0.1189±0.006	-0.0025±0.003	0.0001±0.005	-0.0125±0.002	-0.0016±0.002	-0.0125±0.002	-0.0013±0.005

2.3.2.3. INACTIVATION IN THE SYSTEMS FE^{2+}/HV

The system Fe^{2+}/hv did not lead to a total inactivation of enteric bacteria in both waters (W1 and W2). But a slight inactivation was observed, as presented in fig. 2.2 and by the inactivation rate constants (Table 2.2).

The data shown in Fig. 2.2 and Table 2.2, for a single day experiment, present experiments carried out in triplicate. Experiments were repeated on three different days and a similar inactivation rate was observed.

2.3.2.4. INFLUENCE OF PH, BACTERIA SPECIES AND INACTIVATION SYSTEM ON THE DISINFECTION

A significant difference between the inactivation rate of the total enteric bacteria concentration of both wells (W1: pH 4.9 and W2: pH 6.3) was observed when applying $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$ and H_2O_2/hv . The analysis of these processes by the three-way ANOVA program of Mathematica 8.0, allowed us to evaluate the influence of the acidity and other parameters, as presented in Table 2.3. With a Fisher ratio or influence factor (F) of about 48.66, it is possible to state that the pH has a strong impact on the photo-catalytic disinfection process (Malato *et al.*, 2009). The probability (P = 0.001%) gives rise to the assumption that the error may be due to noise. The impact of bacteria (total coliforms/*E. coli* or *Salmonella* spp.) or the treatment ($Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$ or H_2O_2/hv) on the disinfection process was less significant. The probability that the difference in the inactivation rate related to these two parameters could be due to experimental error was about 11% and 18% respectively for the bacteria species and treatment used. The cross-interactions between the three parameters did not significantly affect the data obtained.

Parameters	DF	SS	MS	F	Р
pH	1	21930.8	21930.8	48.66	0.001%
Bacteria species	1	1201.25	1201.25	2.65	11%
Treatments	1	826.875	826.88	1.83	18%
pH/Bacteria species	1	396.75	396.75	0.88	35%
pH/Treatments	1	6.13	6.13	0.01	91%
Bacteria species/Treatments	1	585.21	585.21	1.30	26%
Error	73	32901.8	450.71	-	-
Total	79	57848.8	-	-	-

Table 2.3: Three-way ANOVA analysis results

DF: Degree of freedom, SS: Sum of square, MS: Means square, F: Fisher factor (influence factor) P: Probability.

2.3.2.5. **POST-IRRADIATION EFFECT**

To be sure that the inactivated bacteria was not just partly damaged, rather than killed, when using the photo-Fenton ($Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$) or hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2/hv) systems under light irradiation, after completion of the runs the samples were transferred into sterile flasks and kept at 25-30°C in the dark (*obs*). Further spread plate counts were performed on the samples after 24 h, 72 h and up to one week. No re-growth of coliforms/*E. coli* or *Salmonella* spp. was observed, and this suggested irreversible inactivation.

2.3.3. FIELD EXPERIMENTS

Field experiments indicated that the inactivation rate of both bacteria types applying $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$ and H_2O_2/hv was not significantly affected by the difference observed in the solar radiation and temperature each day. Variation in the inactivation rates were observed, however, when light alone was applied. As presented in all the graphs in Fig.2.3, any variation of the solar radiation influences the inactivation of the bacteria. Some of the coliforms/E. coli

inactivation curves have a shoulder. However, the decrease in CFU mL⁻¹ of most of the enteric bacteria curves follows first-order kinetics, as in the lab experiments, based on log-linear plots.

2.3.3.1. INACTIVATION UNDER DIRECT SOLAR RADIATION ONLY (HV)

2.3.3.1.1. INACTIVATION OF TOTAL COLIFORMS/E.COLI

The temperature of 49°C and UV irradiation of more than 30 W/m⁻² during the first exposure gave rise to the total inactivation of coliforms/*E.coli* within 90 min. On the second day, irradiation was reduced and decreased from 26 W/m⁻² to 20 W/m⁻² during the first exposure. Consequently, inactivation was achieved after 120 min only. No re-growth was observed after 24h of storage in the dark over these two days. On the third day, the reduction in temperature to less than 45°C and high fluctuation in the solar radiation (between 23 and 14 W/m⁻²) did not permit a total inactivation of coliforms/*E.coli* in this system (*hv*). Inactivation of the blank (*obs*) kept in the dark with a water temperature of around 38°C was not significant during the time of experimentation (2 h). But after the 24 h dark-storage period, inactivation of about 97% was observed on the first and third day, and total inactivation on the second.

2.3.3.1.2. INACTIVATION OF SALMONELLA SPP.

The favorable conditions during the first day of experimentation enhanced considerably the inactivation of *Salmonella* spp.: about 96% of the population was inactivated during the 2 hours of exposure. On the second day, the relatively low irradiation gave rise to a total inactivation at the end of the illuminated process, but a recovery of the viability during the 24 h dark-storage period was observed (Fig.2.3-b2). The atmospheric conditions on the third day were not favorable and only 44 % was inactivated at the end of the exposure. Blank tests in the system *obs*, did not give a significant inactivation during the experiments and after the 24 h of dark storage, their concentration remained constant.

2.3.3.2. INACTIVATION UNDER ENHANCED SYSTEMS $FE^{2+}/H_2O_2/HV$ AND H_2O_2/HV

 $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$ and H_2O_2/hv showed a significant increase in the inactivation rate of bacteria compared to the non-enhanced systems (*hv*) (Fig. 2.3). Moreover, the variation of the solar radiation over the three days did not significantly influence the inactivation kinetics. For both bacteria species, H_2O_2/hv showed a higher inactivation rate than that of the systems with added iron ($Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$). The added iron has precipitated in the system at pH > 6. An exception was observed in the case of total coliforms/*E. coli* on the third day (Fig 2.3-aJ3), because they were totally inactivated in both systems. This could be related to the variability of the daily solar radiation. Re-growth experiments for both systems during 24 h did not show any bacterial recovery.

For total coliforms/*E. coli*, the control systems ($Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/obs$ and H_2O_2/obs) did not show significant inactivation during the experiments. However, the inactivation occurred after the 24 h of dark storage for the second and third day. It's occurred only in the system H_2O_2/obs the first day. As in the previous cases, the control systems did not lead to a significant inactivation of *Salmonella* spp. during the experiment. But after the dark storage period (24 h), total inactivation was observed in both systems on the second and third day. None of the systems led to total inactivation on the first day.



Figure 2.3: Inactivation of the bacteria contained in water sample from wells 2 (W2, pH: 6.3) during the field experiment under direct solar radiation. After the introduction of 1.5 L of water in to the 1.5 L pet reactor, 8.5 mG/L of H₂O₂ and 0.6 mG/L of Fe²⁺ were added to the corresponding systems and their dark control. (*a*) total coliforms/*E. coli*, (*b*) Salmonella spp., (J1) 28/04/2010, (J2) 29/04/2010, (J3) 30/04/2010, (\blacksquare) Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/*hv*, (\blacklozenge) H₂O₂/*hv*, (\bigstar) *hv* only, (\square) Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/*obs*, (\bigcirc) H₂O₂/*obs*, (\bigtriangleup) *obs* only. Graphs produced by the Listlogplot function of WOLFRAM ATHEMATICA software.

2.4. **DISCUSSIONS**

2.4.1. IRRADIATION CHARACTERISTICS

The efficiency of the solar photocatalytic disinfection of water can be influenced by the sun's intensity, light absorption, initial bacterial concentration, water temperature and turbidity (Moncayo-Lasso *et al.*, 2009; Sciacca *et al.*, 2010; Spuhler *et al.*, 2010; Polo-Lopez *et al.*, 2011b). In the lab experiments, the photo inactivation was carried out under continuous irradiation at constant intensity, with a radiation intensity of 560 Wm⁻². This corresponds to 300-400 nm UVA or approximately 32 Wm⁻² UVA, representing the average UVA radiation of Ouagadougou in summer (Kenfack *et al.*, 2009). During the lab experiments, the water temperature inside the batch reactor remained inferior to 45°C and thermal inactivation can be excluded (Wegelin *et al.*, 1994; Sommer *et al.*, 1997). Direct DNA damage by UVB can also be excluded as the used solar simulator emits negligible amounts of photons at wavelengths shorter than 300 nm (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2003) and the reactor material screened UVB (280-320 nm, fig: 2.1-c). It has to be noted that the water matrix used in this study is natural water, contrary to the laboratory milliQ-water which contains NOM and exogenous photosensitizers.

2.4.2. EXPERIMENTS UNDER SOLAR SIMULATOR

2.4.2.1. IRON SYSTEM (FE²⁺/HV)

In solutions at low pH (2-3), the irradiation with UV of various hydroxylated Fe³⁺ species produces Fe²⁺ and the hydroxyl radical OH[•] (Eq. 2.3-2.4) (Safarzadeh-Amiri *et al.*, 1996; Pignatello *et al.*, 2006). The generated OH[•] radicals are highly oxidant, as explained above. But in natural water (pH: 4.9 and 6.3 respectively), the photoactive ferric hydrolyzed molecules [Fe(OH)²⁺] are not soluble, as the predominant iron component of this pH is the iron-complex which under irradiation generates Fe²⁺, with an organic radical instead of OH[•] (Eq. 2.5) (Malato *et al.*, 2009). During the photocatalytic inactivation process in the Fe²⁺/*hv*

system, the bactericidal effect of Fe^{2+} arises from its ability to diffuse into the cells, leading to the generation of OH[•] via intracellular Fenton reactions when reacting with metabolic H₂O₂ (Imlay, 2008; Jang and Imlay, 2010). Spuhler et al. (2010), observed a lethal action of the system Fe^{2+}/hv during the inactivation of *E. coli* K12, in MilliQ Water (hv > 290 nm, pH: 5 to 5.5) resulting in a total inactivation after 120 min. However, in the present study neither the wild total coliforms/E. coli nor the Salmonella spp. were totally inactivated after the same exposure period in well water (W1, pH 4.9; W2: pH 6.3). The difference in this and Spuhler et al. (2010) results could be explained by the nature of the water and bacteria species and by the following pathway: (i) The inactivation process through the ROS generated after the excitation of the exogenous and endogenous photosensitizers was not sufficient to ensure the total inactivation of the wild enteric bacteria involved; (ii) after the active ROS production (20 - 30 min), injured bacteria have developed self- repair mechanisms (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007a) and became more resistant to the light irradiation, and multiplied (iii) the wild bacteria are more resistant than the manufactured E. coli strain regularly used in lab experiments; (iv) the natural water matrix used here contains NOM and other minerals substances. These bacteria cannot create an osmotic stress as in MilliQ water which could weaken the bacteria and support the introduction of Fe^{2+} into the bacteria leading to intracellular Fenton ROS inactivation.

2.4.2.2. SYSTEMS $FE^{2+}/H_2O_2/HV$ AND H_2O_2/HV

Natural water in the Sahelian region contains large quantities of iron as it flows on ferruginous substrates (Ben Yahmed, 2005; Sciacca *et al.*, 2010; 2011). It is introduced into the atmosphere by wind and is found in aerosols, fog, rain drops, ground water and lakes (Safarzadeh-Amiri *et al.*, 1996). A total initial iron concentration of about 0.06 mg/l and 0.07 mg/l was detected in W1 and W2 respectively. The high inactivation rate observed in the system H_2O_2/hv for both wells as in the systems $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$ in contrast to that of the

systems Fe^{2+}/hv or hv only can allow us to assume that the photo-Fenton also takes place in the system H₂O₂/hv by using the initial iron contained as the catalyst. From Fig. 2.2., and table 2.2, the difference in the iron content for the systems $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$ (natural iron + added iron) and H₂O₂/hv (natural iron only) did not significantly influence the inactivation kinetic of both bacteria species in both wells. It can be underlined that it is only in the case of total coliforms/*E. coli* in water from W1 that the difference between the inactivation rates was significant for different photo-catalytic systems. In the remaining systems (*Salmonella* spp. of W1 and total coliforms/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp. of W2), the total inactivation was achieved approximately within similar times for both photo-catalytic systems and no significant differences were observed in their inactivation rate constants (k). Considering the initial iron content of water from the Sahelian region, it seems possible to achieve disinfection of water by photo-Fenton process without adding extra iron. This would be a great contribution, not only in reducing the chemical inputs required for the application of the photo-Fenton system for the treatment of drinking water, but also in reducing treatment costs.

2.4.2.3. ILLUMINATION ALONE (HV)

The total inactivation of total coliforms/*E. coli* or *Salmonella* spp. was not observed in the reactor under the effect of light irradiation alone. This could be related to the fact that the exposure time was just 2 hours, and not 5 or 6 hours as recommended for the SODIS process (Reed, 2004). As the present study was focused on the reduction of the solar disinfection exposure time by the photo-Fenton, the 2 hours exposure were sufficient to obtain a significant inactivation rate using Fe²⁺/ H₂O₂/*hv* and H₂O₂/*hv*.

2.4.2.4. PH

Great differences and contradictions were observed in the W2 (pH 6.3) in both systems where total inactivation was achieved, as the *salmonella* spp. strain was the first to be totally inactivated in both systems in about 90 min, while that of total coliforms/*E. coli* took about

120 min (Fig. 2.2). This situation is in contrast with the assumption that *Salmonella* spp. is more resistant to photocatalytic inactivation than *E. coli* (Bosshard *et al.*, 2009; Sciacca *et al.*, 2010). Indeed, even in the W1 (pH: 4.9), in the system H₂O₂/*hv*, both enteric bacteria species were inactivated approximately at the same time and the inactivation rates constant of *Salmonella* spp. were slightly greater than those of total coliforms/*E. coli* (-0.2110±0.005 > -0.1953±0.003) (table 2.2). It is only in the system Fe²⁺/ H₂O₂/*hv* that the *E. coli* was rapidly inactivated before the *Salmonella* spp.

2.4.2.5. CONTROL EXPERIMENTS: $(H_2O_2/FE^{2+}/OBS, FE^{2+}/OBS, H_2O_2/OBS, OBS)$ None of the control systems (blank) led to total inactivation of the wild enteric bacterial concentration, even though a slight inactivation was observed in some cases for both wells. These results correspond with previous studies (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007a; Spuhler *et al.*, 2010). However, it was noticed that total coliforms/*E. coli* inactivation was more pronounced in W1 (pH: 4.9) than in W2 (pH: 6.3) (table 2.2), but that situation was the reverse for the *Salmonella* spp. inactivation, whose population even increased in some systems (H₂O₂/*obs* and *obs*).

2.4.3. EXPERIMENTS UNDER DIRECT SOLAR RADIATION

The decrease of the enteric bacterial amount and even its total inactivation in the control systems ($Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/obs$ and H_2O_2/obs), after the 24 hours of dark storage could be due to the scavenging action of H_2O_2 as it is also a powerful ROS (Spuhler *et al.*, 2010; Polo-Lopez *et al.*, 2011b). It should be noticed that at high pH (6.3) in the dark, the iron precipitation makes them unavailable to initiate the simple Fenton reaction (Eq: 2.1) (Malato *et al.*, 2009). The *hv* and *obs* systems are expected not to produce ROS during the 24 h dark storage, thus explaining why no more inactivation was observed in the remaining total coliforms/*E. coli* and for *Salmonella* spp. The increased concentration after the storage, could be due to the fact that during the dark storage without ROS production to injure them, the bacteria recover their

ability to grow and replicate (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007a). For total coliforms/*E. coli*, no regrowth was observed after total inactivation. The re-growth of *Salmonella* spp. was due to resistance to solar disinfection (not enhanced), as recently reported (Bosshard *et al.*, 2009).

For the enhanced systems, H_2O_2/hv shows a better inactivation kinetic than that of the systems containing added iron (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv). It can be assumed that with the low Fe-concentration in natural water (0.07 mg/L), this amount was enough to start, in the presence of H₂O₂/hv, the photo-Fenton process and generate OH[•] inactivating of the enteric bacteria. The higher inactivation kinetic of the systems H₂O₂/hv compared to Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv may suggest that a high iron concentration could have a negative effect on the photo-Fenton treatment of natural water close to neutral pH. This negative effect could be due to: (i) iron precipitation resulting in the lack of soluble iron in the medium to maintain the photocatalytic cycle, (ii) the reduction of light transmittance due the increased turbidity of water and its coloration due to high iron contents, (iii) excess iron concentration in the solution increasing the OH[•] scavenging potential (Eq: 2.6) and concomitantly reduce the efficiency of the process (Pignatello *et al.*, 2006).

$$Fe^{2+} + OH^{\bullet} \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^{-}$$
(2.6)

On the third day, the *Salmonella* spp. showed approximately the same inactivation kinetic as that of the first day under the best atmospheric conditions. Inactivation on the second day, under the same temperature but lower irradiation (26-20 Wm⁻²) was higher than on the first and third day. These observations are related to the results for total coliforms/*E. coli*, which show also approximately the same inactivation kinetic on the first and second day. It could be assumed that up to a certain level of irradiation and temperature, the influence of the two parameters (temperature and irradiation intensity) on the photo-Fenton inactivation process is no longer significant. The same observation was made previously by Ubomba-Jaswa *et al.*) during the investigations into the effect of the UVA dose on the

inactivation of *E. coli* K12. However, a slight reduction of the inactivation kinetic of total coliforms/*E. coli* on the third day in the systems H_2O_2/hv (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007a) is indicative that intermittent irradiation associated with low irradiation has negative influence on the bacterial inactivation rate.

2.4.4. INACTIVATION PATHWAYS

2.4.4.1. INACTIVATION IN THE ILLUMINATED SYSTEM

In all the illuminated systems, part of the observed photo-inactivation could be due to excitation of exogenous (ferric-hydro-complex or ferric-organo-complex) and endogenous (cytochrome, flavin, tryptophan) photosensitizers, (Pignatello *et al.*, 2006; Malato *et al.*, 2009) as well as the ROS-action (${}^{1}O_{2}$, $O_{2}^{\bullet-}$, OH^{*} and H₂O₂) generated from the dissolved oxygen (O₂) contained naturally in the water via successive steps of one-electron reductions (Pignatello *et al.*, 2006; Imlay, 2008). The O₂^{•-} and/or the H₂O₂ have the ability to attack proteins and cell membrane components, especially membrane lipids, resulting in their peroxidation (Imlay, 2008). This peroxidation increases the cell membrane permeability and the disruption of the trans-membrane ion gradients (Reed, 2004), which can lead to the inactivation of the cells. H₂O₂ is a non-charged molecule and penetrates readily the cellular membranes (Spuhler *et al.*, 2010). The toxicity of H₂O₂ is due to the fact that they can induce the production of OH^{*} through the Fenton reaction (eq. 2.1) within the cell (Imlay, 2008). OH^{*} is a highly-reactive oxidant, which can degrade non-biodegradable chemical components (Kenfack *et al.*, 2009; Malato *et al.*, 2009), NOM (Moncayo-Lasso *et al.*, 2009; Spuhler *et al.*, 2010).

2.4.4.2. INACTIVATION OF DEFENSE MECHANISMS

The deficiency in the cellular defense against ROS, constituted by enzymes such as SOD/ SOR which control the $O_2^{\bullet-}$ or catalase which regulate the H_2O_2 concentration (Imlay, 2008), can result in an oxidative stress leading to the increase of the ROS content of the cells at the

level exceeding their defense capacity (Reed, 1997; Jang and Imlay, 2010). This deficiency in self defense mechanisms can arise from the exposure of these enzymes to thermal or optical inactivation (Wegelin et al., 1994). Ghadermarzi and Moosavi-Movahedi (1996) suggested that inactivation arises when the temperature is around 45°C. Considering the temperature measured during the photo-inactivation process in this study, it can be assumed that the enzymes for self-defense mechanisms were not efficient, giving rise to the optical inactivation through UVA radiation to efficiently inactivate the bacterial contents of the water (Sommer et al., 1997). The inactivation of the SOD/SOR and catalase leads to the increase of intracellular ROS with the direct attack of membrane and other proteins. Followed by the generation of the highly-reactive OH[•] via intracellular Fenton reaction (Eq 2.1.). This reaction take place between the H_2O_2 and the iron liberated from the iron sulfur clusters ([4Fe-4S]) after the inactivation of clusters enzymes like dihydroxy-acid deshydratase, aconitase B and fumarases A and B (Jang and Imlay, 2010) by the $O_2^{\bullet-}$ (Imlay, 2006). The liberation of free iron in the cell comes from the specific oxidizing action of the superoxide on the centers [4Fe-4S] of these hydrolytic enzymes(Imlay, 2006; Jang and Imlay, 2010). The OH' attacks lead to important cellular damage on DNA (Jang and Imlay, 2010). When the bacteria are not sufficiently exposed to illumination, they can recover viability by self-defense mechanisms in a short time (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2003). In this study, the systems Fe^{2+}/hv or hv have showed a slight initial inactivation in both wells in about 20 or 30 min depending on the enteric bacteria involved (Fig: 2.2.). After this time, their concentration in the water have increased and stabilized till the end of the two hours of irradiation. This situation could be explained by the recovery of the self-defense mechanisms suggested by Rincon and Pulgarin (2003). After such recovery, the actors of the defense constituted by SOD and catalase, which have been certainly weakened but not inactivated, have recovered their properties and eliminated the exceeding ROS (O_2^{\bullet}, H_2O_2) , giving rise to a recovery in the damaged bacteria, which

multiplied and stabilized in the medium, (see figure 2.2). In the systems, $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$ and H_2O_2/hv , the photo-Fenton under light and high or low iron content increase the OH[•] production. This increase led to an increased inactivation of wild enteric bacteria at high inactivation rates compared to those found for Fe^{2+}/hv or hv. The Fe^{3+} -bacteria interaction are enhanced in the presence of H_2O_2 with the increased production of OH[•] and fast Fe^{2+}/Fe^{3+} interconversion under illumination (Spuhler *et al.*, 2010). OH[•] is the most powerful oxidant generated inside the cells. It reacts instantly with no selectivity, at the diffusion limits, with sugars, amino acids, phospholipids, nucleotides and organic acids including DNA (Valentine *et al.*, 1998). Cellular defense mechanisms against a DNA attack by OH[•] were not yet discovered.

2.5. CONCLUSIONS

This study showed that the H_2O_2/hv was as efficient as the photo-Fenton system (Fe/H₂O₂/hv) in significantly increasing the inactivation rate of the enteric bacteria contents of the water wells. The iron naturally present in the well water influences the reaction mechanism of H_2O_2/hv by favoring the photo-Fenton process. The efficiency of the system $H_2O_2/hv/natural$ water in lab experiments under simulated solar radiation was confirmed in the field in PET bottles showing a better inactivation rate than (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv/natural water). Consequently, it can be assumed that iron as the catalyst of the photo-Fenton process is not necessary in high concentrations to inactivate enteric micro-organisms. The lower efficiency of the system Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv/natural water may also indicate that an optimum concentration of iron for an efficient photo-Fenton process exists. Indeed, at near neutral pH (6.3), a part of added iron salts precipitate and negatively affects the color and turbidity and light transmittance and leads to a concomitant decrease in the disinfection efficiency. This result suggests the use of

Sahelian Fe-containing region to perform a photo-Fenton treatment of drinking water by adding H_2O_2 only.

The fastest inactivation kinetic of *Salmonella* spp. compared to that of the total coliforms/*E*. *coli* in the water with the near-to-neutral pH (W2, pH: 6.3) brings us to the assumption that the pH can significantly influence the resistance of these enteric bacteria to photo-catalytic inactivation. The results have to be confirmed by further research, however in order to establish the best disinfection process considering all the parameters affecting wild enteric bacteria inactivation.

RELEVANTIMPACTOFIRRADIANCE(VS. DOSE)AND EVOLUTION OF PH ANDMINERALNITROGENCOMPOUNDSDURINGNATURALWATERDISINFECTIONBY PHOTO-FENTON IN ASOLAR CPC REACTOR.

Microbial contamination of water sources by farming, breeding and/or domestic activities in developing countries, reduces the amount of available drinking water and increases waterborne diseases outbreak such as dysentery, typhoid and cholera, as recorded in these countries (UNICEF and WHO, 2012). Therefore, there is a need to develop low-cost water disinfection processes for rural and sub-urban areas. Disinfection is the process of removal of the pathogenic microorganisms present in water. Many developing countries are situated in the latitude lines of 30°N and 30°S and receive about 2000 to 3000 hours of solar illumination annually. Solar disinfection of water (SODIS) was first assessed in Beirut and afterwards in other tropical regions (Meierhofer and Wegelin, 2002; McGuigan *et al.*, 2011). SODIS principles imply the synergistic effect of sunlight and temperature on enteric bacteria inactivation. Inactivation is a process which consists to the inhibition of biological activity of an organism (e.g. bacteria) by the action of heat, chemical or other agent. As a result, SODIS treatment is used by more than 4.5 million people in more than 50 countries (Meierhofer and Wegelin, 2002).

Researches on SODIS enhancement were focused on (i) the use of black back bottles to speed up increase of the temperature (Kehoe *et al.*, 2001) either by using Pyrex bottles, instead of glass or polyethylene terephthalate (PET) bottles to increase UV-A radiation penetration, (ii) increase oxygenation of the system through the agitation of the bottles before exposition (Kehoe *et al.*, 2001), (iii) the use of azo dyes as dosimetric indicators to enhance the photocatalytic process during the disinfection (Bandala *et al.*, 2011), (iv) the enhancement of production of highly oxidant hydroxyl radicals (OH^{*}), which increases the inactivation rate by the addition of a photocatalyst i.e. TiO₂, (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007a) or H₂O₂ and iron salts (Sciacca et al., 2010; Spuhler et al., 2010). In order to enhance the solar disinfection process, compound parabolic collector (CPC) solar reactor has been operated with the addition of catalyst (TiO₂ or iron salts) and/or oxidants (H₂O₂) (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007a; Bichai et al., 2012; Ndounla et al., 2013). Also, previous photo-disinfection treatment carried out under solar exposure in a CPC suggested that the accumulated radiation dose had a great influence on bacterial inactivation rate (Ubomba-Jaswa et al., 2009; Rodriguez-Chueca et al., 2012). In the present work we assume that as the natural water under treatment contains dissolved and solid iron forms, the addition of H₂O₂ will generate under solar light a homogeneous and heterogeneous photo-Fenton system. Photo-Fenton, as well as dark Fenton reaction, was, in the past, considered to take place only within acidic pH values (Pulgarin and Kiwi, 1996; Cho et al., 2004; Pignatello et al., 2006). In these conditions the dark Fenton reaction (Eqs. 3.1-3.2) is limited by the low kinetic of Fe^{2+} production (Eq. 3.3) (Bandara *et al.*, 1997; Herrara *et* al., 1998; Pignatello et al., 2006). High production rates of additional Fe²⁺ and OH[•] are generated during the photoreduction of Fe^{3+} -complexes in the solution (Eqs. 3.3-3.7). The primary step of the photoreduction of dissolved ferric iron is a ligand-to-metal charge-transfer (LMCT) reaction. Fe³⁺-complexes undergo LMCT excitation to give Fe²⁺ and an oxidized ligand, L_{ox} (Eq. 3.3). At acidic pH, hydroxyl radicals (OH[•]) and Fe²⁺ are produced from Fe³⁺aquo-hydroxy-complexes (Fe(OH)²⁺, Fe(H₂O)³⁺), which absorb light in the UV/visible region (Eqs. 3.4-3.5) (Herrara et al., 1998; Pignatello et al., 2006; Malato et al., 2009; Vedrenne et al., 2012). Nevertheless, photo-Fenton treatment was successfully evaluated at near-to-neutral pH (Sciacca et al., 2010; Carra et al., 2012). Indeed a part of the natural organic matter (NOM) complexes Fe^{3+} and maintains it in solution. When a natural water sample containing Fe^{3+} -NOM complexes is photo-irradiated, the Fe^{3+} is reduced to Fe^{2+} and the NOM is oxidized (Eq. 3.6). For example, the photolysis of Fe^{3+} -NOM carboxylate or Fe^{3+} -
polycarboxylate complexes through LMCT reaction, leads to the formation of Fe^{2+} , which is introduced in the photo-Fenton cycle and the concomitant oxidation of the organic ligand (Eq. 3.6-3.7), (Malato *et al.*, 2009; Vedrenne *et al.*, 2012; Rodríguez-Chueca *et al.*, 2013).

$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^{-} + OH^{-} \qquad k = 53 - 76 M^{-1}s^{-1}$$
(3.1)

$$Fe^{3+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{2+}HO_2^{\bullet} + H^+$$
 $k = 1 - 2 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} s^{-1}$ (3.2)

$$Fe^{3+}(L)_n + hv \to Fe^{2+}(L)_{n-1} + L_{ox}$$
 (3.3)

$$\operatorname{Fe}(\operatorname{OH})^{2+} + hv \to \operatorname{Fe}^{2+} + \operatorname{OH}^{\bullet}$$
(3.4)

$$\operatorname{Fe}(\operatorname{H}_{2}\operatorname{O})^{3+} + hv \to \operatorname{Fe}^{2+} + \operatorname{OH}^{\bullet} + \operatorname{H}^{+}$$
(3.5)

$$\operatorname{Fe}^{3+}(\operatorname{NOM})_{\mathrm{m}} + hv \to \operatorname{Fe}^{2+}(\operatorname{NOM})_{\mathrm{m}-1} + \operatorname{NOM}_{\mathrm{ox}}^{+}$$
(3.6)

$$R-OOC-Fe^{3+} + hv \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + R-COO^{\bullet} \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + CO_2 + R^{\bullet}$$
(3.7)

In presence of irons oxides as is the case in the water under study in this work, the heterogeneous photo-Fenton system could also be considered. This heterogeneous action could take advantage of the indiscriminant siderophore transport system present in bacteria. The siderophore is a molecular receptor that binds and transports iron (Neilands, 1995; Stintzi *et al.*, 2000). Their impact on the heterogeneous photo-Fenton system could proceed from the fact that: (i) the siderophore and Fe³⁺ enter the bacterium together leading to internal Fenton reaction (Stintzi *et al.*, 2000; Spuhler *et al.*, 2010), (ii) a ligand exchange step occurs in the course of the transport and (iii) the implementation of the photo-Fenton reaction due to the semiconductor action of some forms of iron oxides naturally present in water. (Mazille *et al.*, 2010).

Several studies on solar and photocatalytic disinfection efficiency have been reported using *E*. *coli* K12 in lab (Spuhler *et al.*, 2010; Rodriguez-Chueca *et al.*, 2012) and at field scale with

natural water (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007a; Ubomba-Jaswa *et al.*, 2009; Polo-Lopez *et al.*, 2011a). However, *E. coli* was determined to be not always an appropriate indicator for bacterial inactivation monitoring, due to its high sensitivity to photo-inactivation (Berney *et al.*, 2006; Sciacca *et al.*, 2010). Recently, some authors have evaluated the efficiency of photo-Fenton on the inactivation of several microorganisms (Sciacca *et al.*, 2011; Bandala *et al.*, 2012; Michael *et al.*, 2012; Polo-Lopez *et al.*, 2012; Rodríguez-Chueca *et al.*, 2013). Sciacca *et al.* (2011) have reported that photo-Fenton disinfection of wild total coliforms and *Salmonella* spp. in natural water containing NOM (turbidity: 800-1000 NTU (Nephelometric Turbidity Units)) was not efficient. This inefficiency was due to the consumption of the H₂O₂ by the NOM. It is a need before intending to address the photo-Fenton disinfection of drinking water to human consumption to evaluate it efficiency on disinfecting bigger volumes of natural clear water of turbidity less than 30 NTU, as recommended in SODIS references (Meierhofer and Wegelin, 2002).

Most wells intended to drinking water collection are situated in agricultural areas in the Sahelian region. Individual wells in agricultural areas throughout the world specifically contribute to nitrate-related toxicity problems and nitrate levels in the well water often exceed 50 mg/L (WHO, 2011b). The photochemical reduction of nitrite or nitrate and the chemical oxidation of ammonia are the most involved pathways during the interconversion of the nitrogen compounds in natural water. Some authors have reported that upon sunlight irradiation of natural waters in presence of humic substances, nitrate and nitrite salts are produced and reactive oxygen species (ROS) are generated (Kotzias *et al.*, 1987; Fanning, 2000). Nitrates in the soil are from various origins; it could be from humus degradation, fresh or composted natural organic matter that is used as fertilizer or from nitric nitrogen of chemical fertilizers. The infiltration of nitrates in wells' water can induce high concentrations, even greater than the restrictions of the World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines for

drinking water (50 mg/L). The toxicity of nitrate to humans is mainly attributable to its reduction to nitrite (WHO, 2011b). The health risk related to excess nitrate in drinking water is mostly related to its transformation (oxido-reduction), which can lead to more toxic compounds, such as nitrite and nitrosamines. Nitrosamines are formed by the combination of nitrite or nitrate with amines or amides. Most of them are classified as carcinogenic by the WHO. The WHO guideline for nitrite in drinking water is less than 3 mg/L (WHO, 2011a, b).

Moreover, the term ammonia includes the non-ionized (NH_3) and ionized (NH_4^+) species. Ammonia in the environment originates from metabolic, agricultural and industrial processes and from disinfection with chloramine. Natural levels in groundwater and surface water are usually below 0.2 mg/L, while anaerobic groundwaters may contain up to 3 mg/L. Farm animals excreta lead to higher levels in surface water. Ammonia in water is an indicator of possible bacterial, sewage and animal waste pollution. Taste and odor problems, as well as decreased disinfection efficiency, are to be expected if drinking-water containing more than 0.2 mg/L of ammonia. Toxicological effects are observed only at exposures above about 200 mg/kg body weight. Ammonia in drinking-water is not of immediate health relevance and therefore no health-based guideline value is proposed. (WHO, 2003; Weng et al., 2011; WHO, 2011a). The current study aims mainly to evaluate the contrasting effect of solar radiation parameters (Irradiance vs. Dose) on the efficiency of photo-disinfection of wild total coliforms/E. coli and Salmonella spp. under the addition of H2O2 in a natural drinking water source containing dissolved a solid iron forms. The evaluation of the impact of different irradiances and doses was carried out following several exposure sets of the water sample in a CPC solar reactor, during different day times. This evaluation could suggest a schedule of the most favorable day periods which could be proposed to the users, if the vulgarization of the processes is considered.

Considering the impact of the pH on the efficiency of the photo-disinfection and the proximity of the studied wells with agricultural areas, the monitoring of the variation of pH, NH_4^+ , NO_3^- and NO_2^- during the photo-treatment will be follow in this study in order to evaluate the impact of these parameters on the photo-disinfection treatment and vice-versa as well as the possible formation of the health related disinfecting byproducts.

3.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.2.1. CHEMICAL REAGENTS

Hydrogen peroxide, 30% (AnalaR Normapur, VWR) was used to prepare the Fenton reagent. Hydrochloric acid fuming (HCl), 37% (Fluka Analytical, SIGMA-ALDRICH®) was used for glass-reactor cleaning. HACH specific reagents were used for total iron, nitrite, nitrate and ammonia detection. Microbiology Chromocult ® (Merck KGaA) was used for bacterial plating. Growth media was poured in pre-sterilized Petri Dish; 92x16mm (Sarstedt AG) for bacterial enumeration.

3.2.2. ANALYTICAL METHODS APPLIED FOR MEASURING THE PHYSICAL PARAMETERS OF WATER

A Universal meter WTW 340i equipped with a WTW SenTix 41-3 probe was used to measure the pH and temperature (T°C). The concentration of Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) was monitored during the experiments via Merckoquant peroxide analytical test strips (Test Peroxides, Merck Merckoquant), while detection limit was 0.5 mg/L.

The HACH DR/2000 spectrophotometer methodologies used in this study to characterize some physico-chemical properties of the water sample follows the guidelines of the Standard Methods for Examination of Water (HACH, 2001). The water turbidity was evaluated with the program 750 (wavelength 450 nm) and the detection ranges were between 0 to 450 NTU/FTU (Nephelometric turbidity units/ Formazin Turbidity Units). The nitrate (NO₃⁻)

contents was determined with the High Range (HR) program 355 or the Cadmium Reduction Method (NitraVer 5, Nitrate Reagent Powder Pillow, wavelength 500 nm) and the detection ranges were between 0 to 30.0 mg/L NO₃⁻N. The program gives the results as the concentration of (X) NO_3^- in N (nitrogen) contents of the sample (NO_3^--N) and the exact concentration of NO₃⁻ in the water was calculated using the HACH Species Conversion Factors (SCF) specific for each component and program. The SCF of NO₃-N is 4.427mg/L, then $NO_3^- = X^*4.427 \text{ mg/L}$. The nitrite (NO_2^-) contents was determine with the Low Range (LR) program 371 or Diazotization Method (NitriVer 3 Powder Pillows, detection ranges between: 0 to 0.300 mg/L NO₂⁻-N), for wavelength 507 nm. As for the calculation of nitrate, nitrite is subject to a SCF number (3.284), then its exact determination was through the calculation $NO_2^- = X^* 3.284 \text{ mg/L}$. The ammonia (NH_4^+) concentration was evaluated with the Nessler Method program 380 for wavelength 425 nm and detection ranges between (0 to 2.50 mg/L NH3-N). The result was of NH4⁺ concentration in N contents in the water was obtained after the calculation with the ammonia SCF (1.288), $NH4^+ = X''*1.288 \text{ mg/L}$. X, X' and X" was the number read on the spectrophotometer DR/2000 during each specific measure; the results presented in this paper are the average for each components recorded upon the experiments (HACH, 2001). On site at Ouagadougou (2iE), with the HACH process, the dissolved total iron content of the water sample was determined by the FerroVer Method (Powder Pillows), program 265, wavelength 510 nm and the detection ranges were between 0 to 3.00 mg/L. Further at Lausanne (EPFL) the solid total iron (iron oxides) was evaluated with the ICP-MS spectrometry, with sensitive detection limit ranges (0.1-0.9 μ g/L).

3.2.3. WATER SAMPLE CHARACTERISTIC

The experiments presented in this study were carried out from February to March 2011 (dry/summer season) in Burkina Faso. The water samples were collected from a family well of Tanghin district of Ouagadougou. Ouagadougou is located at 12°21'26" of Latitude North

and 1°32'7" of Longitude West and the experiments were conducted at the site of 2iE Foundation. This location is subject to approximately 2500 hours of solar radiation per year (Kenfack *et al.*, 2009). Then it could be considered as a good place for the experimentation of solar and photo-Fenton disinfection of drinking water. Table 3.1 presents the initial concentration of some relevant physico-chemical parameters of the water and the microorganisms considered during the disinfection process. Sampling was performed one hour before the experiments. For the laboratory experiments, it was collected in 1.5 L PET bottles, while for field experiments; plastic jerricans of 20 liters were used.

 Table 3.1: Some characteristics of the wells water sample used during the

experiments

Parameters	Contents
Turbidity	5± 3 NTU
рН	5.4 ± 0.1
Temperature	$29 \pm 0.1^{\circ} C$
Disolve total iron	0.07 ± 0.02 mg/L
Solids total iron	0.23 ± 0.01 mg/L
Wild E. coli	10 ⁴ CFU/mL
Wild Salmonella spp	10 ⁵ CFU/mL

NTU=Nephelometric Turbidity Units, CFU/mL=Colony Forming Unit per milliliter, °C=Degre Celsus, mg/L=milligram per liter

3.2.4. LABORATORY EXPERIMENTS UNDER SIMULATED SOLAR RADIATION

To evaluate the effect of H₂O₂ concentration on the photo-Fenton inactivating rate, 90 mL of

the sample were introduced in 8 glass reactors of 100 mL each containing different H_2O_2

concentrations (0, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 10 mg/L) and were irradiated in a solar simulator (Hanau Suntest). The radiation intensity applied for lab-scale experiments was 560 W.m⁻² (32 W.m⁻² in the UV-A) which is the average UV-A delivered by sun light in Ouagadougou during summer times (Kenfack *et al.*, 2009; Sciacca *et al.*, 2011).

To evaluate the bacterial inactivation rate, 1 mL of the sample was taken at time intervals (0, 10, 20, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 150, 180, 240, 300, 360 min) during the experiment (6 h) with a sterile 5 mL syringe connected to the reactor and placed in a sterile 1.5 mL Eppendorf microtube. From this 1 mL, 100 μ L were sampled and poured in a Petri dish plate containing growth media (Chromocult agar). Plates were incubated for 18 -24 h at 37°C and bacteria were counted with a colony counter (Stuart SC6 Colony Counter). Specification and use as well as plating and counting with Chromocult agar have been described before (Ndounla *et al.*, 2013).

The final treated samples were kept in the dark for bacterial regrowth assessment after 24h, 72h and a week. To ensure the residual effect of the Fenton reaction in the treated water during the storage, the samples were kept in the dark without removing their remaining H_2O_2 . This residual content was measured every day during the storage for the evaluation of its decay in the water before its possible consumption. The experiments were repeated five times to ensure reproducibility.

3.2.5. FIELD EXPERIMENTS UNDER DIRECT SOLAR RADIATION

Field experiments were conducted under solar radiation in a solar CPC with 25 L of well water at constant flow (2 L/min).

From the results of the determination of the optimized concentration of H_2O_2 to be used efficiently in drinking disinfection by photo-Fenton, evaluated at lab scale in the Suntest, the concentrations from 5 to 10 mg/L has shown approximately the same inactivation rate.

Preliminary experiments were conducted at field scale with 5 mg/L of H_2O_2 added on the water sample. Unfortunately the H_2O_2 concentration in this case, in contrast to the stability noticed at lab scale, was degraded certainly due to high fluctuation of water in the CPC, which increased the oxygenation. This fast degradation has lead to total consumption of H_2O_2 after only 3 to 4 hours of exposure. In order to ensure that there is H_2O_2 left after the disinfection process (6 h), to ensure the residual effect of the Fenton treatment, the experiments presented in this paper were carried out with 10 mg/L of H_2O_2 . The remaining H_2O_2 in the treated water, when 10 mg/L was used, 2 to 3 mg/L; however the continuous evaluation of it persistence in the treated water has permitted to record that it was depleted totally after 48 hours.

Control experiments were carried out on samples without added H_2O_2 . The efficiency of both photo-disinfection process (SODIS and photo-Fenton), was evaluated during three different time period of 6 hours: (i) 8 am to 2 pm (8-14h), (ii) 10 am to 4 pm (10-16h) and (iii) 12 pm to 6 pm (12-18h). The samples were subject to the variation of: (i) water temperature, (ii) instantaneous irradiation (irradiance) (W.m⁻²) and (iii) cumulated global radiation (dose) (Wh.m⁻²). Blank tests took place in the dark, a 100 mL samples also containing H_2O_2 . Experiments were repeated three times to ensure reproducibility.

The batch photoreactor (Fig.3.1) used in this study was a Compound Parabolic Collector (CPC): SOLARDETOX ACADUS-2003 device model delivered by Ecosystem SA, (Barcelona, Spain). It has a useful exposition surface of 2.12 m^2 , out of a total surface of 2.54 m^2 . The photoreactor active volume was 15.1 L within a total volume of 16.07 L and a working volume between 18 L and 50 L. It is made of 16 borosilicate cylindrical glass tubes of 32 mm diameter, 1.5 m length and 1.4 mm of width, through which water is circulating and exposed to solar irradiation. Tubes are disposed on aluminum cylindro-parabolic mirrors in such a way that the distribution of the UV irradiation by the mirrors is equal around the tube

circumference. This configuration implies no light concentration, but allows working with diffuse light. A polypropylene stirring tank of 50 L is connected in series with the CPC module and constitutes a re-circulating tank. Hence, the pilot plant behaves as a plug-flow reactor in which water is circulating using a centrifugal pump with a flow of 24.2 L.min⁻¹.The reactor is mounted on a two-position fixed platform inclinable at 10° and 35° allowing operating at the approximate local latitude of Ouagadougou-Burkina Faso (12.2° N), at 10° angle position for the most of the time. The solar UV radiation was reported during the experiments by a UV-A radiometer ACADUS 85 UV fixed on the CPC photoreactor at the same inclination of 10°. Solar irradiance intensity per square meter (W.m⁻²) was then monitored between 300 and 400 nm.



Figure 3.1. The schematic (a) and physical (b) representation of the compound parabolic collector (CPC) solar reactor.

3.2.6. DATA ANALYSIS

The Effective Disinfection Time (EDT), which is the time (h) required to get the total inactivation in water of a targeted bacteria in defined conditions (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2004b)

will be used for the comparative study on the influence of the irradiance on the bacteria inactivation rate.

AI: Average irradiance during the EDT
$$(W.m^{-2})$$
. (8)

Dose for total inactivation =
$$AI*EDT$$
 (Wh.m⁻²). (9)

The evaluation of the impact of the H_2O_2 concentration and the bacteria species on the efficiency of the enhanced-photo-disinfection was conducted by an analysis of variance (ANOVA). This analysis was carried out with the two-way ANOVA Package of the Wolfram Mathematica 8.0 program. The determination of the discriminating power (Fisher ratio (F)) of the H_2O_2 or the bacteria species on the inactivation rate will permit to point out the significance of each of these parameters on the photo-disinfection process. The accuracy of the results will be evaluated by the noise level (Probability (P)).

3.3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.3.1. LAB EXPERIMENTS IN A SOLAR SIMULATOR: INFLUENCE OF H_2O_2 CONCENTRATION ON BACTERIAL INACTIVATION

The temperature of the water in the Suntest increased from 28° C to 45° C during the experiments. It is well know that temperature above 45° C has a bactericidal effect (Meierhofer and Wegelin, 2002). According to this, it can be assumed that the bacterial inactivation obtained in the Suntest was not due to the thermal effect of IR irradiation. The studied well water already contained dissolved iron: $0.07 \pm 0.02 \text{ mg/L}$ of Fe^{2+, 3+} and solid iron oxides: $0.23 \pm 0.01 \text{ mg/L}$, hence the additional reagent required to induce the photo-Fenton reaction is only H₂O₂. Adsorption of bacteria to iron oxides was recorded in MilliQ water (Spuhler *et al.*, 2010). This adsorption favors the siderophore iron transport action (Stintzi *et al.*, 2000). In such conditions, heterogeneous photo-Fenton reaction can take place leading to bacterial inactivation (Moncayo-Lasso *et al.*, 2008b; Mazille *et al.*, 2010). Spuhler *et al.*

(2010) have conducted experiments of photo-disinfection of E. coli suspended in MiliQ water, with 0.6 mg/L of iron Fe^{2+ or 3+} and 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ added in corresponding systems (Fe/H₂O₂/*hv*) or H₂O₂/*hv*) before the exposure to irradiation (*hv*). For this systematic disinfection in MilliQ water, the inactivation rate of the E. coli in the photo-Fenton system (Fe/H₂O₂/*hv*) recorded, was significantly higher than the one of the system enhanced with sole H₂O₂ (H₂O₂/*hv*). Afterwards, Ndounla *et al.* (2013) carried out the photo-disinfection of natural well water with an initial dissolved total iron content of 0.07 ±0.02 mg/L by adding (0.6 mg/L of Fe²⁺ and 8.5 mg/L of H₂O₂) on similar system (Fe/H₂O₂/*hv* or H₂O₂/*hv*). For this natural water, similar inactivation rate was recorded for both systems for the disinfection of wild E.coli and Salmonella spp. leading to the assumption that even in presence of low dissolved iron contents, the Fenton (Eq.3.1-3.2) and photo-Fenton (Eq.3.3-3.7) reactions, could take place with the contribution of solid iron oxides present in the water. They are efficient for bacterial inactivation via a heterogeneous photo-Fenton process (Moncayo-Lasso *et al.*, 2008b; Mazille *et al.*, 2010).

To ensure the quality of treated water, H_2O_2 concentrations in the photo-Fenton process should be optimized for natural water source (Kenfack *et al.*, 2009; Malato *et al.*, 2009; Sciacca *et al.*, 2011). For this reason this part of the study aims to evaluate the minimal H_2O_2 concentration which could be used for significant drinking water disinfection by photo Fenton.

The influence of H_2O_2 concentration on the photo-Fenton inactivation rate is presented on Fig.3.2 Trace (\blacksquare), representing the disinfection conducted without H_2O_2 , showed the lower inactivation rate for both enteric bacterial species (*Salmonella* spp., coliforms/*E. coli*). The inactivation rate constant k, presented in Table 3.2, confirmed the effect observed on the curves, with k=-0.008±0.002 and -0.005±0.001 min⁻¹ for coliforms/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp., respectively. These inactivation rates have drastically increased in both cases in presence

of H_2O_2 . With only 2 mg/L of H_2O_2 (Trace (\bigcirc)), more than 50% increase of the inactivation rate was noticed in both cases with respectively k=-0.016 \pm 0.003 and k=-0.083 \pm 0.002 min⁻¹ for coliforms/E. coli and Salmonella spp. Beyond 4 mg/L of H₂O₂, the Salmonella spp. content of all the systems was totally inactivated in approximately 90 min. The inactivation rate of coliforms/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp., as presented in Table 3.2, underline that they were greater than the correspondent ones, under simulated solar light alone. The high sensitivity of Salmonella spp. here is in contrast with the report of several authors on treatment under direct solar radiation. Berney et al. (2006) and Sciacca et al. (2010) have noticed that Salmonella spp. was more resistant to photo-inactivation than E. coli and other enteric bacteria. The inactivation rate constant of coliforms/E. coli observed for 5 and 10 mg/L of H₂O₂, were approximately the same, being k=-0.032 \pm 0.001 min⁻¹ and -0.034 \pm 0.001 min⁻¹. The first order kinetics decrease in CFU/mL was observed in the curves of both enteric bacteria treated by photo-Fenton with up to 4 mg/L of H₂O₂, then k was calculated by linear regression (Spuhler *et al.*, 2010). Fig. 3.2 shows that control experiments (Trace (•)) that took place with 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ in dark did not lead to enteric bacteria inactivation. Postirradiation evaluation after 24 hours of dark storage has revealed the regrowth of both enteric bacteria in the water, after their exposure to solar simulator, in absence of H_2O_2 . Only Salmonella spp. regrowth was observed in the water illuminated in presence of 2 mg/L of H₂O₂. Beyond 4 mg/L of H₂O₂, none of the enteric bacteria has shown regrowth after phototreatment. It could be assumed that treated water under a solar simulator, with concentration of 4 mg/L of H₂O₂, ensures not only efficient inactivation of the enteric bacteria, but also prevents the subsequent regrowth.



Figure 3.2: Inactivation kinetics of the wild enteric bacteria of natural well water containing natural iron (dissolved: $0.07\pm 0.02 \text{ mg/L}$ OF Fe^{2+,3+} and solid iron oxides ($0.23\pm 0.01 \text{ mg/L}$) treated with different concentrations of H₂O₂. (*a*) total coliforms/*E. coli*, (*b*) Salmonella spp. (\blacksquare) 0 mg/L hv, (\bigcirc) 2 mg/L hv, (\blacktriangle) 4 mg/L hv, (\bigtriangledown) 5 mg/L hv, (\Box) 6 mg/L hv, (\bigcirc) 7 mg/L hv, (\triangle) 8 mg/L hv, (\bigtriangledown) 10 mg/L hv and (•) 10 mg/L dark.

Table 3.2: inactivation rate constant k $[m^{-1}]$ of the enteric bacteria present in water treated by photo-Fenton with simulated solar radiation at different H₂O₂ (mg/l) concentrations.

Microorganisms	$H_2O_2 [mg/L] \& k [min^{-1}]$							
	0	2	4	5	6	7	8	10
<i>E. coli</i> and Coliforms	-0.008±0.002	-0.016±0.003	-0.022±0.003	-0.032±0.001	-0.028±0.002	-0.029±0.001	-0.029±0.001	-0.034±0.001
Salmonella spp.	-0,005±0.001	-0.083±0.002	-0.063±0.002	-0.120±0.002	-0.119±0.001	-0.117±0.003	-0.142±0.003	-0.160±0.003

The discrimination power (Fisher ratio (F)) obtained from ANOVA analysis for the evaluation of the impact of H_2O_2 concentration on the photo-Fenton inactivation rate is up to 51.5, leading to the evidence that this concentration has a strong impact on the process with a very small probability (P < 0.001%) that the effect may be due to noise (Table 3.3). The bacteria species, either wild *E. coli* or *Salmonella* spp., did not significantly influence the inactivation rate under the photo-Fenton disinfection as shown by the low Fisher ratio (F = 0.11). The probability that this effect is due to noise is very large (P=74%). With an influence factor of 6.1, the interaction between the treatment and bacteria type seems to have just a slight impact on the photo-Fenton disinfection rate.

Parameters	DF	SS	MS	F	Р
Treatment	7	399154	57022	51.51	0.001%
Bacteria species	1	119.83	119.83	0.11	74%
Treatment /Bacteria	7	47703.9	6814.84	6.1	0.01%
Error	76	84127.5	1106.94	-	-
Total	91	531105	-	-	-

 Table 3.3: results of the two way analysis of variance between treatment/bacteria

 species

DF: Degree of Freedom, SS: Sum of Square, MS: Mean Square, F: Fisher factor, P: probability.

3.3.2. FIELD SCALE EXPERIMENTS IN A CPC SOLAR REACTOR

3.3.2.1. TREATMENT UNDER SOLAR IRRADIATION ALONE

The photo-disinfection of both enteric bacteria under uniquely solar radiation from 8 to 14h is presented on Fig.3.3-a. The total coliforms/*E. coli* strains (Fig.3.3-a., trace (\bigcirc)) were totally inactivated after the first three hours of exposure when the average irradiance was 20 W.m⁻² (Fig.3.3-a' trace (-)) for a accumulated dose of 120 Wh.m⁻² (Fig.3.3-a' trace (+)). The *Salmonella* spp. strains (Fig.3.3-a., trace (\odot)) resisted till the fifth hour of exposure (dose of 250 Wh.m⁻²) with an average irradiance (AI) of 20 W.m⁻² and then were totally inactivated.

For the experiments conducted from 10 to 16h, the exposure began when the sun irradiance (Fig.3.3-b' traces (–)) was three times higher than the one measured when started at 08:00. For *Salmonella* spp. (Fig.3.3-b., trace (\bullet)) the fast temperature increase from 29°C to 45°C in less than one hour and half (Fig.3.3-b', trace (**X**)) coupled to average irradiance of 32 W.m⁻² (Fig.3.3-b' traces (–)) during the 3h, required for total inactivation (EDT), led to a cumulated energy of 200 Wh.m⁻². Compared to the previous period (5h with a dose of 250 Wh.m⁻²), the

Salmonella spp. were totally inactivated here in 3h for a dose of 200 Wh.m⁻², but at higher AI exposure. The total coliforms/*E. coli* (Fig.3.3-b., trace (\bigcirc)) were completely inactivated in 30 min before the Salmonella spp. Regrowth of Salmonella spp. were also observed in this case as in the previous one during the post-irradiation tests (Table 3.5). Considering that the temperature level remained also below 50°C here, the impact of temperature on the inactivation process was not significant.

In experiments carried out from 12 to 18h, the average irradiance (37 W.m⁻²) available at noon (Fig.3.3-c' trace (–)) together with a fast temperature increase from 29 to 44°C in one hour (Fig.3.3-c' trace (X)) drastically affect the total coliforms/*E. coli* concentration, leading to their total inactivation in 90 min (Fig.3.3-c., trace (\bigcirc)). However, the sudden decrease of irradiance to 18 W.m⁻² after the first hour of exposure negatively affects the *Salmonella* spp. inactivation (Fig.3.3-c., trace (\bigcirc)) even though the cumulative dose was still increasing (Fig.3.3-c' Traces (+)). Indeed, after a slight decrease noticed at the beginning of the process, *Salmonella* spp. has remained stable at approximately 10⁵ CFU/mL till the end of the experiment (6h). The resistance of *Salmonella* spp. to sole solar photo-disinfection, when the irradiance is low is significantly noticed here (Table 3.5) and confirmed the observation reported by Berney *et al.* (2006) and Sciacca *et al.* (2010). These results point out that irradiance and temperature are more crucial for *Salmonella* spp. than for total coliforms/*E. coli* during solar treatment in a CPC.

The synergy between the irradiance (related to UV and visible part of sunlight) and thermal action (T°C) (related to infrared rays) has lead to both enteric bacteria inactivation as already noticed by several authors (Meierhofer and Wegelin, 2002). However, *Salmonella* spp. regrowth occurred after 24 hours of dark storage for all the illumination periods and for the samples taken at 90, 120, 150, 180, 240, 300 and 360 min. Therefore, it can be assumed that to ensure a lethal impact in solar disinfection of such resistant strains in a CPC reactor,

temperature up to 50°C is required, as recommended by SODIS reference for 1-2 liters. However, the weather variation can't always ensure such conditions, even in the Sahelian region, as it can be observed with the irradiance fluctuations presented by the traces (–) of Fig.3.3-(a', b', c'). The crucial impact of the available irradiance on the photo-Fenton disinfection of natural water will be addressed in the next part of this paper.

3.3.2.2. ENHANCED PHOTO-DISINFECTION BY ADDITION OF H_2O_2 IN WATER CONTAINING NATURALLY DISSOLVED AND SOLID IRON FORMS

For this part of the study, the disinfection of natural well water in a CPC solar reactor was preliminary tested at field scale with 5 mg/L of H₂O₂ as explained in the methodology section 2.5. However, it was noticed that during these preliminary runs that H_2O_2 was totally consumed after 3 - 4 hours of irradiation. This consumption was probably due to intensive O₂ supply by water recirculation in the CPC into the solar simulator. Indeed, H₂O₂ degradation is favored by O₂ concentration. Oxygen associated to photosensitizers (i.e. NOM) present in water led to reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation (Reed, 1997; Kehoe et al., 2001), increasing H₂O₂ consumption, following the reaction presented in Eqs. 3.10 -3.12 and the Haber-Weiss reaction (Eqs. 3.13-3.14) (Pignatello et al., 2006; Malato et al., 2009). In order to ensure that there is H_2O_2 left after the disinfection process, additional experiments were carried out with 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ initial concentration. The remaining H₂O₂ after the treatment was enough to ensure a residual effect during the dark storage (24 hours). Experiments performed with 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ lead to a remaining H₂O₂ concentration of 3 - 4 mg/L after 6 hours of irradiation. This residual H_2O_2 could possibly ensure the Fenton activity in presence of the dissolved and solid iron of the water in the dark. Fig. 3.3 (a, b, c), shows the inactivation of wild enteric bacteria (open symbols for total coliforms/E. coli and full symbols for Salmonella spp.) contents of the natural wells water in the CPC during different periods of the day and different disinfection experimental trials. Direct solar radiation (hv) (\bigcirc, \bullet) , H₂O₂

enhanced photo-disinfection $(Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv)$ (\Box , \blacksquare) and the dark Fenton $(Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/obs)$ (\triangle , \blacktriangle). The initial concentration of the H₂O₂ added was 10 mg/L.

$$NOM + hv \rightarrow NOM^* + e^- \tag{3.10}$$

$$O_2 + e^- \to O_2^{\bullet-} \tag{3.11}$$

$$O_2^{\bullet} + H^+ \to HO_2^{\bullet} \tag{3.12}$$

$$HO_2^{\bullet} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow O_2 + H_2O + OH^{\bullet}$$
(3.13)

$$O_2^{\bullet} + H_2 O_2 \rightarrow O_2 + OH^{\bullet} + OH^{-}$$
(3.14)

The decrease of both enteric bacteria under H_2O_2 enhanced photo-disinfection follows the first order kinetic while under the uniquely solar illumination the curves presented a shoulder leading to a concave shape (Meierhofer and Wegelin, 2002; Berney *et al.*, 2006). Fig. 3.3 (a', b', c'), presents the evolution of water temperature (**X**) [T°C], solar irradiance (–) [W.m⁻²] and cumulated total dose (+) [Wh.m⁻²].

The *Salmonella* spp. Effective Disinfection Time (EDT), or in another words, the required time to achieve the total inactivation of *Salmonella* spp. in the water sample, was annotated on the graphs of (Fig.3.3-a', b', c'). 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ was added to the water sample to initiate the photo-Fenton process, in presence of its natural iron contains of (dissolved: 0.07 ± 0.02 mg/L of Fe^{2+, 3+} and solid iron oxides (0.23 ± 0.01 mg/L). We confirmed the meaningful contribution of the photo-Fenton process with the fact that when natural water is diluted, 2-3 folds of the bacteria inactivation rate significantly diminished even if the amount of added H₂O₂ is kept at 10 mg/L (results not shown). Despite the low average irradiance (AI) available, the photo-Fenton disinfection treatment conducted from 8h to 14h led to an enhancement of the simple solar disinfection of 33% for total coliforms/*E. coli* strain (Fig.3.3-a., trace (\Box)) and of 40% for the *Salmonella* spp. (trace (\blacksquare)). The EDT of 180 min (3h) was

noticed for the photo-Fenton inactivation of *Salmonella* spp., for an AI of 20 W.m⁻² and a cumulated dose of 60 Wh.m⁻² (Table 3.4 and Fig.3.4). Temperature increased from 29 to 45° C during the EDT (Fig.3.3-a' Trace (X)). The post-irradiation evaluation revealed that none of both enteric bacteria regrew during the subsequent 24 hours of dark storage (Table 3.5). From these results it can be assumed that neutral photo-Fenton does not need temperatures higher than 50°C to disinfect efficiently as it is required under sole solar illumination, in classical SODIS applications (Meierhofer and Wegelin, 2002; Bichai *et al.*, 2012).

An important enhancement on the enteric bacteria inactivation rate of uniquely solar treatment (10-16h) was observed, when the photo-Fenton treatment was applied. An increase of 50% and 80% was respectively noticed for *Salmonella* spp. (Fig.3.3-b., Trace (\blacksquare)) and total coliforms/*E. coli* (Fig.3.3-b., trace (\Box)). This increase in disinfection rates, compared to the one recorded in the experiments that took place from 8 to 14h, is probably due to the higher AI available at the beginning of the process (28 W.m⁻², Table 3.4). This leads us to suggest that AI and temperature increase have a greater impact on photo-Fenton than on solar irradiation only for enteric bacteria inactivation.

The high AI (35 W.m⁻²) recorded during the first 45 min (0.75 h) (EDT) in the experiments conducted from 12 to 18h, has led to total inactivation of *Salmonella* spp. A dose of 26 Wh.m⁻² was accumulated during this EDT (Table 3.4 and Fig.3.4). From all the AI and doses recorded in Table 3.4 for *Salmonella* spp., it can be noticed that high irradiances, but not necessarily high doses, are needed to get an efficient achievement of inactivation (Fig.3.3-c. traces (\Box) and (\blacksquare)) and durable lethal impact on enteric bacteria (Table 3.5) during the neutral photo-Fenton treatment. The enhancement of total coliforms/*E. coli* inactivation rate by neutral photo-Fenton compared to the one of the simple photo-disinfection by solar light, during the same illumination interval starting at 12h, was of 67%. Rincon and Pulgarin (2004b) have reported a similar effect of the significant impact of the irradiance during the TiO₂

photocatalytic disinfection of *E. coli*. In contrast, Ubomba-Jaswa *et al.* (2009) have reported the significant impact of the dose during the solar disinfection in the CPC reactor for effective *E. coli* K12 disinfection achievement. Nevertheless, solar disinfection of the wild enteric bacteria carried out in a similar reactor during this study reveals that the irradiance significantly influence the inactivation rate of the process (Fig.3.3. traces (\bigcirc), (\bullet) and (–)). The lethal oxidative action of the neutral photo-Fenton on these enteric bacteria strains as reported previously by several authors (Bandala *et al.*, 2009; Sciacca *et al.*, 2010; Spuhler *et al.*, 2010; Ndounla *et al.*, 2013) leads to the assumption that it could efficiently disinfect the *Salmonella* spp. and other resistant strains to ensure the sustainability of a CPC solar drinking water treatment of higher volumes of water.

The membrane peroxidation by external ROS attacks produced by photo-Fenton, due to natural dissolved and solid iron forms present in water and added H₂O₂, leads to an increased permeability and the disruption of the trans-membrane ion gradients (Spuhler et al., 2010). The microorganism (E. coli or Salmonella spp.) death is related to the damages of their nuclear constituents (DNA) by intracellular highly ROS (H₂O₂, O₂^{••}, OH[•]) generated after the inactivation of their antioxidant enzymes (catalases, superoxide dismutases. alkylhydroperoxidase and thiol peroxidase) by the thermal (temperature increase) and optical (UV A and B) effects (Arenas et al., 2011; Byrne et al., 2011; Polo-Lopez et al., 2012). The iron liberated from the iron sulfur clusters ([4Fe-4S]) after the inactivation by UV (A and B) of some clusters' enzymes induced the intracellular Fenton (Eq.1) in presence of H₂O₂ leading to increase generation of highly reactive OH. OH attacks on cellular DNA lead to irreversible damages and consequently, to cell inactivation (Jang and Imlay, 2010; Spuhler et al., 2010; Sobota and Imlay, 2011). Additionally, the photo-degradation of humic substances and nitrogen compounds in both photo-disinfection treatments leads to the additional generation of OH[•] (E.q, 3.13-3.15) (Kotzias *et al.*, 1987; Fanning, 2000; Brito *et al.*, 2010) which can contribute to the bacterial inactivation.

3.3.2.3. FENTON DISINFECTION (DARK EXPERIMENTS)

Enteric bacterial inactivation carried out in the dark (*obs*), shows a limited decrease of their contents during the whole experiment, as it could be observed in all graphs of Fig.3.3., (traces (\triangle) and (\blacktriangle)), for total coliforms/E. coli and *Salmonella* spp. respectively. The Fenton (Fe/H₂O₂/*obs*) process was conducted in the dark simultaneously with the photo-Fenton (Fe/H₂O₂/*hv*) ones. The significant effect of the illumination (*hv*) during the neutral photo-Fenton disinfection observed in this study is highlighted from these results.



Figure 3.3. Inactivation under different day periods (a, b, c) of the wild enteric bacteria of well water containing natural iron (dissolved: $0.07 \pm 0.02 \text{ mg/L}$ of $\text{Fe}^{2+,3+}$ and solid iron oxides $(0.23 \pm 0.01 \text{ mg/L})$ and addition of 10 mg/L of H₂O₂). (a', b', c') evolution of water temperature ([T°C], **(X)**), irradiance ([W.m⁻²], (-)) and cumulated total dose ([Wh.m⁻²], (+)) during the treatments. EDT (photo-Fenton): Effective Disinfection Time for *Salmonella* spp. (time required for the total inactivation of *Salmonella* spp. under photo-Fenton treatment). day time periods (aa': 8-14h), (bb': 10-16h), (cc': 12-18h) total coliforms/*E. coli* (\Box) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) under photo-Fenton (natural Fe^{2+, 3+}/H₂O₂/hv), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\bigtriangleup) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacklozenge) under direct solar radiation (natural Fe^{2+, 3+}/H₂O₂/hv), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\bigtriangleup) and *Salmonella* spp. (\bigstar) IN the dark Fenton (natural Fe^{2+, 3+}/H₂O₂/obs).

	⁶ AI [W.m ⁻²]	"EDT [h]	^c Dose [Wh.m ⁻²]
8h-14h	20	3	60
10h-16h	28	1.5	42
12h-18h	35	0.75	26

Table 3. 4: Influence of irradiance on the efficient disinfection time and dose for the photo-Fenton treatment of *Salmonella* spp.

^aEfficient disinfection Time (time required to achieve the total inactivation in water of a target bacteria (e.g *Salmonella* spp. in this case)), ^bAverage irradiance during the EDT, ^cSolar cumulated energy during the EDT.



Figure 3. 4. Efficient disinfection time (EDT) [min] and dose required for *Salmonella* spp. Total inactivation as a function of average irradiance (AI) $[W.m^{-2}]$ available, (\blacksquare) cumulated total dose $[Wh.m^{-2}]$, (\blacklozenge) EDT (photo-Fenton) [min]: time required for the total inactivation of *salmonella* spp. under photo-Fenton treatment.

3.3.2.4. DURABILITY OF THE DISINFECTION PROCESS: POST-IRRADIATION EVENTS

The evaluation of the sustainability of the photo-disinfection in absence of H_2O_2 was carried out by the monitoring of post-irradiation events. The results presented in Table 3.5 pointed out that all the strains of total coliforms/*E. coli* have remained in their lethal state after 24 hours of dark storage while that of *Salmonella* spp. have recovered their culturability as presented by their positive status. This *Salmonella* spp. regrowth could be due to the fact that

the temperature did not rise up to 50°C, as recommended for SODIS applications in bottles (Meierhofer and Wegelin, 2002). The results of the post-irradiation regrowth observed (+) or not (-) after the neutral photo-Fenton treatment are also shown in Table 3.5. No enteric bacterial regrowth was observed after 24 h of dark storage. This sustainability of the disinfection is highly significant, as some of the samples stocked in the dark for testing were collected before the total inactivation of their enteric bacterial content, (cf. sampling periods in Table 3.5 and graphics of Fig.3.3). Notice that the absence of bacterial regrowth observed during the 24h of dark storage, was maintained during the subsequent 72 and 168 h (one week). For water treated by simple direct solar radiation, only the total coliforms bacteria/*E. coli* did not show regrowth during the storage. Regrowth of *Salmonella* spp. was observed in all the samples (Table 3.5), after 24 h of dark storage. These results have confirmed the resistance of the *Salmonella* spp. strain to simple solar disinfection treatment as previously reported by some authors (Berney *et al.*, 2006; Sciacca *et al.*, 2010).

Table 3.5. Enteric bacterial regrowth evaluation (total coliforms bacteria/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp.), after the photo-disinfection and neutral photo-Fenton treatments of natural well water with or without H_2O_2 (10 mg/L) under direct solar light. The results were similar for all the illumination intervals (8 -14h; 10 - 16h; 12 - 18h).

Sampling	Without H ₂ O ₂ (only dire	ect solar radiation)	With H ₂ O ₂ (Photo-Fenton)		
periods (min)	Coliforms bacteria/E. coli	Salmonella spp.	Coliforms bacteria/E. coli	Salmonella spp.	
90	-	+	_	-	
120	_	+	_	_	
150	_	+	_	-	
180	_	+	_	-	
240	_	+	_	-	
300	_	+	-	—	
360	_	+	_	_	

- no re-growth of bacteria even after one week + re-growth of bacteria after 24h.

3.3.3. PH EVOLUTION DURING THE IRRADIATION PROCESS

The evaluation of the pH variation during the photo disinfection conducted in this study, showed an increase of 1.5 and 2.5 pH units range, respectively, for solar treatment (without H_2O_2) and neutral photo-Fenton as presented in Fig. 3.5, this pH increase follows the same tendency in all the times interval (8-14h, 10-16h, 12-18h). The rising phase was recorded during the first two hours with an increase from 5.5 to 7.9 in almost all the photo-Fenton treatments and 5.5 to 6.8 or 7.2 for the solar treatment. This rising phase was followed by a stable phase in the new high pH values. This pH increase could be linked to several chemical pathways in action in the treated water during the photo-disinfection. Some of these pathways are (i) the degradation of bacterial nitrogen compounds, such as amino-acids and proteins, producing alkaline by-products, (ii) the shifting of the CO₂-carbonate equilibrium by water

heating and CO₂ degassing, (iii) the photo-reduction of NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻ in solution leading OH⁻ production (Eqs: 3.15-3.16) (Kotzias *et al.*, 1987; Fanning, 2000) and (iv) the consumption of H⁺ or the generation of OH⁻ in the solution during, the Fenton and photo-Fenton process as described in the equations 3.1, 3.12, and 3.14, (Bandara *et al.*, 1997; Pignatello *et al.*, 2006; Malato *et al.*, 2009). This last mechanism could be the one impacting the higher pH increase noticed in the neutral photo-Fenton process, with regards to the one observed in the uniquely solar treatment. The pH change to alkaline during the photo-disinfection could be useful to upgrade the one originally acidic groundwater in Sahelian region to the level 6.5 – 8 recommended for human consumption by the WHO (WHO, 2011a).

$$NO_3^- + H_2O + hv \rightarrow NO_2^- + OH^- + OH^{\bullet}$$
(3.15)

$$NO_2^- + H_2O + hv \rightarrow NO + OH^- + OH^{\bullet}$$
(3.16)



Figure 3.5. Variations of pH during the disinfection by solar light exposure and neutral photo-Fenton of total coliforms bacteria/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp. Recorded at different day time's intervals: (a) 8-14h, (b) 10-16h and (c) 12-18h.

3.3.4. NITRITE, NITRATE AND AMMONIA VARIATION DURING THE TREATMENT

The concentration of nitrogen components was determined during both photo-disinfection treatment trials. As presented in Figure 3.6, in absence (solar treatment) or presence of H_2O_2

(photo-Fenton), the rise in NO_2^- and NO_3^- concentration was recorded and concurrently the decrease in NH_4^+ concentration was also noticed. The photochemical reduction of NO_3^- in natural waters leads to NO_2^- , OH^- , and OH^\bullet , while that of NO_2^- leads to NO, OH^- and OH^\bullet (Eq 3.15-3.16) (Kotzias *et al.*, 1987; Fanning, 2000). However, the WHO report revealed that the presence of the ammonium cation in raw water may result in drinking-water containing nitrite as the result of catalytic action (WHO, 2003). Brito *et al.* (2010) have proposed a pathway of ammonia photo-oxidation by OH^\bullet leading to NO_2^- and NO_3^- generation (Eq. 3.17). Hence, the variation recorded during the experiments could be attributed to these oxido-reduction interactions. The generation of the highly oxidant OH^\bullet will not certainly react only towards ammonia oxidation but could also intervene on bacteria inactivation.





Figure 3. 6. Evolution of Ammonia, Nitrite and Nitrate concentration during the neutral photo-Fenton and sole solar treatment of natural well water. (notice that the difference in the initial concentration of each chemical component in the results presented here are related to the fact that new water sample was collected and used for each new experiment).

The World Health Organization (WHO) classifies ammonia as an esthetic quality component without a direct importance for health in the concentrations regularly recorded in natural drinking-water. Therefore, no health-based guideline has been prescribed for it. The initial concentration of the nitrates followed in this study, was higher than that of the health-based guideline for drinking water recommended by the WHO (50 mg/L). During the applied photo-Fenton treatment in this study, increased nitrite concentrations remain far below the healthbased ones recommended by the WHO norms for drinking water, of maximum 3 mg/L (WHO, 2003, 2011b). When nitrate levels in drinking-water exceed 50 mg/l, drinking-water will be the major source of total nitrate intake, especially for bottle-fed infants. The major biological effect of nitrite in humans is its involvement in the oxidation of normal Hemoglobin (Hb) to Methemoglobin (metHb), which is then unable to transport oxygen to the tissues. The reduced oxygen transport becomes clinically manifested when metHb concentrations reach 10% of normal Hb concentrations and above; the condition, called methaemoglobinaemia, causes cyanosis and, at higher concentrations, asphyxia. The normal metHb level in humans is less than 2%; in infants under 3 months of age, it is less than 3%. However, high nitrate concentration, above 100 mg/l, is an important cause of metHb formation (WHO, 2011b). Considering health risk relate to high nitrogen components presence in drinking water (methaemoglobinaemia or cancer) (Weng et al., 2011), further research should be conducted to intensively monitor and study the mechanism of its formation and persistence in the photo-treated water.

3.4. CONCLUSIONS

The photo-disinfection of natural well water was successfully carried out at real scale in a solar CPC reactor under several time intervals of 6 hours (8-14h, 10-16h, 12-18h). 25L of water were treated with H_2O_2 which generate in-situ the photo-Fenton system (H_2O_2 /natural Fe^{2+, 3+}/*hv*) or (uniquely solar radiation). All the samples treated without H_2O_2 addition showed *Salmonella* spp. regrowth after 24h of dark storage. The resistance of the *Salmonella* spp. strain to uniquely solar disinfection treatment was recorded. The H_2O_2 addition has significantly enhanced the inactivation rate of the disinfection in all cases, without the need to reach 50°C as required for classical SODIS bottles process. No enteric bacteria regrowth was

noticed one week after the in-situ generated photo-Fenton treatment. Significant influence of the solar irradiance but not the dose was noticed during the process. The experiments revealed that higher irradiance level leads to lower EDT and dose to achieve bacterial disinfection. High average irradiance (AI) of 35 W.m⁻² led to the total inactivation of *Salmonella* spp. with a dose of 26 Wh.m⁻². In contrast, low irradiance of 20 W.m⁻² required a dose of 60 Wh.m⁻².

The pH becomes more alkaline during both neutral photo-Fenton and solar treatment. A rise of 1.5 and 2.5 in pH range was recorded respectively in solar treatment and neutral photo-Fenton. This pH increase was not detrimental to the photo-Fenton and bare solar disinfection, but could be beneficial for the Sahelian ground-waters which are originally acidic and could then simultaneously be upgraded through photo-Fenton disinfection.

This study has revealed significant variation of the nitrogen compounds state during both photo-disinfection processes (Solar, Photo-Fenton). The recorded oxido-reduction of nitrates and nitrites and the oxidation of ammonia following the variation of their concentration during the treatments (increase of nitrates and nitrite and decrease of ammonia), has pointed out the importance of evaluating the sustainability of these disinfection processes before recommending them for human consumption. The WHO report on nitrate (NO₃⁻) in drinking water reveal that several wells water in the world naturally contain more than 50 mg/L of NO₃⁻, as the one found in this study. Considering this fact, it's a need to efficiently determine in further research project on photo-disinfection the generation rate of the nitrite (NO₂⁻) produced through the reduction of nitrate or the oxidation of ammonia and evaluate if it eventually remains below 3 mg/L. The characterization of this nitrite and other nitrogen byproducts formation (such as nitrosamine), could help evaluate the health impact of the photo-disinfection.

ENHANCEMENT OF THE SOLAR PHOTO-DISINFECTION OF NATURAL ALKALINE WATER (PH 8.6) WITH H₂O₂ IN THE COMPOUND PARABOLIC COLLECTOR (CPC) AT DIFFERENT DAY PERIODS IN SAHELIAN REGION.

4.1. INTRODUCTION

Pathogenic enteric bacteria are related to the outbreak of several water-borne diseases (e.g. diarrhea, cholera, dysenteries and typhoid) in developing countries. The use of solar radiation to disinfect drinking water has been successfully evaluated by several authors under the Solar Disinfection (SODIS) process (Sommer *et al.*, 1997; Sobsey, 2002; Boyle *et al.*, 2008). Burkina Faso, like many other developing countries, is situated in the latitude lines of 30°N and 30°S and receives about 2,000 to 3,000 hours of solar illumination annually. This energy could be productively used to improve solar drinking water disinfection. SODIS implies the synergistic effect of sunlight and temperature (Wegelin *et al.*, 1994). Clinical field trials on the evaluation of the efficiency of SODIS towards the reduction of occurrences of diarrhea have been conducted in Kenya (Conroy *et al.*, 2001; Du Preez *et al.*, 2011), India (Rose *et al.*, 2006), Iran (Mahvi, 2007) and Cambodia (McGuigan *et al.*, 2011). The development of an enhanced solar disinfection process in the Sahelian region could be useful to efficiently solve the problem of potable drinking water scarcity.

The enhancement of the SODIS efficiency has been reported by several authors, with the aim of developing a low-cost process capable of producing a higher volume in less time than the 1-2 liters per bottle in 6 hours proposed by SODIS references (Reed, 2004; Rincon and Pulgarin, 2006; Ubomba-Jaswa *et al.*, 2010). SODIS enhancement by the photo-Fenton process has been considered by some authors to be an affordable and efficient process which could be used to speed up the SODIS process and to increase the volume of water produced (Sciacca *et al.*, 2010; Spuhler *et al.*, 2010). Fenton and related systems encompass reactions of peroxides (usually H_2O_2) with metal ions leading to the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive radical species (Eq. 4.1). These metal ions are mostly transition metals which could be found naturally or due to industrial activities in natural waters such as manganese, zinc, chromium, copper, iron, etc. In most of the researches carried recently on Fenton and photo-Fenton, the metal ion involved in the reaction is iron (Cho et al., 2004; Bandala et al., 2012; Rodríguez-Chueca et al., 2013). Therefore, the catalytic Fenton reaction in the dark, generally active at acidic pH, is known to favor the generation of the hydroxyl radicals (OH) and Fe^{2+} ions (Eq.4.2). However the kinetics of the reaction is limited by the slow regeneration of Fe^{2+} from Fe^{3+} (Eq.4.3). Under illumination, the Fenton reagent (Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2) leads to the photo-Fenton reagent $(Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv)$ with an increased production of 'OH in the treated water during the process, and the regeneration of Fe^{2+} from Fe^{3+} is reached via a ligand-to-metal charge-transfer (LMCT) reaction (Eq.4.4). At acidic pH, the most abundant iron photo-active complexes are the Fe^{3+} -hydroxy-complexes (Fe(OH)²⁺ and $Fe(H_2O)^{3+}$, which can lead to the production of 'OH and Fe^{2+} . In the presence of a Fe^{3+} organo-complex, the reaction leads to Fe^{2+} and an oxidized organo-complex (Eq.4.5). Both reactions (Eq.4.4 and Eq.4.5) take place when the complex absorbs light in the UV and the visible region (Pignatello et al., 2006; Malato et al., 2009). Surface water contains a large amount of natural organic matter (NOM). This NOM can form photo-active Fe³⁺-complexes even at neutral and basic pH. A part of NOM is also able to interact as a photosensitizer, leading to the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) ('OH, HO_2 ', O_2 ') (Canonica *et al.*, 1995). Domestic, agricultural and industrial activities favor the introduction in the water cycle of some inorganic ions such as HCO_3^- , CO_3^{2-} , SO_4^{2-} , S^{2-} , F^- , HPO_4^{2-} , NO_2^- , NO_3^- and NH_4^+ . These ions can either lead to the precipitation of iron, scavenging of 'OH or coordinate to dissolve Fe³⁺ and Fe²⁺ in more or less un-reactive complexes (Pignatello et al., 2006). These reactions, when they occur, can affect the photo-inactivation process.

$$M^{n+} + H_2 O_2 \to M^{(n+1)+} + OH^- + OH$$

$$\tag{4.1}$$

$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH + OH^ k = 53 - 76 M^{-1}s^{-1}$$
 (4.2)

$$Fe^{3+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{2+}HO_2^{\bullet} + H^+$$
 $k = 1 - 2 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1}s^{-1}$ (4.3)

$$Fe(OH)^{2+} + hv \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + OH$$
(4.4)

$$R-OOC-Fe^{3+} + hv \rightarrow R-COO^{\bullet} + Fe^{2+} \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + CO_2 + R^{\bullet}$$
(4.5)

As mentioned above, the photo-Fenton process was firstly more efficiently used at acidic pH (2.5 - 3) for biorecalcitrant chemical compound degradation (Herrera *et al.*, 1998; Kenfack *et al.*, 2009; Malato *et al.*, 2009). Recently, it has been successfully tested at near-neutral pH for drinking water disinfection (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2006; Ndounla *et al.*, 2013). Moncayo-Lasso *et al.* (2009) have simultaneously inactivated *E. coli* and degraded NOM in river water with a compound parabolic solar reactor (CPC). The current study is the first conducted on alkaline surface water with natural iron content at field scale in CPC with the aim of evaluating the efficiency of the photo-Fenton treatment in theoretically unfavorable alkaline conditions. The pH evolution during photo-disinfection and the effect of the solar radiation parameters (day period of illumination, irradiance and dose) on the efficiency of the photo-fenton treatment in the natural water sample on the efficiency of the photo-Fenton process is also evaluated.

4.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.2.1. PHYSICO-CHEMICAL MEASUREMENTS AND CHEMICAL REAGENTS

The HACH DR/2000 spectrophotometer methodologies used in this study to characterize some physico-chemical components of the water sample (turbidity, iron, nitrite, nitrate, phosphate, sulphate, fluoride, sulfide and ammoniac) follows the guidelines of the Standard Methods for Examination of Water (HACH, 2001). The HACH methods used for the determination of each component and its detection limit are presented in table 4.1. However, the bicarbonate and carbonate ions concentration were determined by titration. A universal

meter WTW 340i equipped with a WTW SenTix 41-3 probe was used to measure the pH and temperature. The Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) concentration was followed during the experiments by a Peroxide Merckoquant (Merk) test with a detection limit of around 0.5 mg/L. Microbiology Chromocult ® (Merck KGaA), was used for bacterial plating. Growth media were poured into a Pre-sterilized Petri Dish, 92x16mm (Sarstedt AG). Hydrogen peroxide, 30% (AnalaR Normapur, VWR) was used to prepare the Fenton reagent. And Hydrochloric acid fuming (HCl), 37% (Fluka Analytical, SIGMA-ALDRICH®) was used for glass-reactor cleaning.

 Table 4.1: summary of the HACH analytical methods used to characterize some

 components of the water sample (HACH, 2001).

Components	HACH DR/2000 Methods/Programs	Detection limits	
Turbidity	Program 750 (wavelength 450 nm)	0 - 450 NTU (Nephelometric turbidity units)	
Total Iron	FerroVer Method, program 265 (Powder Pillows, wavelength 510 nm)	0 - 3.00 mg/L	
Nitrate	High Range (HR), program 355 or the Cadmium Reduction Method (wavelength 500 nm)	0 - 30.0 mg/L NO ₃ ⁻ -N	
Nitrite	Low Range (LR), program 371 or Diazotization Method (wavelength 507 nm)	0 - 0.300 mg/L NO ₂ ⁻ -N	
Ammonia	Nessler Method, program 380 (wavelength 425 nm)	0 - 2.50 mg/L NH ₃ -N	
Phosphate	PhosVer 3 (Ascorbic Acid) Method, program 490 (Powder Pillows, wavelength 890 nm)	0 - 2.50 mg/L PO ₄ ³⁻	
Sulfate	SulfaVer 4 Method, program 690 (Powder Pillows, wavelength 450 nm)	0 - 70 mg/L SO_4^{2-}	
Fluoride	SPADNS Method, program 190 (wavelength 580 nm)	0 - 2.00 mg/L F ⁻	
Sulfide	Methylene Blue Method, program 690 (wavelength 665 nm)	0 - 0.600 mg/L S_2^-	

IV. CHAPTER IV

4.2.2. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE WATER SAMPLE

The water used during the experiments was collected from April to May 2011(summer season) at dam 3 in Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso. Ouagadougou is located at $12^{\circ}21'26''$ Latitude North and $1^{\circ}32'7''$ Longitude West and receives approximately 2,500 hours of solar radiation per year. The experiments were conducted at the site of 2iE Foundation. The water sample is used by part of the local population for household purposes (cooking, drinking and washing) and has a pH 8.6±0.3. Its physico-chemical parameter concentrations are presented in Table 4.2. The enteric bacteria contents of this water were approximately 10^4 CFU/mL for each entity involved in this study (total coliforms/*E. coli*, and *Salmonella* spp). The sampling collection was realized one hour before the experimentation in a 20-liter plastic jerrican.

4.2.3. BACTERIAL STRAIN AND GROWTH MEDIA

The wild bacterial strain monitored in this study was the fecal indicator bacteria coliforms/*E*. *coli*, and *Salmonella* spp. Microbiology Chromocult ® (Merck KGaA), was used for bacterial plating. Chromocult is a selective and differential growth media. It selectively inhibits growth of the non-enteric bacteria. As experiments were conducted with natural water, considering their initial enteric bacteria contents, no dilution was realized before the bacterial plating. 100 μ l of sample water were inoculated into the growth medium. Considering the selectivity of Chromocult, the detection limit of enteric bacteria was 0 (zero) colony growths observed in the plate. The differential nature of the medium permits the distinction of *Salmonella* spp (colorless), *E.coli* (purple and pink) and the blue- and salmon-colored colonies of other coliforms from bacteria. However, in order to emphasize the decrease of the total coliforms, all the *E. coli* observed and others coliforms counted are presented together in this study as total coliforms/*E. coli*.

4.2.4. THE EXPERIMENTS

All the experiments (solar radiation and photo-Fenton), were conducted under direct sunlight in a Compound Parabolic Collector (CPC). The CPC is a SOLARDETOX ACADUS-2003 batch photoreactor device model delivered by Ecosystem SA (Barcelona, Spain). 25 L of surface water was disinfected during each treatment at constant flow (2 L/min). Preliminary experiments were realized to evaluate the efficiency exposure time (4 and 2 hours respectively) which could be proposed to the population concerned if the vulgarization of the photo-Fenton disinfection is taken into account. Afterwards, the photo-disinfection was carried out in the CPC during 6 different time intervals: (i) 8 am to 12 pm (8-12h), (ii) 10 am to 12 pm (10-12h), (iii) 12 pm to 2 pm (12-14h) (iv) 1 pm to 3 pm (13-15h), (v) 2 pm to 4 pm (14-16h) and (vi) 3 pm to 5 pm (15-17h) for both processes (uniquely solar radiation and photo - Fenton). The evaluation of the influence of direct solar radiation parameters (irradiance and cumulated dose) on the efficiency of both photo-disinfection processes is reported. During the exposure, pre-sterilized glass flasks of 100 mL were used at regular time intervals (0, 10, 20, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 150, 180 and 240 min) to collect the treated water samples to be analyzed. 100 μ L were taken with a micropipette from the flask and poured into a Petri dish plate containing growth media (Chromocult agar). Plates were incubated for 18-24 h at 37°C and the colonies counted with a colony counter (Stuart SC6 Colony Counter). To check the durability of photodisinfection after exposure, all the flasks were further kept in the dark for post-irradiation controls after 24 hours. Fenton tests were conducted simultaneously in the dark on 100 mL of samples containing 10 mg/L of H₂O₂. The concentration of some physico-chemical parameters of the water (HCO₃⁻, CO₃²⁻, SO₄²⁻, S²⁻, F⁻, HPO₄²⁻, NO₂⁻, NO_3^- , NH_4^+ , turbidity and the total iron content) were evaluated before and after the treatment. The pH and temperature evolution during the treatments were successively

recorded. The experiments were repeated three times to ensure reproducibility. The Wolfram Mathematica 8.0 and MS-Excel programs were used for data analysis and graph fitting.

4.3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.3.1. EVOLUTION OF SOME PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE WATER SAMPLE

The surface water used in this study was collected from Ouagadougou's dam 3 during the dry season. Table 4.2 presents its main physico-chemical characteristics before and after photo-Fenton treatment. Water composition has a great influence on the photo-disinfection treatment and light penetration is minimal in highly turbid water (Joyce *et al.*, 1996; Kehoe *et al.*, 2001). To carry out an useful photo-disinfection, it is recommended to conduct it in water with less than 30 NTU turbidity (Byrne *et al.*, 2011). The water treated in this study was clear with only 8 ± 3 NTU. The initial water temperature was ranged between $28-29.5\pm0.5^{\circ}$ C; and it pH was 8.6 ± 0.3 . After the first records of the efficiency of photo-Fenton disinfection at near-neutral pH (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2006), several authors have conducted investigations into the efficiency of the process in natural water, some with neutral pH (Moncayo-Lasso *et al.*, 2009; Sciacca *et al.*, 2010; Ndounla *et al.*, 2013). The alkalinity of the natural water treated in this study will enable us to produce the first record of the efficiency of the photo-Fenton at alkaline pH. The Sahelian African soils are ferruginous, which leads permanently to natural iron contents in the water. Taking this into account, only 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ was added in the water sample before the photo-Fenton process.

The concentration of mineral nitrogen compounds (nitrate, nitrite, ammonia) in the surface water used in this study was far below the World Health Organization (WHO) norms for drinking water: 3 mg/L for nitrite, 50 mg/L for nitrate and undetermined for ammonia (WHO,
2011a). Their variations during the photo-treatment were not relevant. The photochemical reduction of nitrite or nitrate and the chemical oxidation of ammonia could lead to OH[•] radical generation (Eq 4.6-4.8) (Kotzias *et al.*, 1987; Fanning, 2000; Brito *et al.*, 2010). OH[•] radical is highly oxidant and has a lethal action on the enteric bacteria. Therefore, the redox activities of the nitrogen compounds in the water during photo-disinfection could significantly affect the rate of the photo-inactivation.

$$NO_3^- + H_2O + hv \rightarrow NO_2^- + OH^- + OH^{\bullet}$$

$$\tag{4.6}$$

$$NO_2^- + H_2O + hv \rightarrow NO + OH^- + OH^{\bullet}$$
(4.7)

$$NH_4^+ \leftrightarrow NH_3 + OH^\bullet \rightarrow NH_2OH \rightarrow NOH \rightarrow NO \rightarrow NO_2^- \leftrightarrow NO_3^-$$
 (4.8)

Inorganic ions can have an interfering effect on the Fenton reagent. Depending on their concentrations, Fenton and photo-Fenton oxidations of organic compounds are inhibited in varying degrees by inorganic ions (e.g. phosphate, sulphate, chloride) (Pignatello *et al.*, 2006). However, the concentration of sulphate, sulfide, fluoride and phosphate were under the restriction of the WHO guidelines for drinking water (WHO, 2011a). Photo-disinfection did not significantly affect their variation during the treatments (Table 4.2). Rincon and Pulgarin (2007b) have reported that the mixture of these components at high concentrations can positively influence the kinetic of the photo-disinfection, while when individually taken into account, they have a negative impact on the photocatalytic process (Pignatello *et al.*, 2006; Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007b).

Phosphate has a doubly detrimental effect by precipitating iron and by scavenging hydroxyl radicals (Malato *et al.*, 2009). The bicarbonate (HCO₃⁻) concentration was extremely high in the surface water treated in this study and the presence of carbonate (CO_3^{2-}) ions was also recorded (Table 4.2). It should be taken in account that the carbonates are generated from bicarbonates in water, when its pH is greater or equal to 8.3. As a buffer complex HCO₃⁻

 $/CO_3^{2-}$, the bicarbonate and carbonate ions could greatly influence the photocatalytic process (Pignatello *et al.*, 2006; Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007b) by their quenching effect on the hydroxyl radicals in a H₂O₂/light System (Kochany and Lipczynskakochany, 1992). Due to their buffering effect, they also have a great impact on the pH variation during photo-disinfection. Relevant differences were not noticed in their concentration before and after photo-disinfection.

Table 4.2: Physico-chemical characteristics of the water sample measured before and after the photo-Fenton disinfection treatment.

Parameters	Before the treatment	After the treatment			
Temperature (°C)	28-29.5±0.5	-			
рН	8.6±0.3	-			
Turbidity (NTU	8±3	8±3			
Total Iron (mg/L)	0.10±0.05	0.11±0.06			
Nitrite (NO ₂ ⁻) (mg/L)	0.011±0.003	0.012±0.002			
Nitrate (NO_3) (mg/L)	3.26±0.2	4.02±0.3			
Ammonia (NH ₄ ⁺) (mg/L)	0.11±0.05	0.17 ± 0.04			
Sulphate (SO ₄ ²⁻) (mg/L)	12±1	12±1			
Sulfide (S^{2-}) (mg/L)	0.007±0.002	0.008 ± 0.001			
Fluoride (F ⁻) (mg/L)	0.50±0.02	0.50±0.03			
Phosphate (PO_4^{2-}) (mg/L)	0.07±0.01	0.15±0.02			
Bicarbonate (HCO ₃ ⁻) (mg/L)	148.10±0.05	137.86±0.04			
Carbonate (CO_3^{2-}) (mg/L)	3.8±0.1	3.7±0.2			

4.3.2. ENTERIC BACTERIA INACTIVATION IN ALKALINE WATER BY FENTON, SOLAR LIGHT AND PHOTO-FENTON

The inactivation of wild enteric bacteria contents of the natural surface water in the CPC during the photo-disinfection treatment by solar radiation (*hv*), photo-Fenton (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/*hv*) and dark Fenton (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/*obs*) are presented in this paper. The initial natural iron content of the sample water was 0.10 ± 0.05 mg/L and the H₂O₂ added was 10 mg/L. The open symbols represent the total coliforms/*E. coli* and the full symbols are for *Salmonella* spp. The traces (\triangle) and (\blacktriangle) represent Fenton evaluation conducted in 100 ml glass flasks kept in the dark. The traces (\bigcirc) and (\bigcirc) illustrate the enteric bacteria decreased under solar radiation, and (\square) and (\blacksquare) presents the inactivation under photo-Fenton treatment. The decrease of both enteric bacteria under both photo-disinfection methods follows the first order kinetic (McGuigan *et al.*, 1998). The water temperature evolution during the treatment and the available irradiance and dose recorded during the exposure are also presented.

4.3.2.1. FENTON SYSTEM

As can be observed in all the traces (\triangle) and (\triangle)) in Figs.4.1, 4.2 and 4.3, neither the total coliform/*E. coli* strain nor that of *Salmonella* spp. decreased of one magnitude order were noticed during the exposure to the Fenton system. However, it is surprising to notice that the Fenton process (Eqs. 4.1-4.2) led to the total inactivation of the weakened total coliform/E. coli strain during the subsequent 24-hour dark storage. In contrast, the more resistant strain of *Salmonella* spp. (Berney *et al.*, 2006) attained a higher active bacteria population than that present at the beginning of the treatment during the same dark storage time.



Figure 4.1: (*a*) Inactivation of wild enteric bacteria in natural surface water carried out from 8-12h under direct solar illumination (*hv*). Post irradiation events (24-hour dark storage). pH 8.6±0.3, natural iron content (Fe): 0.10 ± 0.05 mg/L, addition of 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ in the water for photo-Fenton process. Total coliforms/*E. coli* (\Box) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) under photo-Fenton (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/*hv*), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\bigcirc) and *Salmonella* spp. (\bigcirc) under direct solar radiation (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/*hv*), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\bigcirc) and *Salmonella* spp. (\bigcirc) under direct solar radiation (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/*hv*), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\triangle) and *Salmonella* spp. (\bigstar) in the dark (Fenton process) (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/*obs*). (*a'*) evolution of the water temperature [T°C] during both treatments (solar and photo-Fenton); insert: solar irradiance [W.m⁻², (--)] and cumulated total dose [Wh.m⁻², (---)] available during the experiment.

4.3.2.2. SOLAR RADIATION SYSTEM

The generation of the reactive oxygen species (ROS) from NOM, which intervene together with the direct action of photons in the lethal attack of the bacteria, is highly influenced by the light intensity or irradiance (W.m⁻²). However, the solar inactivation of wild enteric bacteria of natural surface water at different daytime intervals is not only influenced by average irradiance (AVI) but also by the temperature increase recorded during each exposure period in Figs.4.1, 4.2, 4.3, trace (\bigcirc) and (\bullet). It is noticeable that the synergy between the temperature rise and the average irradiance (AVI), and not the cumulated dose, significantly affected the photo-disinfection process. Indeed, during the exposure period 15-17h, in the presence of very low AVI of 8 W.m⁻² for a cumulated dose of 21 Wh.m⁻² and a temperature of less than 40°C (Fig.4.3-f'), none of the enteric bacteria in the water were inactivated under uniquely solar radiation (Fig.4.3-f).

During the periods 8-12h (Fig.4.1-a) and 14-16h (Fig.4.3-e), the temperature increased to approximately 45°C and the AVI were 17 and 20 W.m⁻² respectively. This led to the total

inactivation of both enteric bacteria. 150 min (period 8-12h) and 90 min (period 14-16h) were required for total coliform/*E. coli* strain inactivation. 240 min (period 8-12h) and 120 min (period 14-16) were recorded for *Salmonella* spp. strain inactivation. The high dose required during the period 8-12h for *Salmonella* spp. total inactivation (180 Wh.m⁻²) proved that the availability of high doses does not lead to high inactivation kinetics. Only 80 Wh.m⁻² was required during the exposure period 14-16h for both enteric bacteria's total inactivation. The dose recorded for the successive exposure periods 10-12h (Fig.4.2-b), 12-14h (Fig.4.2-c) and 13-15h (Fig.4.2-d) was respectively 90, 50 and 50 Wh.m⁻² for both enteric bacteria's inactivation in approximately 90 min in all the cases. This result again confirms the previous observation about the irrelevant impact of the dose in the photo-disinfection of drinking water sources.

The AVI recorded during the successive daytime periods 10-12h, 12-14h and 13-15h was respectively 29, 27 and 28 W.m⁻². These high AVI have approximately the same order of magnitude as the ones recorded in the Sahelian region during the dry season (summer season) (Kenfack *et al.*, 2009). Associated to the temperature rise of more than 40°C during the first hour of exposure, in almost all the cases they have led to the total inactivation of both enteric bacteria strains in approximately 90 min. Therefore, high AVI induced a similar required time (and dose) for total inactivation. The total coliform/*E. coli* strain was the only one to be inactivated in 60 min during the exposure period 13-15h. This fast inactivation kinetic was certainly due to the fact that the temperature increase was very fast at the beginning of its exposure.

It is generally accepted that, the photonic flux greatly affect the ROS production and the concomitant oxidative stress in the bacteria, leading to inactivation or death while the increased temperature inactivates the enzymes which were supposed to protect them from this stress (Cabiscol *et al.*, 2000). As neither the temperature increase nor the ROS generation

through the photonic action of irradiance were sufficiently available during the exposure period 15-17h, the steady state of the active enteric bacteria recorded in the water at the end of the exposure could be attributed to the absence of lethal oxidative stress. These results highlight the fact that it is the synergetic effect of the photonic and the thermal parameters of the solar radiation (intense solar radiation coupled to increased temperature to approximately 45°C), which lead to the enteric bacteria inactivation during the solar disinfection (Wegelin *et al.*, 1994; Sommer *et al.*, 1997; McGuigan *et al.*, 1998). Unfortunately, during the post-irradiation storage in the dark, the *Salmonella* spp. strains recovered their viability and grew to more than their initial level in all the treated water. This regrowth of *Salmonella* spp. is the negative side of the bare solar disinfection. It revealed that their inactivation was not irreversible. It will be necessary to evaluate whether the photo-Fenton could ensure the irreversibility of all the enteric bacteria inactivation.



Figure 4.2: (*b*, *c*, *d*) Inactivation of wild enteric bacteria in natural surface water carried out from 10-12h, 12-14h and 13-15h respectively under direct solar illumination (*hv*). Post irradiation events (dark storage during 24h). pH 8.6±0.3, natural iron (Fe) content: 0.10 ± 0.05 mg/L, addition of 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ in the water for photo-Fenton process. Total coliforms/*E. coli* (\Box) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) under photo-Fenton (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/*hv*), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\Box) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) under direct solar radiation (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/*hv*), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\bigtriangleup) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) in the dark (Fenton process) (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/*obs*). (*b'*, *c'*, *d'*) evolution of the water temperature [T°C] during both treatments (solar and photo-Fenton); insert: solar irradiance [W.m⁻², (--)] and cumulated total dose [Wh.m⁻², (---)] available during the experiment.

4.3.2.3. PHOTO-FENTON SYSTEM

The photo-Fenton process in alkaline water is normally subject to the formation of iron hydroxides and iron oxides which precipitate. However drastic inactivation kinetics were recorded in all the enhanced by H₂O₂ addition photo-disinfection treatment (Figs.4.1, 4.2 and 4.3; trace (\Box) and (\blacksquare)). Comparatively to the situation observed under uniquely solar radiation in the previous section, it could be assumed that photo-Fenton reaction could significantly take place at alkaline pH. The ROS ('OH, HO₂', O₂') production from photosensitized NOM (Canonica *et al.*, 1995), and Fe²⁺ regeneration from photo-active Fe³⁺- organo-complex (Pignatello *et al.*, 2006) has certainly contributed to these observed results.

The high photon-flux generated by the AVI available during the exposure periods 10-12h, 12-14h and 13-15h, which was respectively 29, 27 and 28 W.m⁻², associated to the temperature rise of more than 40°C during the first hours of exposure led to a drastic inactivation of both enteric bacteria in approximately 45 min in all cases (Fig. 4.2, trace (\Box) and (\blacksquare)). However, during the exposure period 10-12h, the *Salmonella* spp. total inactivation took a little more time. The effect of the low solar radiation available in the morning and afternoon was highlighted by the recorded irradiance: 17 and 20 W.m⁻² respectively for the exposure periods 8-12h and 14-16h (Fig. 4.1-4.3). A relevant inactivation kinetics was however, recorded in both cases. The total inactivation was achieved for both enteric bacteria after 120 min during the exposure period 8-12h. Drastic inactivation in 20 min of total coliforms/*E. coli* strain was recorded for the exposure period 14-16h, while that of *Salmonella* spp. was achieved after 60 min.

The inactivation of the weakened strains of total coliforms/*E. coli* was noticed at the end of the photo-Fenton process, during the exposure period 15-17h, in contrast to the negative results recorded for the same period under bare solar radiation (Fig. 4.3, trace (\Box) and (\blacksquare)). Even though the AVI was very low during this period (8 W.m⁻²), no regrowth was recorded

after the dark post-irradiation storage (24h). As noticed in the previous section, the cumulated dose of the solar radiation did not significantly influence the inactivation process. The dose recorded for the total inactivation of both enteric bacteria during the exposures was approximately 50 Wh.m⁻² for the periods 12-14h, 13-15h and 14-16h. It was 120 and 60 Wh.m⁻² respectively for the exposure periods 8-12h and 10-12h. It is important to notice the residual effect of the H₂O₂ by Fenton reaction during the storage. However, the remaining H₂O₂ amount (3-4 mg/L) in the treated water disappears completely from the water after two or three days of storage. This H₂O₂ depletion was also reported in our previous paper (Ndounla *et al.*, 2013).



Figure 4.3: (*e*, *f*) Inactivation of wild enteric bacteria in natural surface water carried out from 14-16h and 15-17h respectively under direct solar illumination (*hv*). Post irradiation events (dark storage during 24h). pH 8.6±0.3, natural iron (Fe) content: $0.10\pm0.05 \text{ mg/L}$, addition of 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ in the water for photo-Fenton process. Total coliforms/*E. coli* (\Box) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) under photo-Fenton (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/*hv*), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\bigcirc) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) under direct solar radiation (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/*hv*), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\triangle) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) in the dark (Fenton process) (natural Fe^{2+/3+}/H₂O₂/*obs*). (*e'*, *f'*) evolution of the water temperature [T°C] during both treatments (solar and photo-Fenton); insert: solar irradiance [W.m⁻², (—)] and cumulated total dose [Wh.m⁻², (---)] available during the experiment.

4.3.3. POST IRRADIATION EVENTS

4.3.3.1. POST IRRADIATION EVENTS AFTER SOLAR RADIATION DISINFECTION

The *Salmonella* spp. conversion from nonculturable to culturable strains was noticed in all the waters which were disinfected for 2 hours by uniquely solar radiation. After the recovery of

their culturability during the dark storage, they-increased to more than their initial contents. These *Salmonella* spp. strains' recovery during favorable conditions lead to the assumption that the effect of solar radiation was bacteriostatic and not bactericidal (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007b). A longer exposure time is therefore needed to ensure the bactericidal effect of the uniquely solar radiation on *Salmonella* spp. strains to ensure its irreversible inactivation. The total coliform/*E. coli* strain was not inactivated during the exposure period 15-17h. However, after being weakened by illumination, it was totally inactivated during the subsequent 24 h of dark storage. In contrast, the remaining *Salmonella* spp. strains took advantage of the favorable conditions of the dark storage to recover their capacity for growth. Such capacity is part of the resistance of *Salmonella* spp. to photo-inactivation (Berney *et al.*, 2006).

4.3.3.2. POST IRRADIATION EVENTS AFTER PHOTO-FENTON DISINFECTION

None of the total coliform/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp. strains inactivated under the photo-Fenton treatment in this study recovered viability during storage (Figs.4.1, 4.2 and 4.3, trace (\Box) and (\blacksquare)). No regrowth of any of the strains was observed after the 24 hours of dark storage. Considering this irreversible inactivation, it can be assumed that the photo-Fenton disinfection of drinking water could be efficiently used to produce higher volumes of water in shorter time than requiered by SODIS bottles system.

4.3.4. PH EVOLUTION DURING THE EXPERIMENTS

The pH increase recorded in all the photo-disinfection (solar and photo-Fenton) processes as presented in Fig. 4.4, are in contrast with the decrease report by several authors during the photocatalytic treatment with TiO₂ (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007b; Malato *et al.*, 2009). This increase is probably due to (i) the buffer action of the complex $HCO_3^{-7}CO_3^{-2-}$ which maintains the solution in the alkaline region and especially (ii) the degradation of the nitrogen component of the water during their photo-degradation (Eq.4.6-4.7), leading to the generation

of the OH⁻ and consequently increased alkalinity (Kotzias *et al.*, 1987; Fanning, 2000). However, this pH increase has not negatively affected the inactivation kinetic of the photo-Fenton process.



Figure 4.4: Evolution of pH during the photo-disinfection treatments: (\blacklozenge) under solar radiation treatment without h_2o_2 addition, (\blacksquare) under photo-Fenton treatment with 10 mg/L of H_2O_2 .

4.3.5. COMPARATIVE EVALUATION OF THE ENTERIC BACTERIA INACTIVATION BY PHOTO-FENTON AT ALKALINE OR NEAR-NEUTRAL PH IN NATURAL WATERS

In this study, the presence of several iron species in natural water: soluble (Fe^{2+ or 3+}) and solids (e.g. iron oxides) has lead to heterogeneous conditions for photo-Fenton process. This heterogeneous conditions could take advantage of several pathways: (i) the high adsorption of iron oxides by bacteria (Spuhler *et al.*, 2010), (ii) the effect of the bacteria siderophores which increases iron dissolution (Stintzi *et al.*, 2000) and leads to high photo-Fenton activity, (iii) the enhancing semi-conductor effect of some types of solid iron oxides on photo-disinfection (Moncayo-Lasso *et al.*, 2008b; Mazille *et al.*, 2010) or (iv) the natural organic matter (NOM) or humic substances complexation with iron to maintain their solubility in solution (Pignatello *et al.*, 2006; Lipczynska-Kochany and Kochany, 2008). The heterogeneous photo-Fenton

condition, 0.001 mol of the phenolic compound was degraded in 1 hour (Martínez et al., 2005; Ayodele *et al.*, 2012). Avogadro's number ($N_A = 6.022 \ 10^{23} \ mol^{-1}$) is the number of constituent species in one mole of a given substance, (usually atoms or molecules). If we consider the degradation of 0.001 mol. h^{-1} as that of 6.022 10^{20} molecules, the target in natural waters disinfected in this study is far below this level with a maximum record at 10^{6} CFU/ml. It could be assumed that the 'OH radical generated by the homogenous (Fe-org) and heterogeneous (Fe oxides) photo-Fenton in alkaline or near-neutral water sources was high enough to ensure the drastic inactivation of both enteric bacteria strains as recorded. Figure 4.5 shows the inactivation curves of the total coliforms/ E. coli and Salmonella spp. by photo-Fenton in well-water (W, pH 5.4 \pm 0.1) or in surface-water (S, pH 8.6 \pm 0.3). The solar radiation parameters (irradiance/dose) and temperature rise during the experiments were similar to those presented in the previous section at the same time intervals for both water sources. In contrast to the fact regularly observed at acidic or near-neutral pH, Salmonella spp. strains seem to be less resistant to photo-Fenton inactivation at alkaline pH. Their total inactivation occurred under several exposure periods in this study at the same time as that of total coliforms/ E. coli (Fig 4.5.a-c). The slight delay (15 min) noticed between its inactivation kinetics and that of total coliforms/ E. coli during the exposure period 10-12h is not worth recording as a relevant fact. It can also be noticed that the global effective inactivation time of *Salmonella* spp. in alkaline water is lower than the one recorded when it was inactivated under acidic or near-neutral conditions. It could therefore be assumed that the pH of the water could significantly affect the sensitivity of the bacteria to photo-inactivation, as is also the case for chlorination (WHO, 2011a).



Figure 4.5: Wild enteric bacteria inactivation by photo-Fenton (natural $Fe^{2+/3+}/H_2O_2/hv$) in natural wells (W) and surface (S) water under direct solar radiation at different time intervals of the day (8-12h, 10-12h and 12-14h). (\Box) total coliforms/*E. coli*, (\blacksquare) Salmonella spp. Some parameter of the sample water presented here: the surface water contains 0.10 ± 0.05 mg/L natural iron (Fe) and pH 8.6±0.3, while the wells water contains natural iron (dissolved: 0.07 ± 0.02 mg/L of Fe^{2+,3+} and solid iron oxides (0.23 ± 0.01 mg/L), pH 5.4±0.01. 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ was added in each sample to initiate the photo-Fenton process

4.3.6. INACTIVATION MECHANISMS

4.3.6.1. INACTIVATION MECHANISMS UNDER SOLAR RADIATION TREATMENTS

Dissolved oxygen in the water seems to have a direct impact on the bactericidal action of solar disinfection (Reed, 1997). The water recirculation in the CPC during the photodisinfection process is subjected to high fluctuation following the oxygen availability at different point of the reactor. The NOM present in natural water act as photosensitizers. Under irradiation, the photosensitizers become electronically excited and react with O_2 . leading to reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as singlet oxygen $({}^{1}O_{2})$, superoxide $(HO_{2})^{2}/O_{2}^{-1}$), H₂O₂ and OH[•] radicals (Canonica et al., 1995; Reed, 1997). The catalases and other enzymes which should protect the cells from oxidative stress are photo and thermo-sensitive. The temperature increase of up to 45°C during photo-disinfection inactivates these enzymes, leaving the cells susceptible to internal ROS attack and subsequent inactivation. OH' radicals is the more bactericidal ROS (Jang and Imlay, 2010; Spuhler et al., 2010). A delay in the photo-disinfection kinetic is observed when several environmentally unfavorable factors are present (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007b), such as the low temperature and solar radiation available during the exposure period 15-17h. The Salmonella spp. reactivation after the phototreatment is probably due to the fact that they were not sufficiently exposed to the lethal action of the ROS during the 2 hours of exposure.

4.3.6.2. INACTIVATION MECHANISMS UNDER PHOTO-FENTON TREATMENTS

Natural organic matter contains functional groups which can form complexes with Fe^{3+} or Fe^{2+} . These complexes not only increase the solubility of iron over the natural pH range, but can also considerably contribute to the photo-Fenton reactions via a LMCT under solar radiation. The positive effect of NOM constituents (e.g. carboxilic acids) on photo-Fenton process, which allow us to work at near-neutral pH and, as noticed here, at alkaline pH (pH 8.6 ± 0.3) too, has recently been reported by several authors (Georgi *et al.*, 2007; Lipczynska-

Kochany and Kochany, 2008; Vermilyea and Voelker, 2009). The Fe²⁺ generation from the Fe³⁺-organo-complex in the photo-Fenton experiments carried out in this study react with the H_2O_2 added to the water and lead to the generation of lethal 'OH radical (Eq.4.3-4.5) (Pulgarin et al., 1995; Pignatello et al., 2006; Malato et al., 2009). The association of the ROS production with the reaction between the photosensitized NOM and dissolved O₂ supplied by the water recirculation in the CPC, and the highly generation of •OH by photo-Fenton in the water causes high oxidative stress in the enteric bacteria. In a normal situation, the cells can escape oxidative stress by producing catalases enzymes to inactivate them (Cabiscol et al., 2000). It is known that the enzymes are photo and thermosensitive and are inactivated with increased temperatures (Ghadermarzi and Moosavi-Movahedi, 1996; McGuigan et al., 1998). The simultaneous temperature increase and photonic action during the ROS production has inactivate the enzyme production. In the absence of the protective enzymes, the self-defense mechanisms of the cells are inhibited, thus encouraging the production of the OH• and other ROS ($^{1}O_{2}$, HO₂, $^{\circ}O_{2}^{-}$, H₂O₂) into the cell and lead to their irreversible inactivation. The postirradiation events show no enteric bacteria recovery, thus confirming their irreversible inactivation.

4.4. CONCLUSIONS

The photo-disinfection treatment was efficiently enhanced by photo-Fenton system at alkaline pH. Solar irradiation is the key factor for both photo-disinfection processes (solar and photo-Fenton). The photo-Fenton disinfection at alkaline pH is not efficient if conducted under a low solar irradiance range of less than 12W.m⁻² and a temperature of less than 40°C. None of the enteric bacteria strains (total coliform/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp.), totally inactivated by the photo-Fenton treatment have succeeded in recovering the culturability during the subsequent 24 hours of dark storage. The resistivity of the Salmonella spp. strains noticed at near-neutral pH in our previous study was not confirmed at alkaline pH in this one. These

strains were highly sensitive at alkaline pH and their total inactivation was recorded at the same time as those of the total coliforms/*E. coli*. The photo-Fenton ensures the irreversible inactivation of the enteric bacteria, while under a uniquely solar radiation exposure of 4 or 2 hours the inactivated *Salmonella* spp. strains have recovered their viability during the 24 hours of subsequent dark storage. To efficiently disinfect the water under uniquely solar radiation, it is important to expose it for more than 4 hours under high solar irradiance and impose a temperature increase of up to 45°C to ensure the simultaneous irreversible inactivation of total coliform/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp. Considering the enhancement ability of the photo-Fenton treatment and its irreversible lethal action on enteric bacteria, before vulgarization of the process we recommend additional research into improvements to ensure the safety of the treated water.

EVALUATING THE EFFICIENCY OF THE PHOTO FENTON DISINFECTION OF NATURAL DRINKING WATER SOURCE DURING THE RAINING SEASON IN THE SAHELIAN REGION

5.1. INTRODUCTION

In order to develop a useful household water treatment process for the populations, not connected to safe drinking water supply in developing countries, several researches have been conducted on the photo-disinfection of natural water sources in most of those countries (Mäusezahl *et al.*, 2009; Du Preez *et al.*, 2011; McGuigan *et al.*, 2011; Marques *et al.*, 2013; Ndounla *et al.*, 2013; Ruales-Lonfat *et al.*, 2013). As solar disinfection (SODIS) and photo-Fenton treatment take both advantage of the free energy of sunlight, most of those researches were conducted during the summer season. This season has the most favorable optical conditions for solar radiation (McGuigan *et al.*, 2013). The evaluation of the efficiency of the processes during the raining season taking in account the effect of the intermittence of a cloudy and/or sunny sky on it could be useful to improve the database of this point-of-use treatment method.

During the raining season, wells and surface water are highly diluted. This dilution of the chemical component of the water could significantly influence both photo-disinfection processes. In a previous study (Ndounla *et al.*, 2013), we have evaluated the enhancement of the SODIS process by the photo-Fenton reagent ($Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$) on natural well water. The inactivation rate of the wild enteric bacteria (total coliforms/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp.) naturally present in the water was followed to evaluate the efficiency of the processes. In the previous work, the iron considered for the Fenton reagent was either the added (0.6 mg/L) or the initial natural iron contents of the sample water (0.07 mg/L) (Table 5.1). The experiment was carried out on PET (polyethylene terephthalate) bottles and the results have shown that

the processes was highly efficient and the one conducted with the low natural iron of the water was the more efficient comparatively to the one with chemically added iron.

It is a fact that iron is the fourth most abundant element in the Earth's crust and the most abundant transition metal in soil. The ability of iron to undergo cyclic oxidation and reduction is an important aspect for photo-Fenton process. The photo-reactivity of iron as transition metal especially in natural water in presence of organic ligands, is of high environmental importance (Cieśla *et al.*, 2004). In general, the reduced forms of iron ions (Fe²⁺) produce 'OH at a far faster rate upon reaction with H₂O₂ than the oxidized forms (Fe³⁺) during the Fenton and Fenton-like reaction, which ideally operate at acidic pH (2.5-3), (Eqs. 5.1-5.2). Therefore, reducing agents catalyze the regeneration of Fe²⁺ from Fe³⁺ and accelerate the generation of 'OH for photo-Fenton process (Eq. 5.3) (Sychev and Isak, 1995; Kruszewski, 2003; Pignatello *et al.*, 2006):

$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH + OH^ k = 53 - 76 M^{-1} s^{-1}$$
 (5.1)

$$Fe^{3+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{2+}HO_2^{\bullet} + H^+$$
 $k = 1 - 2 \ 10^{-2} \ M^{-1} \ s^{-1}$ (5.2)

$$Fe^{3+} + Donor^{red} \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + Donor^{ox}$$
 (5.3)

The Fenton reaction in Equation 5.1 is the primary source for 'OH and produces Fe^{3+} . For the process to become catalytic, Fe^{2+} needs to be regenerated from Fe^{3+} , which precipitates at neutral pH in absence of organic complexing matter. The regeneration of Fe^{2+} from Fe^{3+} can be accelerated by irradiating the system (photo-Fenton process) because some Fe^{3+} -complexes undergo photoreduction under UVA and visible radiation, producing 'OH and regenerating Fe^{2+} via ligand to metal charge transfer (LMCT) (Eq. 5.4):

$$[Fe^{3+}(L)_{n}] + hv \to [Fe^{3+}(L)_{n}]^{*} \to [Fe^{2+}(L)_{n-1}] + L^{\bullet}_{ox}$$
(5.4)

The redox cycling of Fe²⁺ and Fe³⁺ depends strongly on the presence and nature of the natural organic matter it influence the geochemical cycles and strongly affects the chemical and biological processes, which are sensitive to the iron speciation (Cieśla *et al.*, 2004). The organic matter which form strong complexes with Fe³⁺ at near neutral pH and which undergo rapid photochemical reactions in sunlight are poly-carboxylates (Zuo and Hoigne, 1992; Faust and Zepp, 1993; Ruales-Lonfat *et al.*, 2013). Under illumination, the photochemical activities of these complexes favor the solubility of iron at near neutral pH leading the optimal condition for photo-Fenton reactions. The carboxylate group [R-COO[¬]] is one of the most common functional groups of the dissolved organic compounds present in natural waters (Feng and Nansheng, 2000), 2000). The Fe³⁺ -carboxyl or -polycarboxyl complexes ([Fe³⁺-([¬] OOC)-R]²⁺) undergo a photo-dissolution via a LMCT as described in equation 4-5 (Faust and Zepp, 1993; Pignatello *et al.*, 2006; Georgi *et al.*, 2007).

$$[(\text{RCOO}^{-})\text{Fe}^{3+}] + hv \rightarrow \text{Fe}^{2+} + \text{CO}_2 + \text{R}^{\bullet}$$
(5.5)

As the presence of natural organic matter, the turbidity of the water is one of the most important parameter which can influence the efficiency of the photo-disinfection process. It can protect microorganism from UVA radiation and thus significantly decrease the efficiency of photo-disinfection. Water with turbidity higher than 30 NTU should be pre-filtered for conventional SODIS. Highly turbid or unfiltered water may not withstand any significant optical inactivation, because the sunlight is completely absorbed within the first few millimeters of water (McGuigan *et al.*, 1999). However, turbidity usually increases the maximum water temperature achieved within the bottle, resulting from the absorption of visible and IR radiation by the suspended particles (Sciacca *et al.*, 2011). Water temperature is raised until it could be accounted for the complete disinfection (Joyce *et al.*, 1996; Sciacca *et al.*, 2011). However, for high turbidity, the beneficial effect of increased temperature is likely to be far less important than the negative effects resulting from a decrease in penetration of

the inactivating radiation (Reed, 2004). Another component which could significantly influence the rate of a photo-disinfecting process is the bicarbonate ions concentration (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007b). In fact, carbon dioxide that is stored in water will be present as either carbonate or bicarbonate ions. These ions are an important part of natural buffers that prevent the water from becoming too acidic or too basic. This parameter is highly important when process the photo-disinfection at near neutral pH.

For a sustainable application of photo-disinfection in drinking water treatment it is crucial to know whether the reciprocity of irradiance and dose, applies for bacterial inactivation by sunlight, because solar irradiation can vary considerably during a day due to clouds or other factors. This study will focus on the evaluation of the efficiency of the solar (natural Fe^{2+}/hv) and photo-Fenton (natural $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$) disinfection of natural wells waters during the raining season in Sahelian region (Ouagadougou-Burkina Faso, West Africa). Comparative evaluation of the observed results with the one previously conducted during the summer season will be addressed.

5.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

5.2.1. REAGENTS AND PHYSICO-CHEMICAL ANALYSIS

Universal meter WTW 340i equipped with a WTW SenTix 41-3 probe was used to measure the pH and temperature. Microbiology Chromocult ® (Merck KGaA), was used for bacterial plating (Ndounla *et al.*, 2013). Growth media was poured in pre-sterilized Petri Dish, 92x16mm (Sarstedt AG). Hydrogen peroxide, 30% (AnalaR Normapur, VWR) was used to prepare the Fenton reagent. Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) concentration was followed during the experiments by Peroxide Merckoquant (Merk) test with a detection limit around 0.5 mg/L. Hydrochloric acid fuming (HCl), 37% (Fluka Analytical, SIGMA-ALDRICH®) was used for glass-reactor cleaning. The bicarbonate and carbonate ions concentration were determined by

titration. The HACH DR/2000 spectrophotometer methodologies were used to characterize some physico-chemical components of the water sample (Turbidity, iron, nitrite, nitrate, and ammoniac) following the guidelines of the Standard Methods for Examination of Water (HACH, 2001). The water turbidity was evaluated with the program 750 (wavelength 450 nm) and the detection limits were 0 to 450 NTU (Nephelometric turbidity units). The total Iron content was determined by the FerroVer Method (Powder Pillows), program 265 and detection limits 0 to 3.00 mg/L. The nitrate (NO₃⁻) contents was determined with the High Range (HR) program 355 (NitraVer Method 5, Nitrate Reagent Powder Pillow, wavelength 500 nm) and the detection limits were 0 to 30.0 mg/L NO₃⁻N. The HACH Species Conversion Factors (SCF) specific for the calculation of the nitrate in nitrogen (NO_3^{-} -N) is 4.427. The nitrite (NO₂) contents was determined with the Low Range (LR) program 371 (NitriVer 3 Powder Pillows Method, limit of detection: 0 to 0.300 mg/L NO₂⁻N), the SCF of $NO_2^{-}N$ is 3.284. The ammonia (NH_4^{+}) concentration was evaluated with the Nessler Method program 380. Its detection limit was from 0 to 2.50 mg/L NH₃-N with an SCF of 1.288. The results presented in this paper are the average for each components recorded upon the experiments

5.2.2. LOCALIZATION OF THE STUDY SITE

The experiments presented in this study were carried out from July to October 2011 (raining season) in Burkina Faso. The water samples were collected at two household wells from two district of Ouagadougou: well 1 (W1) at Tanghin, and well 2 (W2) at Nonsin. Ouagadougou is located at 12°21'26" of Latitude North and 1°32'7" of Longitude West. The experiments were conducted at the site of 2iE Foundation. This location is subject to receive approximately 1900-2200 kWh/m² of annual average solar irradiance. For the processes, water was collected from wells with a 20-liter plastic jerrican.

5.2.3. THE BACTERIAL STRAINS

As in our previous research carried out during the summer season (Ndounla *et al.*, 2013), the bacterial strains followed in this study are the wild fecal indicator enteric bacteria coliforms/*E. coli*, and *Salmonella* spp. naturally present in the sample water. Considering the selectivity of growth media Chromocult, the detection limit of enteric bacteria was 0 (zero) colony growths observed in the plate after the exposure. The incubation period was 18-24 h at 37° C.

5.2.4. THE EXPERIMENTS

The experiments were carried out at field scale under direct sunlight in a Compound Parabolic Collector (CPC). The CPC is a SOLARDETOX ACADUS-2003 batch photo-reactor device model delivered by Ecosystem SA, (Barcelona, Spain). The irradiance and cumulated total dose of the solar radiation was monitored during the experiments with an ACADUS 85 UV radiometer connected to the CPC. 25 L of surface water was disinfected during each treatment at constant flow (2 L/min). Considering the weather disturbance due to rain fall, the photodisinfection was operated following the availability of the sunshine during 2 different time intervals of the day: (i) 8 am to 12 pm (8-12h), (ii) 12 pm to 4 pm (12-16h) for both processes (sole solar radiation and photo – Fenton). Experiments were repeated four times to ensure reproducibility. During the exposure, pre-sterilized glass flask of 100 mL, were used at regular time intervals (0, 10, 20, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 150, 180 and 240 min) to collect the treated water sample to be analyzed. 100 µL were taken with micropipette from the flask and poured in a Petri dish plate containing growth media (Chromocult agar). Plates were incubated for 18 -24 h at 37°C and the colonies counted with a colony counter (Stuart SC6 Colony Counter). To check the durability of photo-disinfection after the exposure, the entire flasks were further kept in the dark for post-irradiation controls. Regrowth experiments were realized on stored bottles after 24 h. Considering the real scale situation for treated water

intended for populations, the samples water were kept in the dark without removing their remaining 2 to 3 mg/L of H₂O₂. This remaining amount of H₂O₂ ensures a residual effect on the photo-Fenton treatment. The monitoring of this residual content has shown that it was no more detectable after 48 to 72 h. The concentration of some physico-chemical parameters of the water (HCO₃⁻⁻, CO₃²⁻⁻, NO₂⁻⁻, NO₃⁻⁻, NH₄⁺, turbidity and total iron were evaluated before and after the treatment. The pH and temperature evolution during the treatments were successively recorded. The Wolfram Mathematica 8.0 and MS-Excel programs were used for data analysis and graphs fitting.

5.3. RESULTS

5.3.1. PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CHARACTERISTIC OF WATER

The experiments were conducted on two natural wells water of Ouagadougou (Burkina-Faso, West Africa) from July to October 2011 (raining season). The photo disinfection of water sample from both wells were previously conducted during the summer season and their results were published (Ndounla *et al.*, 2013). They had an initial temperature range of 30°C. Rain water infiltration significantly diluted the chemical composition of the wells water used in this study. In fact, in contrast to the ones obtained during the summer season, lower concentration were recorded in almost all the cases as presented in table 5.1. Both water sample were clear with a turbidity range between 1-4 NTU far below the critical limit for solar disinfection (30 NTU) (Meierhofer and Wegelin, 2002). The dilution of the water highly affects the total iron (Fe^{2+, 3+}), concentration and only $0.03-0.05\pm0.01$ mg/L and $0.01-0.04\pm0.02$ mg/L were recorded respectively for W1 and W2. The evaluation of the impact of this low iron concentration perspective of this treatment for Sahelian region. Acidic pH ranges (4.6-5.7) were recorded in both wells water as it was the case during the summer season (dry season).

The difference noticed between bicarbonate concentrations $(1.22-4.88\pm1 \text{ mg/L} \text{ for W1} \text{ and } 34.16-42.2\pm1 \text{ mg/L} \text{ for W2})$, have significantly influenced the pH variation during the photodisinfection. The pH increase during the first 30min in all the cases was followed by a decrease for both solar and photo-Fenton disinfection of waters from W1 in contrast to the plateau recorded after the increase in waters from W2 (Fig. 5.1). CO₂ degassing process has a significant impact on the alkalinity of the water recorded at the end of the photo-disinfection. The evolution in W2, put in evidence the impact of the buffering effect of HCO₃⁻ in the pH regulation during the photo-disinfection. In contrast, in W1 the pH decrease recorded after the initial increasing state is certainly due to the fact that the low HCO₃⁻ content of the water was not enough to ensure sufficient buffering effect and maintain it at high level as it is the case in W2. As suggested by Rincon and Pulgarin (2007b), the effect of the HCO₃⁻ concentration in chemical variation of the solution will certainly influence the inactivation rate of both photo-disinfection process.

	Tanghin ((W1)	Nonsin (W2)			
	Daining accord	Summer		Summer		
	Raining season	season ¹	Raining season	season ¹		
pН	4.6-5.1±0.02	4.9-5.5	5.6-5.7±0.02	6.1-6.3		
Initial temperature (°C)	30±1	29-30±1	30±1	29-30±1		
Temperature (°C) after 2 h of	40-44+1	> 45	40-44+1	> 45		
treatment	40 44±1	2 - 13	+0 ++±1	× +3		
Total Iron (mg/L)	$0.03-0.05\pm0.02$	0.05-0.09	$0.01 - 0.04 \pm 0.01$	0.07		
Turbidity (NTU)	$1-4\pm 2$	<10	$1-4\pm1$	<10		
Bicarbonate (HCO ₃ ⁻) (mg/L)	$1.22-4.88\pm1$	-	34.16-42.7±1	-		
Carbonate (CO ₃ ⁻) (mg/L)	0^2	-	0^2	-		
Nitrite (NO_2) (mg/L)	$0.02-0.06\pm0.01$	-	0.02 ± 0.01	-		
Nitrate (NO_3^-) (mg/L)	82.1-95.5±0.2	-	89.7-96.1±0.2	-		
Ammonia (NH ₄ ⁺) (mg/L)	$0.9-1.1\pm0.1$	-	$0.13 - 0.15 \pm 0.01$	-		

 Table 5.1: Physico-chemical parameters of the samples water

¹(Ndounla *et al.*, 2013), ²CO₃⁻ are generated from HCO₃⁻ in water, when its pH is greater or equal to 8.3. The water samples used in this study have an acidic pH, leading to no carbonates ions.



Figure 5.1: pH evolution during the photo-disinfection during raining season of wells 1 (Tanghin) and 2 (Nonsin) under solar light exposure and neutral photo-Fenton recorded at different day time's intervals. Bicarbonate (HCO₃⁻) concentration: in W1 (1.22-4.88 \pm 1 mg/L); in W2 (34.16-42.7 \pm 1 mg/L).

5.3.2. DISINFECTION EXPERIMENTS IN THE CPC (FIELD SCALE)

At field scale, 25L of water were disinfected in the CPC solar reactor by solar (hv) or photo-Fenton (H₂O₂/Fe²⁺/hv) disinfection. Considering the natural iron contents of the water (Table 5.1), the photo-Fenton disinfection was induced by adding 10 mg/L of H₂O₂ in the water sample prior to the exposure. The curves in Fig.5.2-W1-W2 and Fig.5.3-W1-W2, presents the inactivation kinetic of both enteric bacteria involved in this study under solar and photo-Fenton disinfection. On each figure, the empty symbols are for total coliforms/*E. coli* strains while the full symbols are for *Salmonella* spp. strains. The solar disinfection process is illustrated by the traces (\bigcirc/\bullet) while those of the photo-Fenton disinfected considerably the irradiance recorded during the treatments (Fig.5.2-W1'-W2' and Fig.5.3-W1'-W2'). The impact of irradiance (W.m⁻²) on the cumulated dose, temperature rise and consequently the disinfecting processes are presented in the following sections.

5.3.2.1. EXPERIMENTS CONDUCTED FROM 10-14H

The irradiance recorded for sole solar radiation disinfection experiments carried out in sample water from W1 during the time interval's 10-14h were fluctuating between 25 and 30 W.m⁻². The temperature rise remains below 40°C during the major part of the exposure period. This situation was certainly due to the regular intermittence between a cloudy and sunny sky. which has reduced the IR ability limiting the thermal effect of the radiation. The cumulated total dose recorded at the end of this exposure period was 250 Wh.m⁻² (Fig.5.2-W1'). However, these conditions were not sufficient to ensure the total inactivation of the enteric bacteria contents of the treated water. Only the total coliforms/E. coli strains were totally disinfected at the end of the 4 hours exposure (Fig.5.2-W1, traces (\bigcirc)). The Salmonella spp. strains concentration is remained up to 10^4 CFU/mL in the treated water (Fig.5.2-W1, traces (**•**)). The irradiance available for sole solar radiation disinfection of sample water from W2 during this time's interval was higher than the one available for W1. However, it fluctuated between 34 and 42 W.m⁻² during the first 2 hours of exposure and between 34 and 30 W.m⁻² during the last 2 hours. This higher irradiance associated to the increase of temperature to 45°C, which can enhance the thermal effect, has significantly affected the inactivation kinetic of the total coliforms/E. coli strain. Comparatively to the previous situation observed with W1, their total inactivation was achieved in approximately 120 min (Fig.5.2-W2, traces (O)). Nevertheless, as in the previous case, the fluctuation of the solar irradiance has negatively affected the Salmonella spp. inactivation as more than 10⁴ CFU/mL of this strain is remained alive in the treated water at the end of the exposure (Fig.5.2-W2, traces (\bullet)). The cumulated total dose of solar radiation recorded at the end of the exposure for both sole solar and photo-Fenton disinfection was approximately 270 Wh.m⁻² (Fig.5.2-W2').

As recorded during the sole solar disinfection, the intermittence of cloudy and sunny sky during the exposure period 10-14h has negatively affected the photo Fenton disinfection

process too. The high fluctuation of irradiance between 13 and 45 W.m⁻² has led to approximately 250 Wh.m⁻² of total cumulated dose at the end of the exposure. Similarly, temperature rises up to approximately 40°C as the one recorded under sole solar disinfection was noticed (Fig.5.2-W1'). The negative effects of these weather conditions on the photo-Fenton process are pointed out by the sole inactivation of the total coliforms/*E. coli* strain at the end of the 4 hours exposure (Fig.5.2-W1, traces (\Box)). The *Salmonella* spp. strain remained as in the previous cases more than 10³ CFU/mL in the treated water at the end of the exposure (Fig.5.2-W2, traces (\blacksquare)).

During the photo-Fenton disinfection of sample water from W2 at the same time period, the general situation was approximately the same as the previous one with W1. The cumulated total dose at the end of the experiments was 270 Wh.m⁻² (Fig.5.2-W2'). The temperature increase to approximately 43°C during the exposure associated to high fluctuation of the irradiance from 32 to 18 W.m⁻². In these conditions, total coliforms/*E. coli* strain sustained their total inactivation in approximately 60 min. The slight enhancement of the photo-Fenton process in W2 comparatively to the situation in W1 is difficult to explain as W2 has higher contents in HCO₃⁻ (Table 5.1) which in principle quenches the oxidative species (especially 'OH) generated during the photo-Fenton process (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2007b). The overall inefficiency of the photo-Fenton process in both wells water could also be related to the diluted state of the sample water during this raining season (very low iron contents) as presented in table 5.1 comparatively to its composition during the summer season (Ndounla *et al.*, 2013).



Figure 5.2: Inactivation of the wild enteric bacteria of wells 1 and 2, from 10-14h under direct solar radiation during the raining season. Addition of 10 mg/L of H_2O_2 to the water before the photo-Fenton experiments considering the natural iron (Fe) contents of wells both waters $0.03-0.05\pm0.02$ mg/L for W1 and $0.01-0.04\pm0.01$ mg/L for W2. Total coliforms/*E. coli* (\Box) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) under photo-Fenton (natural Fe^{2+,3+}/H₂O₂/hv), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\bigcirc) and *Salmonella* spp. (\bigcirc) under direct solar radiation (natural Fe^{2+,3+}/H₂O₂/hv). (') evolution of water temperature [T°C], irradiance [W.m⁻²] and cumulated total dose [Wh.m⁻²] during the treatments; SL: direct solar radiation, PF: photo Fenton.

5.3.2.2. EXPERIMENTS CONDUCTED FROM 12-16H

During the uniquely solar and photo-Fenton disinfection of water from W1 conducted from 12-16h, the weather conditions were approximately the same for both cases. Temperatures were still below 40°C during the experiments (Fig.5.3-W1'). The weather conditions were particularly unstable during this time period, associated to the diluted composition of the water, they have negatively influenced both photo-disinfection processes. None of the enteric bacteria strains were totally inactivated at the end of the both processes (Fig.5.3-W1). The stable irradiance at approximately 40 W.m⁻² during the first hours of the solar disinfection carried out with W2 water from 12-16h, following by its decay to approximately 25 W.m⁻²

after 2h30 has induced the total coliforms/*E. coli* strain inactivation (Fig.5.3-W2, traces (\bigcirc)). After a slight increase in both photo-disinfection systems, the temperature of the water remained below 45°C. The cumulated total dose recorded at the end of the exposure was 220 and 270 Wh.m⁻², for sole solar disinfection and photo-Fenton treatment respectively. The bad weather conditions recorded here, did not favor the synergetic effect between the irradiance (related to UV and visible part of sunlight) and thermal action (T°C) in both photo-disinfection processes. The *Salmonella* spp. strains concentration remained up to 10⁴ CFU/mL in the sample at the end of the exposure (Fig.5.3-W2, traces (\bigcirc)).

At the beginning of the photo-Fenton disinfection during this time interval, the irradiance available was more than 45 W.m⁻², leading to the total inactivation of the total coliforms/*E. coli* strains in 60 min. The slight fluctuation of the irradiance between 37 and 30 W.m⁻² during the second hour of exposure followed by its drastic decrease to approximately 12 W.m⁻² at the end of the experiment did not favor the inactivation of the resistant strains of *Salmonella* spp. and approximately 10^4 CFU/mL remained in the water at the end of the exposure. The inefficiency of the photo-Fenton process in the treatment of wells water during the raining season, as presented on these results, is not certainly related only to the optical parameter of the solar radiation alone, but also to the dilution of photo-actives chemical component of the water. Iron and others metallic ions were highly diluted by the rain water during this season (Table 5.1), it can be suggested that the iron contents of the water was not enough to ensure the fast turnover of the Fenton reagent in the illuminated system.



Figure 5.3: Inactivation of the wild enteric bacteria of wells 1 and 2, from 12-16h under direct solar radiation during the raining season. Addition of 10 mg/L of H_2O_2 to the water before the photo-Fenton experiments considering the natural iron (Fe) contents of both wells waters $0.03-0.05\pm0.02$ mg/L for W1 and $0.01-0.04\pm0.01$ mg/L for W2. Total coliforms/*E. coli* (\Box) and *Salmonella* spp. (\blacksquare) under photo-Fenton (natural Fe^{2+,3+}/H₂O₂/hv), total coliforms/*E. coli* (\bigcirc) and *Salmonella* spp. (\bigcirc) under direct solar radiation (natural Fe^{2+,3+}/H₂O₂/hv). (') evolution of water temperature [T°C], irradiance [W.m⁻²] and cumulated total dose [Wh.m⁻²] during the treatments; SL: direct solar radiation, PF: photo fenton.

5.3.3. POST-DISINFECTION EVENTS

The bacteriological analysis of the sample water from the flask kept in the dark for 24 hours after specific exposure time (table 5.2) brings out the positive effect of the continuous Fenton reaction in the dark after the photo-Fenton disinfection. Considering the duration of the water exposure to solar irradiation before their storage in the dark, the total inactivation of the entire enteric bacteria contents of the sample were recorded at different times following the photo-disinfection process involved. After 10 min of exposure only, none of the enteric bacteria strains were recorded totally inactivated during the storage for all the water samples in both

photo-disinfection processes. Reported by Berney *et al.* (2006) as resistant to photodisinfection, the *Salmonella* spp. strains have confirmed this state after the exposure to sole solar radiation by recovering their viability capacity during the storage in all the cases. In contrast the total coliforms bacteria/*E. coli* strains after being shocked by the ROS under exposure to sole solar radiation for maximum 90 min in water from W2 and 150 min in W1 were lethally affected and loss their viability during the dark storage. However, considering the fact that the *Salmonella* spp. strains exposed to sole solar radiation did not show continuous and total inactivation during the storage, the water treated by this process during the raining season could not be considered as totally disinfected and cannot be recommended for consumption.

It is however, interesting to notice that the continuous Fenton process during the dark storage led to complete the photo-Fenton inactivation initiated during the exposure to intermittent solar radiation in almost all the stored sample. The total inactivation of both enteric bacteria during the storage was recorded after 20 min of exposure in most of the cases. However, more exposure time was required in water from W2 for the resistant strain of *Salmonella* spp. during the exposure period 10-14h, as a minimum of 45 min exposure was needed to get their total inactivation during the subsequent 24h of dark storage. The complete inactivation of both enteric bacteria in all the samples subjected to photo-Fenton disinfection during the 24 hours of dark storage bring to the assumption that the continuous Fenton reaction in the dark could efficiently help to fulfill the photo-Fenton disinfection of drinking water source during the raining season without the need of extra chemical addition.

Table 5.2: Enteric bacterial regrowth evaluation (total coliforms bacteria/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp.), after the photo-disinfection and neutral photo-Fenton treatments of natural well water with or without H_2O_2 (10 mg/l) under direct solar light.

			Т	angh	in (W1)				Nonsin (W2)								
(u	10-14h				12-16h			10-14h				12-16h						
time (mi	Solar Disinfection		Photo Fenton		Solar Disinfection		Photo Fenton		S Disir	Solar Photo Disinfection Fenton		Solar Disinfection		Photo Fenton				
Exposure t	TC/E.c.	S.spp.	TC/ <i>E</i> . <i>c</i> .	S.spp.	TC/E.c.	S.spp.	TC/E.c.	S.spp.	TC/E.c.	S.spp.	TC/E.c.	S.spp.	TC/E.c.	S.spp.	TC/E.c.	S.spp.		
0	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
10	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
20	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	-	-		
30	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	-	-		
45	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	+	+	-	-		
60	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	+	+	-	-		
90	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-		
120	+	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-		
150	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-		
180	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-		
240	_	+	_	_	_	+	_	_	-	+	_	-	_	+	_	_		

-: no regrowth of bacteria after 24h, +: regrowth of bacteria after 24h, TC/*E.c.*: total coliforms/*E. coli*, *S.*spp.: *Salmonella* spp.

5.3.4. OXIDO -REDUCTION OF NITROGEN COMPOUNDS IN THE WATERS DURING THE TREATMENTS

The health risk related to high nitrite or nitrate in drinking water is mostly methaemoglobinaemia or in critical cases cancer (Weng *et al.*, 2011). The evaluation of the impact of photo-disinfection treatment on the nitrogen component of water destined to human consumption is then highly important before considering the vulgarization of the process to the users. The catalytic transformation of ammonium cation in raw water may lead to increased nitrite concentration in drinking-water (WHO, 2003). This could be linked to the ammonia photo-oxidation by OH[•] which generates NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻ (Eq. 5.6) (Brito *et al.*, 2010). However, it is also reported that, the photochemical reduction of NO₃⁻ in natural

waters leads to NO₂⁻, OH⁻, and OH[•], while that of NO₂⁻ leads to NO, OH⁻ and OH[•] (Eq 5.7-5.8) (Kotzias et al., 1987; Fanning, 2000). The impact of this redox activities is illustrated here by the results of the comparative evaluation of the initial (before the photo-disinfection) and final (after the photo-disinfection) concentration of this nitrogen component in the sample water during the treatment of both wells water. It can be noticed as presented on Figure 5.4 that the redox activities interacting between them have led to several variations of their final concentration. The increase of nitrite concentrations in all the cases after both photodisinfection processes is however remarkable. Fortunately, this increase remains far below the health-based guidelines recommended by the WHO for drinking water (3 mg/L) (WHO, 2011b). The major biological effect of nitrite in humans is its involvement in the oxidation of normal Hemoglobin (Hb) to Methemoglobin (metHb), which is then unable to transport oxygen to the tissues. High nitrate concentration, above 100 mg/l, is an important cause of metHb formation (WHO, 2011b). Nitrates in the soil are from various origins; it could be from humus degradation, fresh or composted natural organic matter. Their infiltration in wells' water can induce high concentrations (WHO, 2011b), as the one recorded in both wells' water used in this study which is greater than the restrictions of the World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines for drinking water (50 mg/l).

$$NH_4^+ \leftrightarrow NH_3 + OH^\bullet \rightarrow NH_2OH \rightarrow NOH \rightarrow NO \rightarrow NO_2^- \leftrightarrow NO_3^-$$
 (5.6)

$$NO_3^- + H_2O + hv \rightarrow NO_2^- + OH^- + OH^-$$
(5.7)

$$NO_2^- + H_2O + hv \rightarrow NO + OH^- + OH^-$$
(5.8)

Very low amount of ammonia has been detected in both wells' waters used in this study. In accordance, no health-based guideline has been prescribed for ammonia in drinking water by the World Health Organization (WHO) because it classifies it as an esthetic quality

component without a direct importance for health in the concentrations regularly recorded in natural drinking-water (WHO, 2003).



Figure 5.4: Evolution of nitrite (a), nitrate (b) and ammonia (c) concentration during the sole solar and photo-Fenton disinfection of two natural wells' water from Tanghin (W1) and Nonsin (W2) district of Ouagadougou. (Notice that the difference in the initial concentration of each chemical component in the results presented here are related to the fact that new water sample was collected and used for each new experiment).
5.3.5. PHOTO-DISINFECTION OF ENTERIC BACTERIA DURING THE SUMMER SEASON COMPARATIVELY TO RAINING SEASON

During summer season 2011, significant inactivation rate of both wild enteric bacteria were obtained during the photo-Fenton disinfection of water from W1 in the CPC. Total inactivation of both enteric bacteria (Salmonella spp. included) was also obtained during the solar disinfection in CPC of water from W1 at the same period (c.f. Chapter 3, Fig. 3.3). The deficiency noted in both photo-disinfection processes during the raining season 2011 presented in this study in comparison to the previous successful ones conducted during the summer season, highlights the parameters which influence in first order, the efficiency of these processes at field scale. During the summer season 2011, the total inactivation of the entire enteric bacterial content of the water sample (Salmonella spp. included) were achieved in 120 min under photo-Fenton disinfection initiated at 8 o'clock in the morning for 6 hours exposure. The high, intensive and stable irradiance available in this season, was leading to fast temperature rise and consequently a synergistic action of optical and thermal inactivation were noticed. This effect was enhanced when the photo-disinfection experiments were initiated at 10 or 12 o'clock. The total inactivation of the enteric bacteria contents of the water samples was achieved after approximately 90 and 45 min respectively for the experiments which were began at 10 and 12 o'clock (c.f. Chapter 3, Fig. 3.3). From the observed results and considering the impact of the worst weather conditions on efficiency of the photo-Fenton in this study, the availability of high, intense and stable irradiance acting as optical effect could be consider as the principal factors of influence of the process. Noticed that, this irradiance has significant impact on the temperature increase and consequently on the thermal effect. In last, the cumulated total dose of the solar radiation recorded during the effective disinfection time (EDT) of both enteric bacteria during the summer season was very low (c.f. Chapter 3, Fig. 3.3) comparatively to the one recorded for the total coliforms/E. coli only during the raining season in this study. These observations confirm that the dose did not have a particular influence on the photo-disinfection as previously noticed (c.f. Chapter 3, Fig. 3.3). Therefore, this parameter cannot be considered in first order, for monitoring of the photo-Fenton disinfection.

5.3.6. EFFECT OF INTERMITTENCE ON INACTIVATION MECHANISMS

As optical and thermal inactivation mechanisms are involved simultaneously to induce lethal damage on bacteria under sole solar disinfection, the bacterial inactivation cannot be linearly proportional to the light intensity only. Considering the situation where several intermittence of cloudy and sunny time's are involved in the photo-disinfecting system as the one observed in this study, the capacity of the bacteria or other microorganism to escape the ROS attack can significantly affect the kinetic of the process. In presence of resistant strains such as *Salmonella* spp. the probability to have a negative result as the one obtained her is really high. The inactivation of the total coliforms/*E. coli* strains were recorded in some cases certainly due to the fact that it's the most weakened strain of the enteric bacteria involved in the solution and were then more sensible to the ROS available. Rincon and Pulgarin (2004a) have made the same assertion on the negative effect of the intermittence of several short exposure times on the efficiency of photo-disinfection. They have noticed that this situation favor the bacteria ability to repair light-induced oxidative stress.

5.3.7. PATHWAY OF THE ROS ATTACKS

When concentration of ROS increases to a level that exceeds the cell's defense capacity, this is called oxidative stress (Cabiscol *et al.*, 2000). When this increase is caused by the generation of ROS due to solar radiation and the simultaneous photo-inactivation of catalase and SOD as well as the internal photo-release of Fe^{2+} , this can be referred to photo-oxidative stress Reed *et al.* (2000). Both, a transient iron (Fe^{2+} or $^{3+}$) overload as well as increased internal H₂O₂ concentrations can be induced by solar radiation and produces strongly

V. CHAPTER V

favorable conditions for the production into the cell of highly reactive 'OH and other toxic oxygen species (Eqs. 5.1-5.4). Even though the internal generation of the Fe^{2+ or 3+} or H₂O₂ depends on irradiation, the resulting reaction of Fe²⁺ with H₂O₂ can also take place in the dark, once the reactive are available unless the photo-induced cellular dysfunctions are repaired. However, the synergistic effect of the intracellular presence of H₂O₂ and UVA and visible light which arises from the photo-inactivation of catalase and SOD (enzymes) and the toxic effect of the intracellular presence of H₂O₂ and iron has an highly lethal effect on cellular DNA (Eisenstark, 1998; Imlay, 2008). The potential toxicity of the reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as H₂O₂, to cells is directly linked to the intracellular concentration of iron, as a partner of the internal Fenton reaction.

The rate of the generation of 'OH and the cellular damage which is consequently caused in presence of ROS, such as H_2O_2 and O_2^{-} , depends on the availability of free or loosely bound iron available to undergo the Fenton reaction with H_2O_2 , as well as the site of formation of the resulting radical. In effect, under solar radiation Fe^{2+} can be directly liberated when UVA light damages iron containing proteins such as enterobactin or ferritin (Hoerter *et al.*, 1996; Tyrrell *et al.*, 2000). Further, similarly to O_2^{--} , H_2O_2 can cause the oxidation of iron sulfur clusters ([4Fe-4S]) and the release of Fe^{3+} , which if reduced to Fe^{2+} , contributes to intracellular Fenton reactions (Imlay, 2003). A major portion of the toxicity of H_2O_2 in *E. coli* is attributed to DNA damage mediated by a Fenton reaction that generates 'OH and a whole series of other radical reactions, when H_2O_2 reacts with Fe^{2+} via the intracellular Fenton reaction Haber and Weiss; (Imlay and Linn, 1988). While H_2O_2 is a relatively stable oxidant, 'OH is an extremely powerful oxidant that reacts at nearly diffusion-limited rates near the site of its formation and is very effective for initiating lipid peroxidation chains. Therefore, iron as a partner for the Fenton reaction plays also an important role in the photooxidative stress induced cellular damage by catalyzing the propagation reaction (Gutteridge,

1982). The presence of an excessive intracellular Fe^{2+} concentrations can lead to the generation of 'OH via intracellular Fenton reactions when reacting with metabolic H₂O₂ (Imlay and Linn, 1988; Imlay, 2003; Imlay, 2008). Therefore, Fe^{2+} has highly bactericidal properties in some circumstances as it can be observed in well waters which contain little oxygen and therefore stable Fe^{2+} (Touati, 2000).

5.4. CONCLUSION

The weather variation, especially during the raining season, did not lead to sufficient conditions to ensure the normal solar disinfection. The efficiency of the photo-Fenton was also significantly reduced under these bad weather conditions. However, the opportunity to achieve the full disinfection of the enteric bacteria with the continuous Fenton process during the dark storage, gives the presumption to consider the possibility of exploiting the complementarities of the photo-Fenton and Fenton processes to ensure an efficient disinfection of the drinking water source in Sahelian region during the raining season.

The *Salmonella* spp. strains exposed to sole solar radiation did not show continuous and total inactivation during the storage as it was the case for total coliforms/*E. coli*. Therefore, water treated by this process during the raining season could not be considered as totally disinfected and cannot be recommended for consumption. The impact of the available irradiance on the efficiency of the photo-Fenton disinfection of natural water was highlighted during the exposure under high intermittent solar radiation. Considering it high impact on the photo-disinfecting process conducted during the summer season, it should be consider as the principal parameter of the process.

The negative effect of the very low iron contents of the entire sample water treated in this study; it is assumed that the Fenton reagent was not enough to ensure significantly the photo-Fenton reaction during the exposure. From this observation, we suggest for further evaluation

V. CHAPTER V

of the photo-Fenton disinfection of water during the raining season, to update the iron contents of the sample before the treatment at the optimum level recorded in such water during the summer season to ensure the availability of the Fenton reagent in the water. However, considering the fact that the continuous Fenton, reaction during the dark storage ensure with the residual H_2O_2 contents of the water the total inactivation of it entire enteric bacteria contents, the photo-Fenton treated water with very low natural iron content carried out during the raining season could be kept for complete disinfection during the storage (24h).

The possible impact of the HCO₃⁻ concentration of both wells' water on the evolution of the pH during the photo-disinfection was recorded, with a drastic decrease noticed after the initial fast increase in presence of low HCO₃⁻ concentration while a plateau was observed in presence of higher concentration in all the cases. However, further research on the different parameters of the photo-disinfection which could influence the pH evolution during the process should be conducted to confirm this assertion. The redox activities of the nitrogen components of the water during both photo-disinfection processes has led to increase concentration of nitrite in all the cases and variations were noticed in that of nitrate and ammonia. Fortunately, the nitrite increase remains far below the restriction of the WHO. However, it should be useful to investigate on the impact of this redox activities on the byproducts of the photo-disinfected water.

6.1. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

Throughout this study, several trial experiments of the solar photo-disinfection were carried out. After the systematic assessment of the processes at laboratory scale on a solar simulator, specific experiments were conducted at field scale in a compound parabolic collector (CPC) solar reactor. It has been noticed at laboratory scale in the solar simulator, that the efficiency of the photo-Fenton was more significant in natural waters with low natural iron concentration compared to the system containing simulated water with added iron. It was also noticed that the enhancement of the photo-disinfection by photo-Fenton under solar simulator was efficient with very low H₂O₂ concentration (4 mg/L). However, at field scale in the CPC, the high oxygenation of the water due to its recirculation has lead to a fast degradation of H₂O₂. It was no more detectable after 2 to 3 hours of irradiation, when it was performed with an initial

VI. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

concentration of 5 mg/L. To overcome this lack of H_2O_2 in the system, an optimal concentration of 10 mg / L was efficiently used in all the remaining experiments. Significant influence of the solar irradiance but not the dose was noticed during the process. Higher irradiance level leads to less effective disinfection time and dose required in order to achieve bacterial disinfection. The photo-disinfection treatment was efficiently enhanced by photo-Fenton at alkaline pH. Solar irradiance was recorded as the key factor for both photo-disinfection processes (bare solar and solar enhanced with photo-Fenton). However, the effectiveness of the processes decreased when carried out under a low solar irradiance (of less than $12W.m^{-2}$) and a temperature of less than $40^{\circ}C$.

Moreover, it was observed that the photo-Fenton process ensures the irreversible inactivation of the enteric bacteria. The resistance of the *Salmonella* spp. strain under uniquely solar disinfection treatment was also recorded. All the sample treated without addition of H_2O_2 (photo-Fenton) showed *Salmonella* spp. regrowth after 24h of dark storage. The neutral photo-Fenton treatment has significantly enhanced the inactivation rate of the disinfection in all cases, without the need to reach 50°C, as required for classical SODIS bottles process. None of the enteric bacteria strains (total coliform/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp.), showed regrowth one week after the photo-Fenton treatment. Therefore, to efficiently disinfect the water under uniquely solar radiation, it is important to expose it for more than 4 hours under high solar irradiance and impose a temperature increase of up to 45°C, to ensure the simultaneous irreversible inactivation of total coliform/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp.

The pH becomes more alkaline during both neutral photo-Fenton and solar treatment. This pH increase was not detrimental to the photo-Fenton and bare solar disinfection, and could be beneficial for the Sahelian groundwaters which are originally acidic. The water quality could simultaneously be improved through photo-Fenton disinfection. Moreover, an effect of the pH on the sensitivity of the enteric bacteria *Salmonella* spp. to photo-disinfection was observed

VI. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

during this study. A better inactivation rate than for coliforms/*E. coli* at near-to-neutral pH (W2, pH: 6.3) (cf. Chapter 2) and at alkaline pH (8.6) (cf. Chapter 4) was shown. This side effect could be useful for the application of the process. The regrowth of *Salmonella* spp. strains during the storage after bare solar disinfection negatively affected it efficiency. With the record of their sensitivity at near-to neutral or alkaline pH, the possibility of improving the quality of the water during the photo-disinfection, by enhancing the pH, should be considered.

Significant variations of the nitrogen compounds state during both photo-disinfection processes (uniquely solar, photo-Fenton) were recorded. The oxido-reduction of nitrates and nitrites and the oxidation of ammonia during the treatment (increase of nitrates and nitrite and decrease of ammonia), has highlighted the possibility of photo-disinfection by products generation during the treatment.

6.2. PERSPECTIVES

Before the tested system with photo-Fenton can be applied for the treatment of drinking water at large scale, following researches should be conducted.

- The cost estimation of the photo-Fenton treatment at point-of use level with the optimal volume of water which could be treated, the cost effectiveness (price/liter), the optimal set-up (e.g. semi-enhanced and household-level, associated costs/liter) and operation and maintenance requirements.
- The evaluation of the optimal and/or minimum iron concentration to ensure an effective photo-Fenton disinfection during both seasons (summer/dry and raining)

VI. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

- The evaluation of the water quality after the photo-Fenton treatment to ensure its acceptance by the users followed by the evaluation of the sustainability of the process in a target population.
- The characterization of nitrite and other nitrogen byproducts formation during the photo-disinfection and the fate of heavy metals (e.g. arsenic) during the process with the evaluation of their possible health impact.
- The effect of the NOM and the chemical composition of natural water especially HCO₃⁻ contents, on the photo-Fenton process, followed by the evaluation of their impact on the pH evolution during the photo-disinfecting treatment.
- Evaluate of the possible sources of H₂O₂ production at point-of-use level as well as the conception and production of hydrogen peroxide pellets in easily usable dose for photo-Fenton treatment which could help to facilitate its vulgarization.

- Acra, A., Ayoub, G., 1997. Experimental evaluation of a novel photodynamic water disinfection technique. Journal of Water Supply Research and Technology-Aqua 46, 218-223.
- Acra, A., Jurdi, M., Allem, H.M., Karahagopian, Y., Raffoul, Z., 1989. Sunlight as disinfectant. Lancet 1, 280-280.
- Acra, A., Karahagopian, Y., Raffoul, Z., Dajani, R., 1980. Disinfection of oral rehydration solutions by sunlight. Lancet 2, 1257-1258.
- Arenas, F.A., Covarrubias, P.C., Sandoval, J.M., Perez-Donoso, J.M., Imlay, J.A., Vasquez, C.C., 2011. The Escherichia coli BtuE Protein Functions as a Resistance Determinant against Reactive Oxygen Species. Plos One 6.
- Auffan, M.I., Achouak, W., Rose, J.r., Roncato, M.-A., Chanéac, C., Waite, D.T., Masion, A., Woicik, J.C., Wiesner, M.R., Bottero, J.-Y., 2008. Relation between the Redox State of Iron-Based Nanoparticles and Their Cytotoxicity toward Escherichia coli. Environmental Science & Technology 42, 6730-6735.
- Ayodele, O.B., Lim, J.K., Hameed, B.H., 2012. Degradation of phenol in photo-Fenton process by phosphoric acid modified kaolin supported ferric-oxalate catalyst: Optimization and kinetic modeling. Chemical Engineering Journal 197, 181-192.
- Bandala, E.R., Corona-Vasquez, B., Guisar, R., Uscanga, M., 2009. Deactivation of highly resistant microorganisms in water using solar driven photocatalytic processes. International Journal of Chemical Reactor Engineering 7.
- Bandala, E.R., Gonzalez, L., de la Hoz, F., Pelaez, M.A., Dionysiou, D.D., Dunlop, P.S.M., Byrne, J.A., Sanchez, J.L., 2011. Application of azo dyes as dosimetric indicators for enhanced photocatalytic solar disinfection (ENPHOSODIS). Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology a-Chemistry 218, 185-191.
- Bandala, E.R., Gonzalez, L., Sanchez-Salas, J.L., Castillo, J.H., 2012. Inactivation of Ascaris eggs in water using sequential solar driven photo-Fenton and free chlorine. Journal of Water and Health 10, 20-30.
- Bandara, J., Nadtochenko, V., Kiwi, J., Pulgarin, C., 1997. Dynamics of oxidant addition as a parameter in the modelling of dye mineralization (Orange II) via advanced oxidation technologies. Water Science and Technology 35, 87-93.
- Ben Yahmed, D., 2005. Atlas de l'Afrique: Burkina Faso. Du Jaguar, Paris.
- Berney, M., Weilenmann, H.U., Simonetti, A., Egli, T., 2006. Efficacy of solar disinfection of Escherichia coli, Shigella flexneri, Salmonella Typhimurium and Vibrio cholerae. J. Appl. Microbiol. 101, 828-836.
- Bichai, F., Inmaculada Polo-Lopez, M., Fernandez Ibanez, P., 2012. Solar disinfection of wastewater to reduce contamination of lettuce crops by Escherichia coli in reclaimed water irrigation. Water Research 46, 6040-6050.
- Bosshard, F., Berney, M., Scheifele, M., Weilenmann, H.-U., Egli, T., 2009. Solar disinfection (SODIS) and subsequent dark storage of Salmonella typhimurium and Shigella flexneri monitored by flow cytometry. Microbiology-Sgm 155, 1310-1317.
- Boyle, M., Sichel, C., Fernandez-Ibanez, P., Arias-Quiroz, G.B., Iriarte-Puna, M., Mercado, A., Ubomba-Jaswa, E., McGuigan, K.G., 2008. Bactericidal effect of solar water disinfection under real sunlight conditions. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 74, 2997-3001.
- Braun, V., 2001. Iron uptake mechanisms and their regulation in pathogenic bacteria. International Journal of Medical Microbiology 291, 67-79.
- Brito, N.N., Paterniani, J.E.S., Broto, G.A., Pelegrini, R.T., 2010. Ammonia removal from leachate by photochemical process using H₂O₂. Ambi-Agua 5, 51-60.

- Byrne, J.A., Fernandez-Ibanez, P.A., Dunlop, P.S.M., Alrousan, D.M.A., Hamilton, J.W.J., 2011. Photocatalytic Enhancement for Solar Disinfection of Water: A Review. International Journal of Photoenergy.
- Cabiscol, E., Tamarit, J., Ros, J., 2000. Oxidative stress in bacteria and protein damage by reactive oxygen species. International microbiology : the official journal of the Spanish Society for Microbiology 3, 3-8.
- Canonica, S., Jans, U., Stemmler, K., Hoigne, J., 1995. Transformation kinetics of phenols in water photosensitization by dissolved natural organic material and aromatic ketones. Environmental Science & Technology 29, 1822-1831.
- Carra, I., Casas López, J.L., Santos-Juanes, L., Malato, S., Sánchez Pérez, J.A., 2012. Iron dosage as a strategy to operate the photo-Fenton process at initial neutral pH. Chemical Engineering Journal.
- CAWST, 2011. Water, Hygiene and Sanitation presentation. In: Technology, C.f.A.W.S. (Ed.). CAWST, Africa.
- Cho, M., Lee, Y., Chung, H., Yoon, J., 2004. Inactivation of Escherichia coli by Photochemical Reaction of Ferrioxalate at Slightly Acidic and Near-Neutral pHs. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70, 1129-1134.
- Cieśla, P., Kocot, P., Mytych, P., Stasicka, Z., 2004. Homogeneous photocatalysis by transition metal complexes in the environment. Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical 224, 17-33.
- Conroy, R.M., Meegan, M.E., Joyce, T., McGuigan, K., Barnes, J., 2001. Solar disinfection of drinking water protects against cholera in children under 6 years of age. Archives of Disease in Childhood 85, 293-295.
- Cory, R.M., Cotner, J.B., McNeill, K., 2008. Quantifying Interactions between Singlet Oxygen and Aquatic Fulvic Acids. Environmental Science & Technology 43, 718-723.
- Curtis, T.P., Mara, D.D., Silva, S.A., 1992. INFLUENCE OF PH, OXYGEN, AND HUMIC SUBSTANCES ON ABILITY OF SUNLIGHT TO DAMAGE FECAL-COLIFORMS IN WASTE STABILIZATION POND WATER. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 58, 1335-1343.
- Davies, M.J., 2003. Singlet oxygen-mediated damage to proteins and its consequences. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 305, 761-770.
- Dickenson, E.R.V., Summers, R.S., Croué, J.-P., Gallard, H., 2008. Haloacetic acid and Trihalomethane Formation from the Chlorination and Bromination of Aliphatic β-Dicarbonyl Acid Model Compounds. Environmental Science & Technology 42, 3226-3233.
- Downes, A., Blunt, T.P., 1877. Researches on the Effect of Light upon Bacteria and other Organisms. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London 26, 488-500.
- Du Preez, M., Conroy, R.M., Ligondo, S., Hennessy, J., Elmore-Meegan, M., Soita, A., McGuigan, K.G., 2011. Randomized Intervention Study of Solar Disinfection of Drinking Water in the Prevention of Dysentery in Kenyan Children Aged under 5 Years. Environmental Science & Technology 45, 9315-9323.
- Eisenstark, A., 1998. Bacterial gene products in response to near-ultraviolet radiation. Mutation Research-Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis 422, 85-95.
- Fanning, J.C., 2000. The chemical reduction of nitrate in aqueous solution. Coordination Chemistry Reviews 199, 159-179.
- Faust, B.C., Zepp, R.G., 1993. Photochemistry of aqueous iron(III)-polycarboxylate complexes: roles in the chemistry of atmospheric and surface waters. Environmental Science & Technology 27, 2517-2522.
- Feng, W., Nansheng, D., 2000. Photochemistry of hydrolytic iron (III) species and photoinduced degradation of organic compounds. A minireview. Chemosphere 41, 1137-1147.
- Fenton, H.J.H., 1894. LXXIII.-Oxidation of tartaric acid in presence of iron. Journal of the Chemical Society, Transactions 65, 899-910.
- Fernandez, P., Blanco, J., Sichel, C., Malato, S., 2005. Water disinfection by solar photocatalysis using compound parabolic collectors. Catalysis Today 101, 345-352.
- Fridovich, I., 2011. Superoxide Dismutases: Anti-Versus Pro- Oxidants? Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry 11, 175-177.

- Gallard, H., von Gunten, U., 2002. Chlorination of natural organic matter: kinetics of chlorination and of THM formation. Water Research 36, 65-74.
- Georgi, A., Reichl, A., Trommler, U., Kopinke, F.-D., 2007. Influence of sorption to dissolved humic substances on transformation reactions of hydrophobic organic compounds in water. I. Chlorination of PAHs. Environmental Science & Technology 41, 7003-7009.
- Gernjak, W., Maldonado, M.I., Malato, S., Cáceres, J., Krutzler, T., Glaser, A., Bauer, R., 2004. Pilotplant treatment of olive mill wastewater (OMW) by solar TiO2 photocatalysis and solar photo-Fenton. Sol. Energy 77, 567-572.
- Ghadermarzi, M., Moosavi-Movahedi, A.A., 1996. Determination of the kinetic parameters for the "suicide substrate" inactivation of bovine liver catalase by hydrogen peroxide. Journal of Enzyme Inhibition 10, 167-175.
- Gourmelon, M., Cillard, J., Pommepuy, M., 1994. Visible light damage to Escherichia coli in seawater: oxidative stress hypothesis. J. Appl. Microbiol. 77, 105-112.
- Guo, G., Chen, X., 2009. Halogenating reaction activity of aromatic organic compounds during disinfection of drinking water. Journal of Hazardous Materials 163, 1207-1212.
- Gutteridge, J.M.C., 1982. The role of superoxide and hydroxyl radicals in phospholipid peroxidation catalysed by iron salts. Febs Letters 150, 454-458.
- Haag, W.R., Hoigné, J., 1985. Photo-sensitized oxidation in natural water via .OH radicals. Chemosphere 14, 1659-1671.
- Haber, F., Weiss, J., 1934. The Catalytic Decomposition of Hydrogen Peroxide by Iron Salts. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Mathematical and Physical Sciences 147, 332-351.
- HACH, 2001. DR/2000 Spectrophotometer. Procedures Manual. Hach Company, U.S.A.
- Halliwell, B., Chirico, S., 1993. LIPID-PEROXIDATION ITS MECHANISM, MEASUREMENT, AND SIGNIFICANCE. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 57, S715-S725.
- Halliwell, B., Gutteridge, J.M.C., 1992. BIOLOGICALLY RELEVANT METAL ION-DEPENDENT HYDROXYL RADICAL GENERATION - AN UPDATE. Febs Letters 307, 108-112.
- Hartman, P.S., Eisenstark, A., 1978. SYNERGISTIC KILLING OF ESCHERICHIA-COLI BY NEAR-UV RADIATION AND HYDROGEN-PEROXIDE - DISTINCTION BETWEEN RECA-REPAIRABLE AND RECA-NONREPAIRABLE DAMAGE. Journal of Bacteriology 133, 769-774.
- Henle, E.S., Linn, S., 1997. Formation, prevention, and repair of DNA damage by iron hydrogen peroxide. Journal of Biological Chemistry 272, 19095-19098.
- Herrara, F., Pulgarin, C., Nadtochenko, V., Kiwi, J., 1998. Accelerated photo-oxidation of concentrated p-coumaric acid in homogeneous solution. Mechanistic studies, intermediates and precursors formed in the dark. Appl. Catal. B-Environ. 17, 141-156.
- Herrera, F., Pulgarin, C., Nadtochenko, V., Kiwi, J., 1998. Accelerated photo-oxidation of concentrated p-coumaric acid in homogeneous solution. Mechanistic studies, intermediates and precursors formed in the dark. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 17, 141-156.
- Hoerter, J., Pierce, A., Troupe, C., Epperson, J., Eisenstark, A., 1996. Role of Enterobactin and Intracellular Iron in Cell Lethality During Near-UV Irradiation in Escherichia coli. Photochemistry and Photobiology 64, 537-541.
- Hoerter, J.D., Arnold, A.A., Ward, C.S., Sauer, M., Johnson, S., Fleming, T., Eisenstark, A., 2005. Reduced hydroperoxidase (HPI and HPII) activity in the Δfur mutant contributes to increased sensitivity to UVA radiation in Escherichia coli. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology 79, 151-157.
- Hunter, P.R., 2009. Household Water Treatment in Developing Countries: Comparing Different Intervention Types Using Meta-Regression. Environmental Science & Technology 43, 8991-8997.
- Imlay, J.A., 2003. Pathways of oxidative damage. Annual Review of Microbiology 57, 395-418.
- Imlay, J.A., 2006. Iron-sulphur clusters and the problem with oxygen. Molecular Microbiology 59, 1073-1082.
- Imlay, J.A., 2008. Cellular defenses against superoxide and hydrogen peroxide. Annual Review of Biochemistry, pp. 755-776.

- Imlay, J.A., Chin, S.M., Linn, S., 1988. TOXIC DNA DAMAGE BY HYDROGEN-PEROXIDE THROUGH THE FENTON REACTION INVIVO AND INVITRO. Science 240, 640-642.
- Imlay, J.A., Linn, S., 1988. DNA DAMAGE AND OXYGEN RADICAL TOXICITY. Science 240, 1302-1309.
- Jang, S., Imlay, J.A., 2010. Hydrogen peroxide inactivates the Escherichia coli Isc iron-sulphur assembly system, and OxyR induces the Suf system to compensate. Molecular Microbiology 78, 1448-1467.
- Jiang, C., Pang, S., Ouyang, F., Ma, J., Jiang, J., 2010. A new insight into Fenton and Fenton-like processes for water treatment. Journal of Hazardous Materials 174, 813-817.
- Jiménez-Hernández, M.E., Manjón, F., García-Fresnadillo, D., Orellana, G., 2006. Solar water disinfection by singlet oxygen photogenerated with polymer-supported Ru(II) sensitizers. Sol. Energy 80, 1382-1387.
- Joyce, T.M., McGuigan, K.G., ElmoreMeegan, M., Conroy, R.M., 1996. Inactivation of fecal bacteria in drinking water by solar heating. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 62, 399-402.
- Kehoe, S.C., Joyce, T.M., Ibrahim, P., Gillespie, J.B., Shahar, R.A., McGuigan, K.G., 2001. Effect of agitation, turbidity, aluminium foil reflectors and container volume on the inactivation efficiency of batch-process solar disinfectors. Water Research 35, 1061-1065.
- Kellogg, E.W., Fridovich, I., 1975. SUPEROXIDE, HYDROGEN-PEROXIDE, AND SINGLET OXYGEN IN LIPID PEROXIDATION BY A XANTHINE-OXIDASE SYSTEM. Journal of Biological Chemistry 250, 8812-8817.
- Kenfack, S., Sarria, V., Wethe, J., Cisse, G., Maiga, A.H., Klutse, A., Pulgarin, C., 2009. From Laboratory Studies to the Field Applications of Advanced Oxidation Processes: A Case Study of Technology Transfer from Switzerland to Burkina Faso on the Field of Photochemical Detoxification of Biorecalcitrant Chemical Pollutants in Water. International Journal of Photoenergy.
- Khaengraeng, R., Reed, R.H., 2005. Oxygen and photoinactivation of Escherichia coli in UVA and sunlight. J. Appl. Microbiol. 99, 39-50.
- Kochany, J., Lipczynskakochany, E., 1992. APPLICATION OF THE EPR SPIN-TRAPPING TECHNIQUE FOR THE INVESTIGATION OF THE REACTIONS OF CARBONATE, BICARBONATE, AND PHOSPHATE ANIONS WITH HYDROXYL RADICALS GENERATED BY THE PHOTOLYSIS OF H2O2. Chemosphere 25, 1769-1782.
- Kohn, T., Nelson, K.L., 2006. Sunlight-Mediated Inactivation of MS2 Coliphage via Exogenous Singlet Oxygen Produced by Sensitizers in Natural Waters. Environmental Science & Technology 41, 192-197.
- Kotzias, D., Hustert, K., Wieser, A., 1987. Formation of oxygen species and their reactions with organic-chemicals in aqueous-solution. Chemosphere 16, 505-511.
- Kruszewski, M., 2003. Labile iron pool: the main determinant of cellular response to oxidative stress. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis 531, 81-92.
- Lee, C., Kim, J.Y., Lee, W.I., Nelson, K.L., Yoon, J., Sedlak, D.L., 2008. Bactericidal Effect of Zero-Valent Iron Nanoparticles on Escherichia coli. Environmental Science & Technology 42, 4927-4933.
- Lipczynska-Kochany, E., Kochany, J., 2008. Effect of humic substances on the Fenton treatment of wastewater at acidic and neutral pH. Chemosphere 73, 745-750.
- Mahvi, H.A., 2007. Feasibility of solar energy in disinfection of drinking water in Iran. American-Eurasian J. Agric. & Environ. Sci. 2, 407-410.
- Malato, S., Fernandez-Ibanez, P., Maldonado, M.I., Blanco, J., Gernjak, W., 2009. Decontamination and disinfection of water by solar photocatalysis: Recent overview and trends. Catalysis Today 147, 1-59.
- Marques, A.R., Gomes, F.D.C.O., Fonseca, M.P.P., Parreira, J.S., Santos, V.P., 2013. Efficiency of PET reactors in solar water disinfection for use in southeastern Brazil. Sol. Energy 87, 158-167.
- Martínez, F., Calleja, G., Melero, J.A., Molina, R., 2005. Heterogeneous photo-Fenton degradation of phenolic aqueous solutions over iron-containing SBA-15 catalyst. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 60, 181-190.

- Marugan, J., van Grieken, R., Sordo, C., Cruz, C., 2008. Kinetics of the photocatalytic disinfection of Escherichia coli suspensions. Appl. Catal. B-Environ. 82, 27-36.
- Mäusezahl, D., Christen, A., Pacheco, G.D., Tellez, F.A., Iriarte, M., Zapata, M.E., Cevallos, M., Hattendorf, J., Cattaneo, M.D., Arnold, B., Smith, T.A., Colford, J.M., Jr., 2009. Solar Drinking Water Disinfection (SODIS) to Reduce Childhood Diarrhoea in Rural Bolivia: A Cluster-Randomized, Controlled Trial. Plos Medicine 6.
- Mazille, F., Moncayo-Lasso, A., Spuhler, D., Serra, A., Peral, J., Benítez, N.L., Pulgarin, C., 2010. Comparative evaluation of polymer surface functionalization techniques before iron oxide deposition. Activity of the iron oxide-coated polymer films in the photo-assisted degradation of organic pollutants and inactivation of bacteria. Chemical Engineering Journal 160, 176-184.
- McGuigan, K.G., Joyce, T.M., Conroy, R.M., 1999. Solar disinfection: use of sunlight to decontaminate drinking water in developing countries. Journal of Medical Microbiology 48, 785-787.
- McGuigan, K.G., Joyce, T.M., Conroy, R.M., Gillespie, J.B., Elmore-Meegan, M., 1998. Solar disinfection of drinking water contained in transparent plastic bottles: characterizing the bacterial inactivation process. J. Appl. Microbiol. 84, 1138-1148.
- McGuigan, K.G., Samaiyar, P., du Preez, M., Conroy, R.M., 2011. High Compliance Randomized Controlled Field Trial of Solar Disinfection of Drinking Water and Its Impact on Childhood Diarrhea in Rural Cambodia. Environmental Science & Technology 45, 7862-7867.
- Meierhofer, R., Wegelin, M., 2002. Solar Water Disinfection: A Guide for the Application of SODIS. Eawag/Sandec, Dübendorf, p. 88.
- Michael, I., Hapeshi, E., Michael, C., Varela, A.R., Kyriakou, S., Manaia, C.M., Fatta-Kassinos, D., 2012. Solar photo-Fenton process on the abatement of antibiotics at a pilot scale: Degradation kinetics, ecotoxicity and phytotoxicity assessment and removal of antibiotic resistant enterococci. Water Research 46, 5621-5634.
- Moncayo-Lasso, A., Pulgarin, C., Benitez, N., 2008a. Degradation of DBPs' precursors in river water before and after slow sand filtration by photo-Fenton process at pH 5 in a solar CPC reactor. Water Research 42, 4125-4132.
- Moncayo-Lasso, A., Sanabria, J., Pulgarin, C., Benitez, N., 2009. Simultaneous *E-coli* inactivation and NOM degradation in river water via photo-Fenton process at natural pH in solar CPC reactor. A new way for enhancing solar disinfection of natural water. Chemosphere 77, 296-300.
- Moncayo-Lasso, A., Torres-Palma, R.A., Kiwi, J., Benitez, N., Pulgarin, C., 2008b. Bacterial inactivation and organic oxidation via immobilized photo-Fenton reagent on structured silica surfaces. Appl. Catal. B-Environ. 84, 577-583.
- Murray, C.A., Parsons, S.A., 2004. Removal of NOM from drinking water: Fenton's and photo-Fenton's processes. Chemosphere 54, 1017-1023.
- Navntoft, C., Ubomba-Jaswa, E., McGuigan, K.G., Fernandez-Ibanez, P., 2008. Effectiveness of solar disinfection using batch reactors with non-imaging aluminium reflectors under real conditions: Natural well-water and solar light. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B-Biol. 93, 155-161.
- Ndounla, J., Spuhler, D., Kenfack, S., Wéthé, J., Pulgarin, C., 2013. Inactivation by solar photo-Fenton in pet bottles of wild enteric bacteria of natural well water: Absence of re-growth after one week of subsequent storage. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 129, 309-317.
- Neilands, J.B., 1995. Siderophores: Structure and Function of Microbial Iron Transport Compounds. Journal of Biological Chemistry 270, 26723-26726.
- Paul, A., Hackbarth, S., Vogt, R.D., Roder, B., Burnison, B.K., Steinberg, C.E.W., 2004. Photogeneration of singlet oxygen by humic substances: comparison of humic substances of aquatic and terrestrial origin. Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences 3, 273-280.
- Pignatello, J.J., Oliveros, E., MacKay, A., 2006. Advanced oxidation processes for organic contaminant destruction based on the Fenton reaction and related chemistry. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology 36, 1-84.
- Polo-Lopez, M.I., Fernandez-Ibanez, P., Ubomba-Jaswa, E., Navntoft, C., Garcia-Fernandez, I., Dunlop, P.S.M., Schmid, M., Byrne, J.A., McGuigan, K.G., 2011a. Elimination of water pathogens with solar radiation using an automated sequential batch CPC reactor. Journal of Hazardous Materials 196, 16-21.

- Polo-Lopez, M.I., Garcia-Fernandez, I., Oller, I., Fernandez-Ibanez, P., 2011b. Solar disinfection of fungal spores in water aided by low concentrations of hydrogen peroxide. Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences 10, 381-388.
- Polo-Lopez, M.I., Garcia-Fernandez, I., Velegraki, T., Katsoni, A., Oller, I., Mantzavinos, D., Fernandez-Ibanez, P., 2012. Mild solar photo-Fenton: An effective tool for the removal of Fusarium from simulated municipal effluents. Appl. Catal. B-Environ. 111, 545-554.
- Pourzand, C., Watkin, R.D., Brown, J.E., Tyrrell, R.M., 1999. Ultraviolet A radiation induces immediate release of iron in human primary skin fibroblasts: The role of ferritin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 96, 6751-6756.
- Pulgarin, C., Kiwi, J., 1996. Overview on photocatalytic and electrocatalytic pretreatment of industrial non-biodegradable pollutants and pesticides. Chimia 50, 50-55.
- Pulgarin, C., Peringer, P., Albers, P., Kiwi, J., 1995. Effect of FE-ZSM-5 Zeolite on the photochemical and biochemical degradation of 4-Nitrophenol. Journal of Molecular Catalysis a-Chemical 95, 61-74.
- Rajendran, M., Gandhidasan, R., Murugesan, R., 2004. Photosensitisation and photoinduced DNA cleavage by four naturally occurring anthraquinones. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry 168, 67-73.
- Reed, R.H., 1997. Solar inactivation of faecal bacteria in water: the critical role of oxygen. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 24, 276-280.
- Reed, R.H., 2004. The inactivation of microbes by sunlight: Solar disinfection as a water treatment process. Advances in Applied Microbiology, Vol 54 54, 333-365.
- Reed, R.H., Mani, S.K., Meyer, V., 2000. Solar photo-oxidative disinfection of drinking water: preliminary field observations. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 30, 432-436.
- Rengifo-Herrera, J.A., Pierzchała, K., Sienkiewicz, A., Forró, L., Kiwi, J., Pulgarin, C., 2009. Abatement of organics and Escherichia coli by N, S co-doped TiO2 under UV and visible light. Implications of the formation of singlet oxygen (1O2) under visible light. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 88, 398-406.
- Ribordy, P., Pulgarin, C., Kiwi, J., Péringer, P., 1997. Electrochemical versus photochemical pretreatment of industrial wastewaters. Water Science and Technology 35, 293-302.
- Rincon, A.-G., Pulgarin, C., 2007a. Absence of E-coli regrowth after Fe3+ and TiO2 solar photoassisted disinfection of water in CPC solar photoreactor. Catalysis Today 124, 204-214.
- Rincon, A.-G., Pulgarin, C., 2007b. Solar photolytic and photocatalytic disinfection of water at. laboratory and field scale. Effect of the chemical composition of water and study of the postirradiation events. Journal of Solar Energy Engineering-Transactions of the Asme 129, 100-110.
- Rincon, A.G., Pulgarin, C., 2003. Photocatalytical inactivation of E. coli: effect of (continuousintermittent) light intensity and of (suspended-fixed) TiO2 concentration. Appl. Catal. B-Environ. 44, 263-284.
- Rincon, A.G., Pulgarin, C., 2004a. Bactericidal action of illuminated TiO2 on pure Escherichia coli and natural bacterial consortia: post-irradiation events in the dark and assessment of the effective disinfection time. Appl. Catal. B-Environ. 49, 99-112.
- Rincon, A.G., Pulgarin, C., 2004b. Field solar *E-coli* inactivation in the absence and presence of TiO₂: is UV solar dose an appropriate parameter for standardization of water solar disinfection? Sol. Energy 77, 635-648.
- Rincon, A.G., Pulgarin, C., 2006. Comparative evaluation of Fe3+ and TiO2 photoassisted processes in solar photocatalytic disinfection of water. Appl. Catal. B-Environ. 63, 222-231.
- Rincon, A.G., Pulgarin, C., Adler, N., Peringer, P., 2001. Interaction between E-coli inactivation and DBP-precursors - dihydroxybenzene isomers - in the photocatalytic process of drinking-water disinfection with TiO2. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology a-Chemistry 139, 233-241.
- Rodríguez-Chueca, J., Morales, M., Mosteo, R., Ormad, M.P., Ovelleiro, J.L., 2013. Inactivation of Enterococcus faecalis, Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Escherichia coli present in treated urban wastewater by coagulation-flocculation and photo-Fenton processes. Photochemical and Photobiological Sciences 12, 864-871.

- Rodriguez-Chueca, J., Mosteo, R., Ormad, M.P., Ovelleiro, J.L., 2012. Factorial experimental design applied to Escherichia coli disinfection by Fenton and photo-Fenton processes. Sol. Energy 86, 3260-3267.
- Rose, A., Roy, S., Abraham, V., Holmgren, G., George, K., Balraj, V., Abraham, S., Muliyil, J., Joseph, A., Kang, G., 2006. Solar disinfection of water for diarrhoeal prevention in southern India. Archives of Disease in Childhood 91, 139-141.
- Ruales-Lonfat, C., Varón, A., Barona, J., Moncayo-Lasso, A., Benítez, N., Pulgarìn, C., 2013. Iron-Catalyzed Low Cost Solar Activated Process for Drinking Water Disinfection in Colombian Rural Areas. Technologies for Sustainable Development. Springer International Publishing . Switzerland, pp. 1-16.
- Ryan, J.N., Harvey, R.W., Metge, D., Elimelech, M., Navigato, T., Pieper, A.P., 2002. Field and Laboratory Investigations of Inactivation of Viruses (PRD1 and MS2) Attached to Iron Oxide-Coated Quartz Sand. Environmental Science & Technology 36, 2403-2413.
- Safarzadeh-Amiri, A., Bolton, J.R., Cater, S.R., 1996. The use of Iron in Advances Oxidation Process. . Journal of Advanced Oxidation Technologies 1, 18-26.
- Sandvik, S.L.H., Bilski, P., Pakulski, J.D., Chignell, C.F., Coffin, R.B., 2000. Photogeneration of singlet oxygen and free radicals in dissolved organic matter isolated from the Mississippi and Atchafalaya River plumes. Marine Chemistry 69, 139-152.
- Sciacca, F., Rengifo-Herrera, J.A., Wethe, J., Pulgarin, C., 2011. Solar disinfection of wild Salmonella sp. in natural water with a 18 L CPC photoreactor: Detrimental effect of non-sterile storage of treated water. Sol. Energy 85, 1399-1408.
- Sciacca, F., Rengifo-Herrera, J.A., Wéthé, J., Pulgarin, C., 2010. Dramatic enhancement of solar disinfection (SODIS) of wild *Salmonella* sp. in PET bottles by H₂O₂ addition on natural water of Burkina Faso containing dissolved iron. Chemosphere 78, 1186-1191.
- Smith, K.C., Wang, T.-C.V., Sharma, R.C., 1987. recA-Dependent DNA repair in UV-irradiated Escherichia coli. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology 1, 1-11.
- Soboleva, N.M., Saprykina, M.N., Kosinova, V.N., Nosonovich, A.A., Goncharuk, V.V., 2012. Inactivation of Candida albicans in the photo-fenton system. Journal of Water Chemistry and Technology 34, 96-102.
- Sobota, J.M., Imlay, J.A., 2011. Iron enzyme ribulose-5-phosphate 3-epimerase in Escherichia coli is rapidly damaged by hydrogen peroxide but can be protected by manganese. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108, 5402-5407.
- Sobsey, M.D., 2002. Managing water in the home: accelerated health gains from improved water supply. WHO, , Geneva, Switzerland., p. 83.
- Sommer, B., Marino, A., Solarte, Y., Salas, M.L., Dierolf, C., Valiente, C., Mora, D., Rechsteiner, R., Setter, P., Wirojanagud, W., Ajarmeh, H., AlHassan, A., Wegelin, M., 1997. SODIS - An emerging water treatment process. Journal of Water Supply Research and Technology-Aqua 46, 127-137.
- Spuhler, D., Ndounla, J., Pulgarin, C., 2013. New ways to apply the photo-Fenton System to solar drinking water disinfection and decontamination at near neutral pH and low temperatures. Overview on key scientific issues and some recent applications. A Review not published.
- Spuhler, D., Rengifo-Herrera, J.A., Pulgarin, C., 2010. The effect of Fe²⁺, Fe³⁺, H₂O₂ and the photo-Fenton reagent at near neutral pH on the solar disinfection (SODIS) at low temperatures of water containing *Escherichia coli* K12. Appl. Catal. B-Environ. 96, 126-141.
- Stintzi, A., Barnes, C., Xu, J., Raymond, K.N., 2000. Microbial iron transport via a siderophore shuttle: A membrane ion transport paradigm. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 97, 10691-10696.
- Sychev, Y.A., Isak, G.V., 1995. Iron compounds and the mechanisms of the homogeneous catalysis of the activation of O_2 and H_2O_2 and of the oxidaiton of organic substrates. Russian Chemical Reviews 64, 1105–1129.
- Touati, D., 2000. Iron and oxidative stress in bacteria. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 373, 1-6.
- Tyrrell, R.M., Pourzand, C.A., Brown, J., Hejmadi, V., Kvam, V., Ryter, S., Watkin , R.D., 2000. Cellular Studies with UVA Radiation: A Role for Iron. Radiation Protection Dosimetry 91, 37-39.

- Ubomba-Jaswa, E., Fernandez-Ibanez, P., Navntoft, C., Inmaculada Polo-Lopez, M., McGuigan, K.G., 2010. Investigating the microbial inactivation efficiency of a 25 L batch solar disinfection (SODIS) reactor enhanced with a compound parabolic collector (CPC) for household use. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology 85, 1028-1037.
- Ubomba-Jaswa, E., Navntoft, C., Inmaculada Polo-Lopez, M., Fernandez-Ibanez, P., McGuigan, K.G., 2009. Solar disinfection of drinking water (SODIS): an investigation of the effect of UV-A dose on inactivation efficiency. Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences 8, 587-595.
- UNICEF, WHO, 2012. Progress on Drinking water and Sanitation 2012 update. WHO/UNICEF Joint Monitoring Programme for Water Supply and Sanitation. WHO, United States of America, p. 66.
- UNICEF, WHO, 2013. Progress on sanitation and drinking-water 2013 update. World Health Organization and UNICEF, France, p. 40.
- Valentine, M.R., Rodriguez, H., Termini, J., 1998. Mutagenesis by peroxy radical is dominated by transversions at deoxyguanosine: Evidence for the lack of involvement of 8-oxo-dG(1) and/or abasic site formation. Biochemistry 37, 7030-7038.
- Vedrenne, M., Vasquez-Medrano, R., Prato-Garcia, D., Frontana-Uribe, B.A., Hernandez-Esparza, M., Manuel de Andres, J., 2012. A ferrous oxalate mediated photo-Fenton system: Toward an increased biodegradability of indigo dyed wastewaters. Journal of Hazardous Materials 243, 292-301.
- Vermilyea, A.W., Voelker, B.M., 2009. Photo-Fenton Reaction at Near Neutral pH. Environmental Science & Technology 43, 6927-6933.
- Wegelin, M., Canonica, S., Meschner, K., Fleishmann, T., Pesaro, F., Metzler, A., 1994. Solar water disinfection: scope of the process and analysis of radiation experiments. Journal of Water Supply: Research and Technology-AQUA 43, 154-169.
- Weng, H.-H., Tsai, S.-S., Wu, T.-N., Sung, F.-C., Yang, C.-Y., 2011. Nitrates in Drinking Water and the Risk of Death from Childhood Brain Tumors in Taiwan. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A 74, 769-778.
- WHO, 2003. Ammonia in Drinking-water. Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality. World Health Organization, Geneva, p. 4p.
- WHO, 2007. Combating waterborne disease at the household level. In: WHO (Ed.), The International Network to Promote Household Water Treatment and Safe Storage. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, p. 35.
- WHO, 2011a. Guidelines for drinking-water quality 4th ed. In: Organization, W.H. (Ed.). Printed in Malta by Gutenberg.
- WHO, 2011b. Nitrate and Nitrite in Drinking-water. Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality. World Health Organization, Geneva, p. 23p.
- You, Y., Han, J., Chiu, P.C., Jin, Y., 2005. Removal and Inactivation of Waterborne Viruses Using Zerovalent Iron. Environmental Science & Technology 39, 9263-9269.
- Zepp, R.G., Faust, B.C., Hoigne, J., 1992. HYDROXYL RADICAL FORMATION IN AQUEOUS REACTIONS (PH 3-8) OF IRON(II) WITH HYDROGEN-PEROXIDE - THE PHOTO-FENTON REACTION. Environmental Science & Technology 26, 313-319.
- Zepp, R.G., Wolfe, N.L., Baughman, G.L., Hollis, R.C., 1977. SINGLET OXYGEN IN NATURAL-WATERS. Nature 267, 421-423.
- Zhan, M., 2009. Determination of photochemically-generated reactive oxygen species in natural water. Journal of Environmental Sciences 21, 303-306.
- Zhan, M., Yang, X., Xian, Q., Kong, L., 2006. Photosensitized degradation of bisphenol A involving reactive oxygen species in the presence of humic substances. Chemosphere 63, 378-386.
- Zuo, Y., Hoigne, J., 1992. Formation of hydrogen peroxide and depletion of oxalic acid in atmospheric water by photolysis of iron(III)-oxalato complexes. Environmental Science & Technology 26, 1014-1022.

CURRICULUM VITAE

Juliette NDOUNLA

Date of birth:29.08.1980Nationality:Cameroonian

E-mail: juliette.ndounla@epfl.ch/jndounla@yahoo.fr

Education	
2009-2013:	PhD student at Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne (EPFL) Switzerland
	in collaboration with the International Institute for water and
	environmental Engineering of Ouagadougou – Burkina Faso (2iE).
2005-2007:	Master's degree in Animal Biology (Parasitology and Applied Ecology)
	University of Dschang (UDs), Cameroon
2000-2004:	Bachelor's degree in Animal Biology, University of Dschang (UDs), Cameroon
Prize	

2003-2004: UDs Academic Excellence Diploma

Professional experiences

2007-2008:	Member of the research team in charge of the biological and physicochemical
	surveillance of water quality in the Dschang Municipal Lake.
2006:	Training in the Physico-chemical water analysis in the bioremediation unit of
	the Lab Applied Botany, Department of Plant Biology, University of
	Dschang
2006:	Training in microbiological water analysis in the waste water research Unit,
	University of Yaoundé I
Publications	
2012 :	Ndounla J., Spuhler D., Kenfack S., Wéthé J., and Pulgarin C. Inactivation by
	solar photo-Fenton in pet bottles of wild enteric bacteria of natural
	well water: Absence of re-growth after one week of subsequent
	storage (Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 129 (2013) 309-317).
2011 :	Ndounla J., Approvisionnement en Eau de Consommation et Sante e Dschang:
	caractéristiques biologiques et physicochimiques de l'eau de
	consommation; influence du mode d'approvisionnement sur la sante
	des populations. Editions Universitaires Européennes, 13 juil. 2011-
	132 pages.
Submitted Artic	eles
2013 :	Ndounla J., Kenfack S., Wéthé J., and Pulgarin C. Relevant impact of
	irradiance (vs. dose) and evolution of pH and mineral nitrogen
	compounds during natural water disinfection by photo-Fenton in a

	solar CPC reactor. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental. Submission No: APCATB-S-13-01418.
2013 :	Ndounla J. and Pulgarin C. Enhancement of the solar photo-disinfection of
	natural alkaline water (pH 8.6) with H_2O_2 in the compound parabolic
	collector (CPC) at different day periods in Sahelian region. Solar
	Energy. Submission No: SE-S-13-01376
Conferences	
2012 :	Ndounla J., Spuhler D., and Pulgarin C. Photo-Fenton disinfection of surface
	drinking water with alkaline pH under direct solar radiation at
	Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso. Oral presentation at the AWWA
	conference: Water Quality and Technology Conference. 04-08
2012	November 2012, Toronto Canada.
2012:	Ndounia J., Spunler D., Kenfack S., Wethe J., and Pulgarin C. Disinfection of
	natural water with hear neutral pH by solar photo-Fenion. Case of Ougagdougou Burking Easo Yome Symposium International
	"Environment Catalysis and Process Engineering" ECGP10 - 2012
	Fez – Morocco April 24 -25 (Oral Presentation)
2011 :	Ndounla J. , Wéthé J., Kenfack S., and Pulgarin C. <i>Beneficial effect of H_2O_2 on</i>
	the inactivation of wild total coliforms/E. coli and Salmonella spp.
	under simulated solar irradiation: Absence of bacterial regrowth
	following treatment of a natural drinking water source containing
	Fe ³⁺ at Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso International Conference on
	Integrated Water Resources Management. Management of Water in a
	Changing World: Lessons Learnt and Innovative Perspectives.
	Dresden, Germany. October 12-13, (Poster)
2011 :	Ndounla J., Participation to the International Water Conference 2011 (IWC) 13
2000 -	- 1 / November, Orlando-Florida, USA.
2008:	Ndounia J. , Fonkou I. and Fusi Ngwa C. <i>Living organisms, cysts and</i>
	populations in the city of Dschang Cameroon Symposium to the
	International Year of Sanitation (IYS): Coupling Sustainable
	Sanitation and Groundwater Protection. Hanover, Germany, October
	14 - 17, (Poster)
Languages	
	French: Mother tongue
	English: Fluent (spoken & written)
	Yemba: Mother tongue
	German: School level
Softwares	
	MS Office, EndNote, LaTeX, Wolfram Mathematica,

Article from Chapter 2.

Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 129 (2013) 309-317

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



Applied Catalysis B: Environmental



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/apcatb

Inactivation by solar photo-Fenton in pet bottles of wild enteric bacteria of natural well water: Absence of re-growth after one week of subsequent storage

J. Ndounla^{a,e}, D. Spuhler^b, S. Kenfack^c, J. Wéthé^d, C. Pulgarin^{a,*}

^a Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Institute of Chemical Sciences and Engineering, GPAO, Station 6, CH, 1015 Lausanne, Switzerland

^bZurich, Switzerland

^c Kinshasa Congo

^d Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso

e Institut International d'Ingénierie de l'Eau et de l'Environnement, Laboratoire Eau, Dépollution, Ecosystème et Santé (LEDES), 01 BP 594 Ouagadougou 01, Burkina Faso

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 June 2012 Received in revised form 23 August 2012 Accepted 13 September 2012 Available online xxx

Keywords: Photo-Fenton Inactivation Enteric bacteria Drinking water

ABSTRACT

Iron photo-assisted inactivation of wild enteric bacteria (total coliforms/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp.) was carried out in water from the Sahelian wells having different pH (W1: 4.9 and W2: 6.3) and a natural iron content of 0.07 mg/L. We evaluate the efficiency of the disinfection on different systems containing both or only one Fenton reagent (H_2O_2/Fe^{2+}) : (i) $H_2O_2/Fe^{2+}/hv$, (ii) Fe^{2+}/hv , (iii) H_2O_2/hv , and (iv) only light irradiation (*hv*) at lab and field scale. Generally, 0.6 mg/L of Fe^{2+} and/or 8.5 mg/L of H_2O_2 were used in the Fenton reagent. The systems $H_2O_2/Fe^{2+}/hv$ and H_2O_2/hv led to total inactivation of *Salmonella* and *E. coli*. The natural iron content (0.07 mg/L) was enough to drive an efficient photo-Fenton process leading to total bacterial inactivation. Our results show that: (i) the iron salt present in Sahelian water is enough to perform a photo-Fenton disinfection of drinking water when adding H_2O_2 , (ii) addition of external iron salts at near neutral pH has no additional effect on the bacterial photo-Fenton inactivation process. After one week of storage, no enteric bacteria re-growth was observed in treated waters. Mechanistic suggestions are presented to explain the observed results.

© 2012 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The use of solar energy for water treatment is a new and promising alternative to the disinfection of drinking water. Solar disinfection (SODIS) was first used in 1980 to produce re-hydration solutions for children suffering from diarrhea in Beirut [1]. The SODIS treatment involves the use of transparent plastic bottles (Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) of 1–1.5 L) filled with water and exposing them to sunlight for at least 6 h depending on the meteorological conditions. The inactivation or death of pathogenic microorganisms is achieved by the synergistic effect of radiation and heat [2–4]. Underexposure and bacterial re-growth result in incomplete bacterial inactivation [5,6]. Improvement of the SODIS treatment includes the use of black backs bag [7] or the TiO₂ photocatalytic processes [8–10]. Recently, the photo-Fenton system (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv) has been shown to increase the solar photo-inactivation of *Escherichia coli* at near-neutral pH [11–13].

* Corresponding author at: Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Institute of Chemical Sciences and Engineering, GPAO, Station 6, CH, 1015 Lausanne, Switzerland. Tel.: +41 21 693 47 20; fax: +41 21 693 6161.

E-mail addresses: juliette.ndounla@2ie-edu.org, juliette.ndounla@epfl.ch (J. Ndounla), Cesar.pulgarin@epfl.ch (C. Pulgarin). Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) significantly increased the photocatalytic inactivation process in natural water containing natural iron [14]. The Fenton reagent generates the highly reactive •OH via the Haber–Weiss reaction [15]:

$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH + OH^ k = 53-76 M^{-1} s^{-1}$$
 (1)

During the Fenton process, Fe^{2+} can be regenerated from Fe^{3+} in the presence of H_2O_2 :

$$Fe^{3+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{2+}HO_2^{\bullet} + H^+$$
 $k = 1-2 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} s^{-1}$ (2)

But the Fenton process is limited by the Fe^{2+} regeneration of Fe^{3+} (Eq. (2)). This drawback is partially countered by photo-Fenton reactions. In fact, under illumination, ferric-hydro-complexes or ferric-organo-complexes in solution can absorb photons and generate ligand-to-metal charge-transfer (LMCT) reaction in which Fe^{2+} generating •OH (Eqs. (3)–(5)), [16,17].

$$Fe^{3+}(L_n) + hv \rightarrow Fe^{2+}(L_{n-1}) + L_{ox}$$
 (3)

$$[Fe(OH)]^{2+} + hv \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + OH$$
(4)

$$[Fe(OOC-R)]^{2+} + hv \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + CO_2 + R^{\bullet}$$
(5)

The pH influences the efficiency of the photo-Fenton reagent, with an optimum level of pH 2.8–3 [18]. Considering this acidity criteria, the photo-Fenton was in the past preferably used for

^{0926-3373/\$ -} see front matter © 2012 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apcatb.2012.09.016

310

the treatment of wastewaters, mainly for the degradation of biorecalcitrant organic pollutants via the generated ROS [16,19]. But the recent discovery of its efficiency at near-neutral pH in the presence of organic substances [13] gives the possibility of using it in the treatment of drinking water. The Sub-Sahelian African region receives about 2500–3000 h of solar radiation annually with more than 2300 K Wh m⁻² an⁻¹ irradiance in some parts [19]. This natural illumination with a UV-component represents a powerful intake to drive photo-Fenton reactions in the region.

Studies on the inactivation of model bacteria (*E. coli* K 12) by the photo-Fenton reagent in milliQ water [11,13] or milliQ water containing simulated NOM [13] and some research on the disinfection of wild bacteria in natural water have been reported [14,20]. This study is related to the inactivation of bacteria in natural waters. In this study, we address the intervention of the Fenton (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂) reagent-driven bacterial inactivation and photo-Fenton (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv) processes on various wild bacteria in groundwater from wells in Burkina Faso, West Africa.

2. Experimental details

2.1. Reagents and materials

Hydrogen peroxide, 30% (AnalaR Normapur, VWR) and Iron (II) Sulphate Heptahydrate (FeSO₄-7H₂O) were used to prepare the Fenton reagent. During the experiments, Catalase from bovine liver was used to inactivate the remaining H₂O₂, in the treated water before the bacterial culture. Hydrochloric acid fuming (HCl), 37% was used for glass-reactor cleaning. Catalase and HCl were from Fluka Analytical, SIGMA-ALDRICH[®].

2.2. Water sampling

Water samples were collected at two household wells from two sectors in Ouagadougou: well 1 (W1) at Tanghin, sector 30, and well 2 (W2) at Nonsing, sector 21. Water from these wells is used for cooking, laundry, bathing and occasionally for drinking purposes during the recurrent water shortage period. Samples for lab experiments were collected from the water sources with two PET bottles (1.5 L) 1 h before the beginning of the process. One bottle was used to determine some physico-chemical parameters and the other for the disinfecting experiments. Water for field experiments was collected only from W2 with a 20-L plastic jerrican. In situ temperature was monitored.

2.3. Bacterial strain and growth media

The wild bacterial strain monitored in this study was the fecal indicator bacteria coliforms/E. coli, and Salmonella spp. Microbiology Chromocult® (Merck KGaA), was used for bacterial plating. The Chromocult is a selective and differential growth media. It selectively inhibits growth of the non-enteric bacteria. As experiments were conducted with natural water, considering their initial enteric bacteria contents, no dilution was realized before the bacterial plating. 100 µL of sample water were inoculated in the growth medium. Considering the selectivity of Chromocult, the detection limit of enteric bacteria was 0 (zero) colony growths observed in the plate. The differential nature of the medium permits the distinction of Salmonella spp (colorless), E. coli (purple and pink) and the blue and salmon colored colonies of other coliform bacteria. The Incubation period was 18-24 h at 37 °C, allowing the growth of all previously mentioned enteric bacteria. However, in order to more strongly represent the decrease of the total coliforms, all the E. coli observed and others coliforms counted were presented together in this study.

Table 1

Characteristics of some physico	chemical parameters o	f the water	sample	used in
field experiments.			1403007000	

Parameters	Experiment 1 (J1)	Experiment 2 (J2)	Experiment 3 (J3)
Turbidity (NTU)	8 ± 0.2	8±0.2	9±0.1
pH	6.13 ± 0.05	6.26 ± 0.02	6.14 ± 0.05
Temperature (°C)	28.9 ± 0.2	31.1 ± 0.2	29.3 ± 0.2
Initial iron content (mg/L)	0.07 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.02
Added iron (mg/L)	0.6	0.6	0.6
Added H2O2 (mg/L)	8.5	8.5	8.5

2.4. Analytical methods for physical parameters of water

Temperature (T °C), pH and hydrogen peroxide evolution were monitored following Sciacca et al. [14]. Turbidity was measured with a PCcompact[®] Turbidity/Trübung, (Aqualitic). The total iron content was measured with the spectrophotometer HACH 2000, by the FerroVer method 265. The detection limit of the spectrophotometer HACH 2000 was 0.02 ± 0.01 mg/L.

2.5. Helio-photo-inactivation experiments

2.5.1. Laboratory experiments using a solar simulator (suntest)

The photo-inactivation experiments at laboratory scale were conducted following the process used by Spuhler et al. [13] in a solar simulator (suntest). The disinfecting efficiency of four photoassisted systems combined with both or only one Fenton reagent (H₂O₂/Fe²⁺) in: (i) H₂O₂/Fe²⁺/hv, (ii) Fe²⁺/hv, (iii) H₂O₂/hv, and (iv) only light irradiation (hv) were evaluated in parallel with darkcontrol experiments: (5) H₂O₂/Fe²⁺/obs, (6) Fe²⁺/obs, (7) H₂O₂/obs, and (8) obscurity only (obs). In these systems, hv: refers to illumination and obs: to obscurity. Glassware for analytical analysis and reactors were acid soaked after each experimental series to prevent iron cross-contamination (10% HCl, 3 days and nights). After preliminary experiments the H2O2 dose in this study was set at 8.5 mg/L. The concentration of the added iron was Fe²⁺ (0.6 mg/L) as evaluated by Spuhler et al. [13]. The initial pH of the water was 4.9 and 6.3 respectively for W1 and W2. Each experiment was repeated at least three times to ensure the reproducibility of the results.

2.5.2. Field experiment using PET bottles

PET bottles were used for field experiments as they have a relative good absorbance (Fig. 1c). Only the water from W2 with a close-to-neutral pH (Table 1) was used at this level. Following the results of the lab experiments, the system Fe2+/hv was not evaluated at field scale and the other systems and their blank were evaluated in triplicate (Fig. 1a and b) over three successive days at the end of April 2010. Nine new PET bottles (1.5 L) representing three replications of the systems (H2O2/Fe2+/hv, H2O2/hv, and (hv)) were filled with: Fe²⁺ (0.6 mg/L) and H₂O₂ (8.5 mg/L) added before their exposure to solar radiation. Blank control bottles were covered with Al-foil and kept in the dark. During the experiments, solar radiation was recorded following the process used by Sciacca et al. [20]. To evaluate the bacterial inactivation rate, samples of the treated water were collected at regular time intervals in a sterile 15 mL Eppendorf for plating. Some parameters of these water samples are presented in Table 1. The PET bottles were used only once to ensure the same and relatively good light transmittance (Fig. 1c) in all the experiments.

2.6. Post-irradiation events

At the end of the irradiation phase of the laboratory experiments, remaining samples from systems 1 and 2 were introduced into sterile 50 mL Eppendorf flasks and kept in the dark at room



Fig. 1. (a) 9 PET bottles for the triplicate simultaneous exposure of the systems H₂O₂/Fe²⁺/hv, H₂O₂/hv, and hv (irradiation only). (b) Blank of each system, (c) Absorbance of different reactor materials (Pyrex, Glass, PET).

temperature varying from 25 to 30 °C. For field experiments, each PET bottle from the exposed and blank tests was closed and kept in the dark. Re-growth experiments were realized on stored bottles after 24 h, 72 h and one week. Considering the real scale situation for treated water intended for populations, the water samples were kept in the dark without removing their remaining 2–3 mg/L of H_2O_2 . This remaining amount of H_2O_2 ensures a residual effect on the treatment. However, it was no more detectable after 48–72 h.

2.7. Data analysis

The three-way ANOVA Package of the Wolfram Mathematica 8.0 program was used to evaluate the influence of the acidity, bacteria types and irradiation used on the disinfection rate.

3. Results

3.1. Physico-chemical characterization

Both water samples used in this study were collected at Ouagadougou during the months of March and April 2010 (dry season). They had an initial temperature of 29 °C and low turbidity < 10 NTU. The maximum acceptable turbidity recommended for SODIS disinfection is 30 NTU, [4,6]. The W1 has an initial pH of 4.9 and a total iron content of 0.06 mg/L; while in W2 the initial pH value was 6.3 and the total iron content 0.07 mg/L. The concentration of both wild enteric bacteria (total coliforms/*E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp.) was approximately 10⁵ CFU/mL in both water sources.



Fig. 2. Inactivation of the bacteria content in sample water from well 1(W1, pH: 4.9 ± 0.05) and well 2 (W2, pH: 6.3 ± 0.05) during photocatalytic treatment in the solar simulator Suntest. After the introduction of 90 ml of sample water to the 100 ml glass reactor, $8.5 \text{ mg/L of } H_2O_2$ and $0.6 \text{ mg/L of } Fe^{2+}$ were added to the corresponding systems and their dark control. During the experiments, water temperature was $<45 \circ C$. (*a*) Total coliforms/*E. coli*, (*b*) *Salmonella* spp. (**m**) $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$, (**\oldsymbol{+}**) H_2O_2/hv , (**\oldsymbol{+}**) $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$, (**\oldsymbol{+}**) $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$, (**\oldsymbol{+}**) $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$, (**\oldsymbol{+}**) $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$, (**\oldsymbol{+}**) Fe^{2+}/hv , (**\vec{+}**) Fe^{2+}

311

312

3.2. Experiment under simulated solar radiation

As it has been reported before [13,21], the decrease in CFU/mL of the samples' enteric bacteria broadly follows the first order kinetics, based on log-linear plots (Fig. 2). Inactivation rate constants observed during the inactivation process reported as $k \text{ [min}^{-1]}$ were calculated by linear regression (Table 2). Considering all the systems tested with W1 and W2, only the photo-Fenton (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv) and hydrogen peroxide systems (H₂O₂/hv) lead to a total inactivation of the fecal indicators bacteria. Irradiation only (hv) and Fe²⁺/hv, as well as blank systems (H₂O₂/Fe²⁺/obs, Fe²⁺/obs, H₂O₂/obs, obs) show a lower decrease in their active enteric bacteria concentration within 2 h' irradiation (Fig. 2).

3.2.1. Inactivation in the systems Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv and H₂O₂/hv

Considering only the systems in which the total inactivation of the bacteria were achieved (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv and H₂O₂/hv), it can be noticed that in W1 (pH – 4.9) the photo-Fenton system (Fe^{2+/}H₂O₂/hv) induced a stronger inactivation of the enteric bacteria, particularly in the total coliforms/*E. coli* group. This group has shown an inactivation rate constant of ($k - 0.3887 \pm 0.005 \text{ min}^{-1}$), (Table 2) and their total inactivation was achieved after 30 min. In the H₂O₂/hv system, we have to take into account the natural presence of 0.07 mg/L of iron in water. Natural iron confers to this system the photocatalytic properties, leading to a high inactivation rate constant ($k - 0.1953 \pm 0.003 \text{ min}^{-1}$). Total inactivation was achieved in about 60 min. In both systems, the *Salmonella* spp. concentration was totally inactivated after about 60 min.

The ranking of the two photocatalytic systems considering the inactivation rate constant (Table 2), gives the following for both wild enteric bacteria at pH 4.9 (W1):

$$k_c^{\text{Fe}^{2+}/\text{H}_2\text{O}_2/h\nu} > k_s^{\text{H}_2\text{O}_2/h\nu} > k_s^{\text{Fe}^{2+}/\text{H}_2\text{O}_2/h\nu} > k_c^{\text{H}_2\text{O}_2/h\nu}$$

At pH 6.3 (W2), the ranking was as follows:

$$k_{\rm s}^{{\rm Fe}^{2+}/{\rm H}_2{\rm O}_2/h\nu} > k_{\rm s}^{{\rm H}_2{\rm O}_2/h\nu} > k_{\rm c}^{{\rm Fe}^{2+}/{\rm H}_2{\rm O}_2/h\nu} > k_{\rm c}^{{\rm H}_2{\rm O}_2/h\nu}$$

C stands for total coliforms/E. coli and S for Salmonella spp.

The Salmonella spp. total inactivation was achieved before the total coliforms/*E. coli* group in both systems in approximately 90 and 120 min respectively.

3.2.2. Inactivation in the systems hv and in all the blank systems $(H_2O_2/Fe^{2+}/obs, Fe^{2+}/obs, H_2O_2/obs, obs)$

For water from W1 (pH: 4.9), the irradiation (hv) alone and all the blank systems, gives just a slight inactivation of the total coliforms/*E. coli* after the 120 min of exposure. The *Salmonella* spp. content of the sample show an increase instead of a decrease at the end of the period of irradiation (120 min), with an increasing rate constant of (k- 0.0013 ± 0.005 min⁻¹). Its concentration increased also in some blank tests carried out in the dark (Table 2). A slight decrease was observed both in the Fenton system Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/obs and the system Fe²⁺/obs with the same inactivation rate constant (k- -0.0080 ± 0.006 min⁻¹).

The inactivation of the total coliforms/*E. coli* under *hv* alone and in the W2 (pH: 6.3) blanks show a slight decrease as in W1. The *Salmonella* spp. content in the sample showed a slight increase in the system $hv(k-0.0001 \pm 0.005 \text{ min}^{-1})$. All the blank systems give rise to a slight decrease.

3.2.3. Inactivation in the systems Fe²⁺/hv

The system Fe^{2+}/hv did not lead to a total inactivation of enteric bacteria in both waters (W1 and W2). But a slight inactivation was observed, as presented in Fig. 2 and by the inactivation rate constants (Table 2).

Water origin/ pH	Enteric bacteria	Treatments/k[min-	h						
		Fe2+ /H2 O2/ hv	H ₂ 0 ₂ /hv	Fe ²⁺ /Itv	hv	Fe ²⁺ /H ₂ O ₂ /Obs	H202/0bs	Fe ²⁺ /Obs	Obs
Wells 1 oH: 4.9	Total coliforms/E. coli	-0.3887 ± 0.005	-0.1953 ± 0.003	-0.0124 ± 0.005	-0.0055 ± 0.008	-0.0284 ± 0.011	-0.0161 ± 0.005	-0.0062 ± 0.002	-0.0063 ± 0.004
	Salmonella spp.	-0.2085 ± 0.002	-0.2110 ± 0.005	-0.0044 ± 0.012	0.0013 ± 0.005	-0.0080 ± 0.006	0.0041 ± 0.006	-0.0080 ± 0.006	0.0045 ± 0.003
Wells 2 bH: 6.3	Total coliforms/E. coli	-0.1001 ± 0.011	-0.0798 ± 0.007	-0.0260 ± 0.011	-0.0133 ± 0.004	-0.0105 ± 0.015	-0.0002 ± 0.003	-0.0103 ± 0.007	-0.0024 ± 0.003
	Sa Imonella spp.	-0.1380 ± 0.004	-0.1189 ± 0.006	-0.0025 ± 0.003	0.0001 ± 0.005	-0.0125 ± 0.002	-0.0016 ± 0.002	-0.0125 ± 0.002	-0.0013 ± 0.003

able 2

Table 3	
Three-way ANOVA analysis results.	

Parameters	DF	SS	MS	F	Р
pН	1	21,930.8	21,930.8	48,66	0.001%
Bacteria species	1	1201.25	1201.25	2.65	11%
Treatments	1	826.875	826.88	1.83	18%
pH/bacteria species	1	396.75	396.75	0.88	35%
pH/treatments	1	6,13	6.13	0.01	91%
Bacteria species/treatments	1	585.21	585,21	1,30	26%
Error	73	32,901,8	450.71	-	-
Total	79	57,848.8	Real Constraints and	3	2

DF: degree of freedom; SS: sum of square; MS: means square; F: Fisher factor (influence factor); P: probability,

The data shown in Fig. 2 and Table 2, for a single day experiment, present experiments carried out in triplicate. Experiments were repeated on three different days and a similar inactivation rate was observed.

3.2.4. Influence of pH, bacteria species and inactivation system on the disinfection

A significant difference between the inactivation rate of the total enteric bacteria concentration of both wells (W1: pH 4.9 and W2: pH 6.3) was observed when applying Fe2+/H2O2/hv and H2O2/hv. The analysis of these processes by the three-way ANOVA program of Mathematica 8.0, allowed us to evaluate the influence of the acidity and other parameters, as presented in Table 3. With a Fisher ratio or influence factor (F) of about 48.66, it is possible to state that the pH has a strong impact on the photo-catalytic disinfection process [16]. The probability (P=0.001%) gives rise to the assumption that the error may be due to noise. The impact of bacteria (total coliforms/E. coli or Salmonella spp.) or the treatment (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv or H2O2/hv) on the disinfection process was less significant. The probability that the difference in the inactivation rate related to these two parameters could be due to experimental error was about 11% and 18% respectively for the bacteria species and treatment used. The cross-interactions between the three parameters did not significantly affect the data obtained.

3.2.5. Post-irradiation effect

To be sure that the inactivated bacteria was not just partly damaged, rather than killed, when using the photo-Fenton $(Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/h\nu)$ or hydrogen peroxide $(H_2O_2/h\nu)$ systems under light irradiation, after completion of the runs the samples were transferred into sterile flasks and kept at 25–30 °C in the dark (*obs*). Further spread plate counts were performed on the samples after 24 h, 72 h and up to one week. No re-growth of coliforms/*E. coli* or *Salmonella* spp. was observed, and this suggested irreversible inactivation.

3.3. Field experiments

Field experiments indicated that the inactivation rate of both bacteria types applying $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$ and H_2O_2/hv was not significantly affected by the difference observed in the solar radiation and temperature each day. Variation in the inactivation rates were observed, however, when light alone was applied. As presented in all the graphs in Fig. 3, any variation of the solar radiation influences the inactivation of the bacteria. Some of the coliforms/*E. coli* inactivation curves have a shoulder. However, the decrease in CFU mL⁻¹ of most of the enteric bacteria curves follows first-order kinetics, as in the lab experiments, based on log-linear plots.

3.3.1. Inactivation under direct solar radiation only (hv)

3.3.1.1. Inactivation total coliforms/E. coli. The temperature of 49 °C and UV irradiation of more than 30 W/m⁻² during the first exposure gave rise to the total inactivation of coliforms/E. coli within 90 min. On the second day, irradiation was reduced and decreased from 26 W/m⁻² to 20 W/m⁻² during the first exposure. Consequently, inactivation was achieved after 120 min only. No re-growth was observed after 24 h of storage in the dark over these two days. On the third day, the reduction in temperature to less than 45 °C and high fluctuation in the solar radiation (between 23 and 14 W/m⁻²) did not permit a total inactivation of coliforms/E. coli in this system (*hv*). Inactivation of the blank (*obs*) kept in the dark with a water temperature of around 38 °C was not significant during the time of experimentation (2 h). But after the 24 h dark-storage period, inactivation of about 97% was observed on the first and third day, and total inactivation on the second.

3.3.1.2. Inactivation of Salmonella spp.. The favorable conditions during the first day of experimentation enhanced considerably the inactivation of Salmonella spp.: about 96% of the population was inactivated during the 2 h of exposure. On the second day, the relatively low irradiation gave rise to a total inactivation at the end of the illuminated process, but a recovery of the viability during the 24 h dark-storage period was observed (Fig. 3b2). The atmospheric conditions on the third day were not favorable and only 44% was inactivated at the end of the exposure. Blank tests in the system obs, did not give a significant inactivation during the experiments and after the 24 h of dark storage, their concentration remained constant.

3.3.2. Inactivation under enhanced systems $Fe^{2\star}/H_2O_2/h\nu$ and $H_2O_2/h\nu$

 $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$ and H_2O_2/hv showed a significant increase in the inactivation rate of bacteria compared to the non-enhanced systems (hv) (Fig. 3). Moreover, the variation of the solar radiation over the three days did not significantly influence the inactivation kinetics. For both bacteria species, H_2O_2/hv showed a higher inactivation rate than that of the systems with added iron ($Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$). The added iron has precipitated in the system at pH > 6. An exception was observed in the case of total coliforms/*E. coli* on the third day (Fig. 3aJ3), because they were totally inactivated in both systems. This could be related to the variability of the daily solar radiation. Re-growth experiments for both systems during 24 h did not show any bacterial recovery.

For total coliforms/*E. coli*, the control systems $(Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/obs)$ and H_2O_2/obs) did not show significant inactivation during the experiments. However, the inactivation occurred after the 24 h of dark storage for the second and third day. It's occurred only in the system H_2O_2/obs the first day. As in the previous cases, the control systems did not lead to a significant inactivation of *Salmonella* spp. during the experiment. But after the dark storage period (24 h), total inactivation was observed in both systems on the second and third day. None of the systems led to total inactivation on the first day.

4. Discussions

4.1. Irradiation characteristics

The efficiency of the solar photocatalytic disinfection of water can be influenced by the sun's intensity, light absorption, initial bacterial concentration, water temperature and turbidity [12–14,22]. In the lab experiments, the photo inactivation was carried out under continuous irradiation at constant intensity, with a radiation intensity of 560 Wm^{-2} . This corresponds to 300-400 nm UVA or approximately 32 Wm^{-2} UVA, representing the average UVA radiation of Ouagadougou in summer [19]. During the lab experiments, J. Ndounla et al. / Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 129 (2013) 309-317



Fig. 3. Inactivation of the bacteria contained in water sample from wells 2 (W2, pH: 6.3) during the field experiment under direct solar radiation, After the introduction of 1.5 L of water in to the 1.5 L PET reactor, 8.5 mg/L of H₂O₂ and 0.6 mg/L of Fe²⁺ were added to the corresponding systems and their dark control. (*a*) Total coliforms/*E*, colt, (*b*) Salmonella spp., (J1) 28/04/2010, (J2) 29/04/2010, (J3) 30/04/2010, (■) Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv, (●) H₂O₂/hv, (▲) hv only, (□) Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/Obs, (△) H₂O₂/Obs, (△) Obs only. Graphs produced by the ListLogPlot function of Wolfram Mathematica software.

the water temperature inside the batch reactor remained inferior to 45 °C and thermal inactivation can be excluded [2,3]. Direct DNA damage by UVB can also be excluded as the used solar simulator emits negligible amounts of photons at wavelengths shorter than 300 nm [8] and the reactor material screened UVB (280–320 nm, Fig. 1c). It has to be noted that the water matrix used in this study is natural water, contrary to the laboratory milliQ-water which contains NOM and exogenous photosensitizers.

4.2. Experiments under solar simulator

4.2.1. Iron system (Fe²⁺/hv)

In solutions at low pH (2-3), the irradiation with UV of various hydroxylated Fe3+ species produces Fe2+ and the hydroxyl radical OH* (Eqs. (3) and (4) [17,18]. The generated OH* radicals are highly oxidant, as explained above. But in natural water (pH: 4.9 and 6.3 respectively), the photoactive ferric hydrolyzed molecules [Fe(OH)2+] are not soluble, as the predominant iron component of this pH is the iron-complex which under irradiation generates Fe2+, with an organic radical instead of OH• (Eq. (5)) [16]. During the photocatalytic inactivation process in the Fe2+/hv system, the bactericidal effect of Fe2+ arises from its ability to diffuse into the cells, leading to the generation of OH* via intracellular Fenton reactions when reacting with metabolic H2O2 [23,24]. Spuhler et al. [13], observed a lethal action of the system Fe2+/hv during the inactivation of E. coli K12, in MilliQ Water (hv>290 nm, pH: 5-5.5) resulting in a total inactivation after 120 min. However, in the present study neither the wild total coliforms/E. coli nor the Salmonella spp. were totally inactivated after the same exposure period in well water (W1, pH 4.9; W2: pH 6.3). The difference in this and Spuhler et al. [13] results could be explained by the nature of the water and bacteria species and by the following pathway: (i) The inactivation process through the ROS generated after the excitation of the exogenous and endogenous photosensitizers was not sufficient to ensure the total inactivation of the wild enteric bacteria involved; (ii) after the active ROS production (20-30 min), injured bacteria have developed self-repair mechanisms [11] and became more resistant to the light irradiation, and multiplied (iii) the wild bacteria are more resistant than the manufactured E. coli strain regularly used in lab experiments; (iv) the natural water matrix used here contains NOM and other minerals substances. These bacteria cannot create an osmotic stress as in MilliQ water which could weaken the bacteria and support the introduction of Fe²⁺ into the bacteria leading to intra-cellular Fenton ROS inactivation.

4.2.2. Systems Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv and H₂O₂/hv

Natural water in the Sahelian region contains large quantities of iron as it flows on ferruginous substrates [14,20,25]. It is introduced into the atmosphere by wind and is found in aerosols, fog, rain drops, ground water and lakes [18]. A total initial iron concentration of about 0.06 mg/L and 0.07 mg/L was detected in W1 and W2 respectively. The high inactivation rate observed in the system H2O2/hv for both wells as in the systems Fe2+/H2O2/hv in contrast to that of the systems Fe²⁺/hv or hv only can allow us to assume that the photo-Fenton also takes place in the system H2O2/hv by using the initial iron contained as the catalyst. From Fig. 2 and Table 2, the difference in the iron content for the systems Fe2+/H2O2/hv (natural iron + added iron) and H2O2/hv (natural iron only) did not significantly influence the inactivation kinetic of both bacteria species in both wells. It can be underlined that it is only in the case of total coliforms/E. coli in water from W1 that the difference between the inactivation rates was significant for different photo-catalytic systems. In the remaining systems (Salmonella spp. of W1 and total coliforms/E. coli and Salmonella spp. of W2), the total inactivation was achieved approximately within similar times for both photocatalytic systems and no significant differences were observed in their inactivation rate constants (k). Considering the initial iron content of water from the Sahelian region, it seems possible to achieve disinfection of water by photo-Fenton process without adding extra iron. This would be a great contribution, not only in reducing the chemical inputs required for the application of the photo-Fenton system for the treatment of drinking water, but also in reducing treatment costs.

4.2.3. Illumination alone (hv)

The total inactivation of total coliforms/*E. coli* or *Salmonella* spp. was not observed in the reactor under the effect of light irradiation alone. This could be related to the fact that the exposure time was just 2 h, and not 5 or 6 h as recommended for the SODIS process [6]. As the present study was focused on the reduction of the solar disinfection exposure time by the photo-Fenton, the 2 h exposure were sufficient to obtain a significant inactivation rate using $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2/hv$ and H_2O_2/hv .

4.2.4. pH

Great differences and contradictions were observed in the W2 (pH 6.3) in both systems where total inactivation was achieved, as the *salmonella* spp. strain was the first to be totally inactivated in both systems in about 90 min, while that of total coliforms/*E. coli* took about 120 min (Fig. 2). This situation is in contrast with the assumption that *Salmonella* spp. is more resistant to photocatalytic inactivation than *E. coli* [14,26]. Indeed, even in the W1 (pH: 4.9), in the system H₂O₂/hv, both enteric bacteria species were inactivated approximately at the same time and the inactivation rates constant of *Salmonella* spp. were slightly greater than those of total coliforms/*E. coli* ($-0.2110 \pm 0.005 > -0.1953 \pm 0.003$) (Table 2). It is only in the system Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv that the *E. coli* was rapidly inactivated before the *Salmonella* spp.

4.2.5. Control experiments: (H₂O₂/Fe²⁺/obs, Fe²⁺/obs, H₂O₂/obs, obs)

None of the control systems (blank) led to total inactivation of the wild enteric bacterial concentration, even though a slight inactivation was observed in some cases for both wells. These results correspond with previous studies [11,13]. However, it was noticed that total coliforms/*E. coli* inactivation was more pronounced in W1 (pH: 4.9) than in W2 (pH: 6.3) (Table 2), but that situation was the reverse for the *Salmonella* spp. inactivation, whose population even increased in some systems (H₂O₂/obs and obs).

4.3. Experiments under direct solar radiation

The decrease of the enteric bacterial amount and even its total inactivation in the control systems (Fe2+/H2O2/obs and H2O2/obs), after the 24 h of dark storage could be due to the scavenging action of H2O2 as it is also a powerful ROS [13,22]. It should be noticed that at high pH (6.3) in the dark, the iron precipitation makes them unavailable to initiate the simple Fenton reaction (Eq. (1)) [16]. The hv and obs systems are expected not to produce ROS during the 24h dark storage, thus explaining why no more inactivation was observed in the remaining total coliforms/E. coli and for Salmonella spp. The increased concentration after the storage, could be due to the fact that during the dark storage without ROS production to injure them, the bacteria recover their ability to grow and replicate [11]. For total coliforms/E. coli, no re-growth was observed after total inactivation. The re-growth of Salmonella spp. was due to resistance to solar disinfection (not enhanced), as recently reported [26]

For the enhanced systems, H_2O_2/hv shows a better inactivation kinetic than that of the systems containing added iron (Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv). It can be assumed that with the low Feconcentration in natural water (0.07 mg/L), this amount was enough to start, in the presence of H_2O_2/hv , the photo-Fenton process and generate OH• inactivating of the enteric bacteria. The higher inactivation kinetic of the systems H_2O_2/hv compared to Fe²⁺/H₂O₂/hv may suggest that a high iron concentration could have a negative effect on the photo-Fenton treatment of natural water close to neutral pH. This negative effect could be due to: (i) iron precipitation resulting in the lack of soluble iron in the medium to maintain the photocatalytic cycle, (ii) the reduction of light transmittance due the increased turbidity of water and its coloration due to high iron contents, (iii) excess iron concentration in the solution increasing the OH• scavenging potential (Eq. (6)) and concomitantly reduce the efficiency of the process [17].

$$Fe^{2+} + OH^{\bullet} \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^{-}$$
(6)

On the third day, the Salmonella spp. showed approximately the same inactivation kinetic as that of the first day under the best atmospheric conditions. Inactivation on the second day, under the same temperature but lower irradiation (26-20 W m⁻²) was higher than on the first and third day. These observations are related to the results for total coliforms/E. coli, which show also approximately the same inactivation kinetic on the first and second day. It could be assumed that up to a certain level of irradiation and temperature, the influence of the two parameters (temperature and irradiation intensity) on the photo-Fenton inactivation process is no longer significant. The same observation was made previously by Ubomba-Jaswa et al. [27] during the investigations into the effect of the UVA dose on the inactivation of E. coli K12. However, a slight reduction of the inactivation kinetic of total coliforms/E. coli on the third day in the systems H2O2/hv [11] is indicative that intermittent irradiation associated with low irradiation has negative influence on the bacterial inactivation rate.

4.4. Inactivation pathways

4.4.1. Inactivation in the illuminated system

In all the illuminated systems, part of the observed photoinactivation could be due to excitation of exogenous (ferric-hydrocomplex or ferric-organo-complex) and endogenous (cytochrome, flavin, tryptophan) photosensitizers, [16,17] as well as the ROSaction (102, 02 ..., OH and H202) generated from the dissolved oxygen (O2) contained naturally in the water via successive steps of one-electron reductions [17,23]. The O2 •- and/or the H2O2 have the ability to attack proteins and cell membrane components, especially membrane lipids, resulting in their peroxidation [23]. This peroxidation increases the cell membrane permeability and the disruption of the trans-membrane ion gradients [6], which can lead to the inactivation of the cells. H2O2 is a non-charged molecule and penetrates readily the cellular membranes [13]. The toxicity of H2O2 is due to the fact that they can induce the production of OH* through the Fenton reaction (Eq. (1)) within the cell [23]. OH* is a highly reactive oxidant, which can degrade non-biodegradable chemical components [16,19], NOM [12,13] and inactivate bacteria [13,14].

4.4.2. Inactivation of defense mechanisms

The deficiency in the cellular defense against ROS, constituted by enzymes such as SOD/SOR which control the O2 • or catalase which regulate the H2O2 concentration [23], can result in an oxidative stress leading to the increase of the ROS content of the cells at the level exceeding their defense capacity [24,28]. This deficiency in self defense mechanisms can arise from the exposure of these enzymes to thermal or optical inactivation [2]. Ghadermarzi and Moosavi-Movahedi [29] suggested that inactivation arises when the temperature is around 45 °C. Considering the temperature measured during the photo-inactivation process in this study, it can be assumed that the enzymes for self-defense mechanisms were not efficient, giving rise to the optical inactivation through UVA radiation to efficiently inactivate the bacterial contents of the water [3]. The inactivation of the SOD/SOR and catalase leads to the increase of intracellular ROS with the direct attack of membrane and other proteins. Followed by the generation of the highly reactive OH. via intracellular Fenton reaction (Eq. (1)). This reaction take place between the H2O2 and the iron liberated from the iron sulfur clusters ([4Fe-4S]) after the inactivation of clusters enzymes like dihydroxy-acid deshydratase, aconitase B and fumarases A and B [24] by the O₂ • [30]. The liberation of free iron in the cell comes from the specific oxidizing action of the superoxide on the centers [4Fe-4S] of these hydrolytic enzymes [24,30]. The OH• attacks lead to important cellular damage on DNA [24]. When the bacteria are not sufficiently exposed to illumination, they can recover viability by self-defense mechanisms in a short time [8]. In this study, the systems Fe2+/hv or hv have showed a slight initial inactivation in both wells in about 20 or 30 min depending on the enteric bacteria involved (Fig. 2). After this time, their concentration in the water have increased and stabilized till the end of the 2h of irradiation. This situation could be explained by the recovery of the self-defense mechanisms suggested by Rincon and Pulgarin [8]. After such recovery, the actors of the defense constituted by SOD and catalase, which have been certainly weakened but not inactivated, have recovered their properties and eliminated the exceeding ROS (O2*-, H2O2), giving rise to a recovery in the damaged bacteria, which multiplied and stabilized in the medium, (see Fig. 2). In the systems, Fe2+/H2O2/hv and H2O2/hv, the photo-Fenton under light and high or low iron content increase the OH* production. This increase led to an increased inactivation of wild enteric bacteria at high inactivation rates compared to those found for Fe²⁺/hv or hv. The Fe3+-bacteria interaction are enhanced in the presence of H2O2 with the increased production of OH* and fast Fe2+/Fe3+ interconversion under illumination [13]. OH. is the most powerful oxidant generated inside the cells. It reacts instantly with no selectivity, at the diffusion limits, with sugars, amino acids, phospholipids, nucleotides and organic acids including DNA [31]. Cellular defense mechanisms against a DNA attack by OH* do not to exist.

5. Conclusions

This study showed that the H2O2/hv was as efficient as the photo-Fenton system (Fe/H2O2/hv) in significantly increasing the inactivation rate of the enteric bacteria contents of the water wells. The iron naturally present in the well water influences the reaction mechanism of H2O2/hv by favoring the photo-Fenton process. The efficiency of the system H2O2/hv/natural water in lab experiments under simulated solar radiation was confirmed in the field in PET bottles showing a better inactivation rate than (Fe2+/H2O2/hv/natural water). Consequently, it can be assumed that iron as the catalyst of the photo-Fenton process is not necessary in high concentrations to inactivate enteric micro-organisms. The lower efficiency of the system Fe2+/H2O2/hv/natural water may also indicate that an optimum concentration of iron for an efficient photo-Fenton process exists. Indeed, at near neutral pH (6.3), a part of added iron salts precipitate and negatively affects the color and turbidity and light transmittance and leads to a concomitant decrease in the disinfection efficiency. This result suggests the use of Sahelian Fe-containing region to perform a photo-Fenton treatment of drinking water by adding H2O2 only.

The fastest inactivation kinetic of Salmonella spp. compared to that of the total coliforms/*E. coli* in the water with the near-to-neutral pH (W2, pH: 6.3) brings us to the assumption that the pH can significantly influence the resistance of these enteric bacteria to photo-catalytic inactivation. The results have to be confirmed by further research, however in order to establish the best disinfection process considering all the parameters affecting wild enteric bacteria inactivation.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the Swiss Development Agency (SDC). We especially thank Jean-Marc Froehlich for his technical and logistic support. We are also grateful to the Erna Hamburger Foundation for their partial grant to support this study.

- References
- [1] A. Acra, Y. Karahagopian, Z. Raffoul, R. Dajani, Lancet 2 (1980) 1257-1258.
- [2] M. Wegelin, S. Canonica, K. Meschner, T. Fleishmann, F. Pesaro, A. Metzler, Journal of Water Supply: Research and Technology-AQUA 43 (1994) 154–169.
- [3] B. Sommer, A. Marino, Y. Solarte, M.L. Salas, C. Dierolf, C. Valiente, D. Mora, R. Rechsteiner, P. Setter, W. Wirojanagud, H. Ajarmeh, A. AlHassan, M. Wegelin, Journal of Water Supply Research and Technology-AQUA 46 (1997) 127–137.
- [4] K.G. McGuigan, T.M. Joyce, R.M. Conroy, Journal of Medical Microbiology 48 (1999) 785–787.
- [5] D. Mäusezahl, A. Christen, G.D. Pacheco, F.A. Tellez, M. Iriarte, M.E. Zapata, M. Cevallos, J. Hattendorf, M.D. Cattaneo, B. Arnold, T.A. Smith, J.M. Colford Jr., Plos Medicine 6 (2009).
- [6] R.H. Reed, Advances in Applied Microbiology 54 (54) (2004) 333-365.
- [7] S.C. Kehoe, T.M. Joyce, P. Ibrahim, J.B. Gillespie, R.A. Shahar, K.G. McGuigan, Water Research 35 (2001) 1061–1065.
- [8] A.G. Rincon, C. Pulgarin, Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 44 (2003) 263-284.
- [9] P. Fernandez, J. Blanco, C. Sichel, S. Malato, Catalysis Today 101 (2005) 345-352.
- [10] J. Marugan, R. van Grieken, C. Sordo, C. Cruz, Applied Catalysis B: Environmental
- 82 (2008) 27-36, [11] A.-G. Rincon, C. Pulgarin, Catalysis Today 124 (2007) 204-214,
- [12] A. Moncayo-Lasso, J. Sanabria, C. Pulgarin, N. Benitez, Chemosphere 77 (2009) 206–200
- [13] D. Spuhler, J.A. Rengifo-Herrera, C. Pulgarin, Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 96 (2010) 126–141.

- [14] F. Sciacca, J.A. Rengifo-Herrera, J. Wéthé, C. Pulgarin, Chemosphere 78 (2010) 1186–1191.
- [15] Y.A. Sychev, G.V. Isak, Russian Chemical Reviews 64 (1995) 1105-1129.
- [16] S. Malato, P. Fernandez-Ibanez, M.I. Maldonado, J. Blanco, W. Gernjak, Catalysis Today 147 (2009) 1–59.
- [17] J.J. Pignatello, E. Oliveros, A. MacKay, Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology 36 (2006) 1–84.
- [18] A. Safarzadeh-Amiri, J.R. Bolton, S.R. Cater, Journal of Advanced Oxidation Technologies 1 (1996) 18–26.
- [19] S. Kenfack, V. Sarria, J. Wethe, G. Cisse, A.H. Maiga, A. Klutse, C. Pulgarin, International Journal of Photoenergy (2009).
- [20] F. Sciacca, J.A. Rengifo-Herrera, J. Wethe, C. Pulgarin, Solar Energy 85 (2011) 1399–1408.
- [21] K.G. McGuigan, T.M. Joyce, R.M. Conroy, J.B. Gillespie, M. Elmore-Meegan, Journal of Applied Microbiology 84 (1998) 1138–1148.
- [22] M.I. Polo-Lopez, I. Garcia-Fernandez, I. Oller, P. Fernandez-Ibanez, Photochemical and Photobiological Sciences 10 (2011) 381–388.
- [23] J.A. Imlay, Annual Review of Biochemistry (2008) 755-776.
- [24] S. Jang, J.A. Imlay, Molecular Microbiology 78 (2010) 1448-1467.
- [25] D. Ben Yahmed, Atlas de l'Afrique: Burkina Faso, 5th ed., Du laguar, Paris, 2005.
- [26] F. Bosshard, M. Berney, M. Scheifele, H.-U. Weilenmann, T. Égli, Microbiology-SGM 155 (2009) 1310–1317.
- [27] E. Ubomba-Jaswa, C. Navntoft, M. Inmaculada Polo-Lopez, P. Fernandez-Ibanez, K.G. McGuigan, Photochemical and Photobiological Sciences 8 (2009) 587–595.
- [28] R.H. Reed, Letters in Applied Microbiology 24 (1997) 276–280.
 [29] M. Ghadermarzi, A.A. Moosavi-Movahedi, Journal of Enzyme Inhibition 10
- [29] M. Ghadermatzi, A.A. Moosavi-Movanedi, journal of Enzyme Inhibition 10 (1996) 167–175.
- [30] J.A. Imlay, Molecular Microbiology 59 (2006) 1073-1082.
- [31] M.R. Valentine, H. Rodriguez, J. Termini, Biochemistry 37 (1998) 7030-7038.